
 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

HINCKLEY & BOSWORTH 
BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

AGENDA FOR THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

 
 

 
TO BE HELD ON 

 
TUESDAY, 12 JULY 2022 

 
AT 6.30 PM 

 

Public Document Pack

http://intranet/branding/Printlogo/B%20and%20W%20HBBC%20logo%202017.jpg


Fire Evacuation Procedures 
 

 On hearing the fire alarm, leave the building at once quickly and calmly by the 
nearest escape route (indicated by green signs). 

 

 There are two escape routes from the Council Chamber – at the side and rear. 
Leave via the door closest to you. 

 

 Proceed to Willowbank Road car park, accessed from Rugby Road then 
Willowbank Road. 

 

 Do not use the lifts. 
 

 Do not stop to collect belongings. 
 
 

Recording of meetings 
 
At HBBC we are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow 
recording, filming and photography at all public meetings including Council, the 
Executive and Planning Committee as long as doing so does not disturb or disrupt the 
proceedings. There may occasionally be some reports that are discussed in private 
session where legislation requires this to happen, but this is infrequent. 
 
We also allow the use of social media during meetings, which helps to bring the issues 
discussed to a wider audience. 
 
Members of the public, members of the press and councillors are hereby informed that, 
in attending the meeting, you may be captured on film. If you have a particular problem 
with this, please contact us so we can discuss how we may accommodate you at the 
meeting. 
 
 

Use of mobile phones 
 
To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, please switch off your phone 
or other mobile device or turn it onto silent or vibrate mode. 
 

Thank you 
 



 
 
Bill Cullen MBA (ISM), BA(Hons) MRTPI 

Chief Executive 

 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
I hereby summon you to attend a meeting of the Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 
in the Council Chamber at these offices on TUESDAY, 12 JULY 2022 at 6.30 pm 
 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 

 
Miss RK Owen 

Democratic Services Manager 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   Apologies   

2.   Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 1 - 16) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 26 April and 17 May 2022. 

3.   Additional urgent business by reason of special circumstances   

 To be advised of any additional items of business which the Mayor decides by 
reason of special circumstances shall be taken as matters of urgency at this 
meeting. Items will be considered at the end of the agenda. 

4.   Declarations of interest   

 To receive verbally from Members any disclosures which they are required to 
make in accordance with the Council's code of conduct or in pursuance of 
Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. This is in addition to 
the need for such disclosure to be also given when the relevant matter is 
reached on the Agenda. 

5.   Mayor's Communications   

 To receive such communications as the Mayor may decide to lay before the 
Council. 

Date: 04 July 2022 

 



6.   Questions   

 To deal with questions under Council Procedure Rule number 14. 

7.   Petitions   

 To deal with petitions submitted in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15. 

8.   Leader of the Council's Position Statement   

 To receive the Leader of the Council's Position Statement. 

9.   Minutes of the Scrutiny Commission  (Pages 17 - 20) 

 To receive for information only the minutes of the Scrutiny Commission meeting 
held on 9 June 2022. 

10.   Medium Term Financial Strategy  (Pages 21 - 54) 

 To seek approval for the 2022/23 to 2025/26 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). 

11.   Community Governance Review - draft recommendations  (Pages 55 - 
180) 

 To present the draft recommendations of the Community Governance Review 
Working Group and seek approval for their publication for consultation for a 
period of eight weeks. 

12.   Charity appointments   

 To consider any appointments if required. 

13.   Motions received in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 17   

 (a)   Motion proposed by Councillor M Mullaney, seconded by Councillor 
Sheppard-Bools  

  “This Council notes that: 
 

 On 1 April 2022, Ofgem increased the energy price cap by 54 per 
cent 

 In light of the increased energy price cap, the average standard tariff 
energy bill will increase by £693 per year. The average pre-pay meter 
energy bill will increase by £708 per year (Ofgem, 2022) 

 In 2021/22, Hinckley & Bosworth food banks distributed food parcels 
at a rate of 4,900 per 100,000 people (Trussell Trust, 2022). 

 
Council notes the decision taken in June 2022 by the government to 
impose a ‘windfall tax’ on the super-profits of oil and gas companies and 
to redistribute this as a one-off payment of £400 to households later this 
year. Council notes that this windfall tax was first proposed by Sir Ed 
Davey MP, leader of the Liberal Democrats, in January 2022. Though the 
windfall tax is welcome, Council believes it does not go nearly far enough 
and the government should be doing much more to support local people 
through the cost of living crisis. 
 
This Council therefore declares a ‘cost of living emergency’ and calls on 



 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

the government to: 
 

 Immediately reduce the standard rate of VAT from 20 per cent to 17.5 
per cent for one year, saving the average household in Hinckley & 
Bosworth a further £600 this year 

 Immediately restore the universal credit supplement of £20 which was 
cancelled by the government in September 2021. 

 
Council instructs the Chief Executive to write to the Secretary of State for 
Work and Pensions to express the Council’s demands for VAT to be cut 
to 17.5% and for the £20 universal credit supplement to be restored.” 

 (b)   Motion proposed by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill  

  “Council notes the exchange in the House of Commons between Luke 
Evans MP and the Secretary of State Michael Gove and previous 
exchange with the former Planning Minister Chris Pincher on similar 
matters which, given recent events, might raise questions in the publics 
eyes over his judgement. 
 
Council also notes that the only party who has opposed progress in the 
Hinckley & Bosworth Local Plan are the Conservative group. 
 
Council further notes the significant donations received by the 
Conservative party by house builders and other developers over the last 
few years. 
 
The Council notes with concern the recent national guidance issued by 
government requiring additional work to be undertaken on the local plan 
before it can be progressed to examination which has caused many 
councils to pause progress on their plans. 
 
Council highlights its concern arising from the government’s build, build, 
build target of 300,000 new homes a year which has caused undue 
pressures on local planning authorities to meet these targets and 
therefore adversely impacting on local plan progress. This is clearly 
illustrated by Leicester City not being able to meet its housing needs 
therefore placing more pressure on districts in Leicestershire to take 
additional housing. 
 
Council therefore resolves to ask the Chief Executive to write to the 
speaker of the House of Commons to set the record straight.” 



This page is intentionally left blank



-160 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

26 April 2022 AT 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: CLLR E HOLLICK - MAYOR 
 CLLR DT GLENVILLE – DEPUTY MAYOR 
  
 Cllr CM Allen, Cllr RG Allen, Cllr DC Bill MBE, Cllr SL Bray, 

Cllr MB Cartwright, Cllr JMT Collett, Cllr MA Cook, Cllr DS Cope, 
Cllr MJ Crooks, Cllr WJ Crooks, Cllr REH Flemming, 
Cllr A Furlong, Cllr L Hodgkins, Cllr C Ladkin, Cllr MR Lay, 
Cllr KWP Lynch, Cllr K Morrell, Cllr LJ Mullaney, 
Cllr MT Mullaney, Cllr K Nichols, Cllr A Pendlebury, 
Cllr RB Roberts, Cllr MC Sheppard-Bools, Cllr H Smith, 
Cllr BR Walker, Cllr R Webber-Jones and Cllr P Williams 

 
Officers in attendance: Matthew Bowers, Bill Cullen, Paul Grundy, Julie Kenny, 
Rebecca Owen, Caroline Roffey and Madeline Shellard 
 

399. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Boothby, Findlay, 
Gibbens, O’Shea and H Williams. 
 

400. Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor W Crooks and 
 

RESOLVED – the minutes of the meetings held on 22 & 24 
February 2022 be confirmed and signed by the Mayor. 

 
401. Declarations of interest  

 
No interests were declared. 
 

402. Mayor's Communications  
 
The Mayor reported on events attended throughout March and April. 
 

403. Questions  
 
(a) Question from Councillor R Allen to the Executive member for Planning: 
 
 “Following on from Cllr Boothby’s question to Council on 25 January 2022, 

can the lead member provide me with an updated position on the following 
points as of 26 April 2022: 

 
i. Spend YTD on consultants and temporary staff cover 
ii. Provide an update on recruitment for all vacant positions within the 

planning and enforcement function 
iii. Confirm the number of planning applications received awaiting 

verification 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

-161 - 

iv. Confirm the number of planning applications awaiting decision split 
between minor and major 

v. Spend YTD on planning appeals 
vi. Confirm the number of planning applications approaching, at or past 

their target decision date (ie at risk of appeal for non-
determination).” 

 
Response from the Executive member for Planning: 
 
“Councillor Allen, thank you for your question. I know that updates have 
been provided to the Planning Committee and at the Leaders’ meetings on 
this matter but I am happy to provide some statistics for you as requested. 
I am pleased to report the number of outstanding applications is reducing 
and would like to thank the team for all their hard work on achieving this. 
 
i. Spend YTD on consultants and temporary staff cover 

 
To be reported through the normal budget reporting cycle 

 
ii. Provide an update on recruitment for all vacant positions within the 

planning and enforcement function 
 

Of the nine professional planner roles in development management, 
three are occupied by permanent staff. Three more have been 
offered and have accepted and are awaiting paperwork to be 
completed. This leaves three vacant. Vacancies are being covered 
by interim staff and contracts. 
 
Of the four professional planner role sin enforcement, one is 
occupied on a part time basis and two more are occupied full time 
by permanent staff. One role remains vacant and is being covered 
by an interim member. 
 
Of the five professional planner roles in policy, three are occupied 
by permanent staff. One has been offered and accepted and is 
awaiting paperwork to be completed. This leaves one vacant. 
Vacancies are being covered by interim staff and contracts. 
 
Of the six professional roles in major projects, five are occupied by 
permanent staff. One has just become vacant following retirement 
of the post holder. 
 
Of the five support officer roles, there is one vacancy being covered 
by a member of staff from within the team and a temporary member 
of staff has been brought in to backfill. 

 
iii. Confirm the number of planning applications received awaiting 

verification 
 

As of 1 April 2022 there were ten applications not including TPOs 
and pre-apps awaiting validation. 

 

Page 2



 

-162 - 

iv. Confirm the number of planning applications awaiting decision split 
between minor and major 

 
As of 1 April 2022 there were 52 outstanding major applications (not 
including those with a resolution to grant awaiting S106) 
 
As of 1 April 2022 there were 115 outstanding minor applications 
(not including those with a resolution to grant awaiting S106) 
 
As of 1 April 2022 there were 300 outstanding other applications 
(not including those with a resolution to grant awaiting S106). 

 
v. Spend YTD on planning appeals 

 
To be reported through the normal budget reporting cycle. 

 
vi. Confirm the number of planning applications approaching, at or past 

their target decision date (ie at risk of appeal for non-determination) 
 

As of 1 April 2022 there were 37 applications past their target date 
with no extension of time agreed.” 

 
 By way of supplementary question further to point vi above, Councillor 

Allen asked how many applications were outstanding with agreement for 
an extension. The Executive member agreed to provide the figures to 
Councillor Allen outside of the meeting. 

 
(b) Question from Councillor R Allen to the Executive member for finance: 
 
 “Following on from Cllr O’Shea’s question to Council on 25 January 2022 

and repeated requests from myself, will the lead member for finance 
provide me with a detailed breakdown of the costs of the brown bin and 
blue lid bin recycling schemes separately, by cost item by year for the past 
five years.” 

 
 Response from the Executive member for finance: 
 
 “I would like to thank Councillor Allen for the question and following the 

previous request from Councillor O’Shea, I can advise that a report setting 
out the cost of the garden waste service has been produced and will be 
presented to the next meeting of the Scrutiny Commission. Any further 
queries outstanding or arising from that report can be addressed through 
that meeting. 

 
 The period to the year-end close is particularly demanding and the finance 

team has had to deal with covid grants coming to a closedown on 31 
March and ensuring all funds that can be used were spent by 31 March 
2022. It is also a time of preparing the more pressing matter of the budget 
for 2022/23 and related reports in a time of uncertainty, which obviously 
had to take precedence over more historically based reviews on past 
reported decisions.” 

 

Page 3



 

-163 - 

Councillor Furlong entered the meeting at 6.40pm. 
 
(c) Question from Councillor R Allen to the Executive member for Finance: 
 

“As councillors we all have a responsibility to ensure the financial well-
being of this council. To this end will the lead member for finance 
undertake to introduce a report to the scrutiny committee detailing for 
accounts in credit 

 

 Account opening balances 

 Monies in 

 Monies out 

 Closing balance 
 

For accounts in deficit 
 

 Account opening balances 

 Monies in 

 Monies out 

 Interest charged 

 Repayments made 

 Closing balance 
 

In time for the next schedule scrutiny committee and all future meetings to 
provide members with an at-a-glance summary of this council’s financial 
position.” 
 
Response from the Executive member: 
 
“I would like to thank Councillor Allen for his question and interest in the 
finances of the council. As Councillor Allen will already be aware, there are 
a number of reports that are already presented and discussed at Finance 
& Performance Scrutiny in relation to the council’s financial position. I 
would therefore propose that this matter is discussed at the next such 
meeting to enable all members of that committee to determine the level of 
reporting required that is proportionate and relevant for the purposes 
members require. 
 
I have assumed that you refer to bank accounts, rather than general 
ledger accounts, as the latter would take considerable resources and not 
really add anything further to budget reports that are already reported in 
year. In terms of bank accounts, the council only operates three bank 
accounts, not including the Mayor’s charity account. For these three 
accounts, one is used for payments, one is a more general account used 
mainly for receipts and the third is the elections account which is ring 
fenced. These accounts are not allowed to go overdrawn and we do not 
run an overdraft arrangement with our bank, to avoid charges for such an 
arrangement. 
 
If members are interested in the cash flow of the council, this is already 
reported in the financial statements annually as a primary statement and 
any member can review these at any time. The financial statements are 

Page 4



 

-164 - 

subject to external audit and our auditors have no concerns with our cash 
position or going concern projections to date. The cash flow in the financial 
statements clearly links our income and expenditure position to the cash 
held and has disclosure on cash flows from operating activities, investing 
activities and from financing activities. I have asked the finance team and 
they are happy to give further training to any members who wish to have a 
better understanding of this statement. 
 
I would also like to point out that the question suggests rather a simplistic 
understanding of how a complex organisation such as a local authority 
operates, as there are large amounts of cash collected on behalf of other 
bodies, such as council tax and business rates, and more recently there 
has been significant amounts of cash received from government that is 
merely passing through our accounts en route to businesses as part of the 
covid support scheme. Also, we have cash constantly being placed in 
short term investments that sits outside the bank account cash held while 
invested. It may be better to discuss at Finance & Performance Scrutiny 
what it is exactly that members are seeking assurance on, so as to better 
frame the request for information and to avoid any time being wasted in 
providing information that does not meet members’ requirements.” 

 
404. Leader of the Council's Position Statement  

 
In his position statement, the Leader referred to: 
 

 Support for Ukraine 

 MIRA investment 

 Events planned as part of Her Majesty the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee 
celebrations 

 The council being recognised as a Platinum Council for its support for the Big 
Jubilee Lunch 

 Burbage Common open day 

 Tourism within the borough including the opening of Gruffalo Adventure Land 
at Twycross Zoo, the Battlefield Centre and Triumph Motorcycle Museum 

 Business grants 

 Council tax energy rebate 

 Local plan and neighbourhood plans 

 Hinckley National Rail Freight Interchange consultation. 
 

405. Minutes of the Scrutiny Commission  
 
The chairman of the Scrutiny Commission presented the minutes of the last 
meeting. 
 

406. Council Housing Asset Management Strategy  
 
Consideration was given to the council housing asset management strategy. 
During discussion, the following points were made: 
 

 Alternative solutions to gas boilers would be investigated in future 

Page 5



 

-165 - 

 Energy efficiency would be a priority, including ensuring double glazing was in 
good condition 

 A tenants conference was planned for September, to which councillors would 
be invited. 

 
It was moved by Councillor M Mullaney, seconded by Councillor Bray and 
 

RESOLVED – the council housing asset management strategy be 
approved and the action plan noted. 

 
407. Urgent works at Bradgate Stables  

 
Members received a report which sought agreement of a course of action and 
strategy to address the works required at Bradgate Stables. The historical value 
of the building was noted and a member visit was suggested, along with the 
taking of photographs for the council’s archives. It was moved by Councillor Bill, 
seconded by Councillor Cartwright and unanimously 
 

RESOLVED – The course of action and strategy for Bradgate 
Stables be agreed, including the use of enforcement powers, in 
particular: 
 
(i) The presentation of an urgent works schedule and 

specification to the owner be approved, giving notice that the 
council intends to carry out the specified urgent works; 

 
(ii) The serving of the Urgent Works Notice upon the owner be 

approved, should no clear commitment to the works being 
undertaken voluntarily be provided; 

 
(iii) The serving of the abovementioned Urgent Works Notice be 

delegated to the proper officer; 
 

(iv) Appointment of the required professional services to 
complete the urgent works in default be approved, with the 
appointment delegated to the proper officer upon expiry of a 
seven-day period from the serving of the Urgent Works 
Notice and following no clear commitment to the works being 
undertaken voluntarily being provided; 

 
(v) Acceptance of the grant offer from Historic England to 

underwrite 80% of the costs for the completion of the urgent 
works be approved. 

 
408. Off Street Parking Places Order  

 
A variation to the council’s Off Street Parking Places Order 2014 was considered 
following implementation of the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions 
(Approved Devices, Charging Guidelines and General Provisions) (England) 
Regulations 2022. This was be an administrative matter and presented no 
change to the customer. It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by 
Councillor Nichols and 

Page 6



 

-166 - 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
(i) The proposed variation to the Off Street Parking Places 

Order be approved; 
 

(ii) Implementation of the variation and authority to make any 
necessary additional adjustments to the wording of the 
variation order be delegated to the Director (Environment & 
Planning) and the Director (Corporate Services) in 
consultation with the Executive member for car parks. 

 
409. Motions received in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 17  

 
(a) Motion from Councillor P Williams, seconded by Councillor Webber-Jones 

 
“This Council notes that the UK is the only country in Europe to still use the first 
past the post (FPTP) system for general elections aside from Belarus. 
 
Created in the 1800s when the electoral choice was between the aristocratic 
Tories and Whigs and women were denied the right to vote, FPTP is structurally 
undemocratic. It means millions of votes do not matter, millions of votes are 
wasted, both “safe seats” and tactical voting are commonplace, and seats won in 
Westminster often bear little relationship to votes cast. In short, it is an archaic 
rigged system. How can Britain of the 2020s move forward when, in some 
constituencies, the same party has won every election since those constituencies 
were created in 1832? 
 
There is an alternative voting system. It is called proportional representation 
(PR). More than 80 nations around the world already elect their legislatures this 
way, including in Scotland, in Wales and in the Republic of Ireland. Why? 
Because it is far fairer and proportional. 
 
Council therefore resolves to write to Rt Hon Michael Gove MP, Secretary of 
State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to call for an end to first past 
the post, to end minority rule, and we support the introduction of a form of 
proportional representation for parliamentary general elections in which all votes 
count equally and seats match votes.” 
 
Discussion ensued on whether different voting systems led to more stable 
governments and on fairness for the voter. 
 
It was moved by Councillor P Williams, seconded by Councillor Webber-Jones 
and 
 

RESOLVED – Council writes to Rt Hon Michael Gove MP, 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, to 
call for an end to first past the post, to end minority rule and to 
support the introduction of a form of proportional representation for 
parliamentary general elections in which all votes count equally and 
seats match votes. 

 

Page 7



 

-167 - 

(b) Motion from Councillor Pendlebury, seconded by Councillor Sheppard-Bools 
 
“Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council notes that March is Cerebral Palsy 
awareness month. 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council notes that tens of thousands of people 
living with Cerebral Palsy across England, including in this borough, do not enjoy 
a common standard of access to services because of a postcode lottery. 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council notes that access to vital support services 
for children living with Cerebral Palsy and their families is imperative to 
transforming their life chances. 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council notes the recommendations of the 
Commons Education Select Committee’s report on SEND for including Cerebral 
Palsy specifically within that framework and commits to working with relevant 
bodies, including Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission to further this aim in 
this local authority. 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council calls on the Department for Health and 
Social Care, Department for Education and the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing & Communities to make funding available to Hinckley & Bosworth 
Borough Council for the upskilling of both the clinical and educational workforce 
in the needs of those living with Cerebral Palsy. 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council notes the role of third sector and 
independent providers in delivering support to Cerebral Palsy services and 
resolves to do everything in its power to support them by: 
 

1. Promoting the work of Action Cerebral Palsy and third sector and 
independent providers delivering Cerebral Palsy support services for 
Hinckley & Bosworth on the council’s website and social media. 
 

2. Promoting the work of Action Cerebral Palsy and third sector and 
independent providers delivering Cerebral Palsy support services in 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council’s publications. 

 
3. Committing to offer Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council’s employees 

training on Cerebral Palsy awareness from Action Cerebral Palsy. 
 

4. Encouraging health and education workers in the Hinckley & Bosworth 
area to take up training in this area offered by Action Cerebral Palsy. 

 
5. Writing to the MPs for the borough area asking them to raise the issue of 

provision of support services for children living with Cerebral Palsy and to 
meet with Action Cerebral Palsy.” 
 

During discussion, the cost of training employees as a result of this motion was 
questioned. The difference in healthcare levels across the country was also 
raised. 
 

Page 8



 

-168 - 

It was moved by Councillor Pendlebury, seconded by Councillor Sheppard-Bools 
and unanimously 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
(i) Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council calls on the 

Department for Health and Social Care, Department for 
Education and the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities to make funding available to Hinckley & 
Bosworth Borough Council for the upskilling of both the 
clinical and educational workforce in the needs of those living 
with Cerebral Palsy; 

 
(ii) Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council notes the role of third 

sector and independent providers in delivering support to 
Cerebral Palsy services and resolves to do everything in its 
power to support them by: 

 
a. Promoting the work of Action Cerebral Palsy and third 

sector and independent providers delivering Cerebral 
Palsy support services for Hinckley & Bosworth on the 
council’s website and social media 
 

b. Promoting the work of Action Cerebral Palsy and third 
sector and independent providers delivering Cerebral 
Palsy support services in Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council’s publications 
 

c. Committing to offer Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council’s employees training on Cerebral Palsy 
awareness from Action Cerebral Palsy 
 

d. Encouraging health and education workers in the 
Hinckley & Bosworth area to take up training in this area 
offered by Action Cerebral Palsy 
 

e. Writing to the MPs for the borough area asking them to 
raise the issue of provision of support services for 
children living with Cerebral Palsy and to meet with 
Action Cerebral Palsy. 

 
(c) Motion from Councillor M Mullaney, seconded by Councillor Sheppard-Bools 

 
This motion was withdrawn before the meeting. 
 

(The Meeting closed at 7.53 pm) 
 
 
 

 MAYOR 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



-1 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

17 May 2022 AT 6.30 pm 
 
 
PRESENT: CLLR E HOLLICK - MAYOR 
 CLLR DT GLENVILLE – DEPUTY MAYOR 
  
 Cllr RG Allen, Cllr DC Bill MBE, Cllr SL Bray, Cllr MB Cartwright, 

Cllr MA Cook, Cllr DS Cope, Cllr MJ Crooks, Cllr WJ Crooks, 
Cllr DJ Findlay, Cllr REH Flemming, Cllr A Furlong, Cllr SM Gibbens, 
Cllr L Hodgkins, Cllr C Ladkin, Cllr MR Lay, Cllr KWP Lynch, 
Cllr K Morrell, Cllr LJ Mullaney, Cllr MT Mullaney, Cllr LJP O'Shea, 
Cllr A Pendlebury, Cllr MC Sheppard-Bools, Cllr H Smith, 
Cllr BR Walker, Cllr R Webber-Jones, Cllr HG Williams and 
Cllr P Williams 

 
Officers in attendance: Matthew Bowers, Bill Cullen, Julie Kenny, Rebecca Owen and 
Sharon Stacey 
 

1. Appointment of Mayor  
 
On the motion of Councillor Flemming, seconded by Councillor P Williams it was 
unanimously 
 

RESOLVED – Councillor Glenville be appointed Mayor for the ensuing 
municipal year. 

 
Councillor Glenville made the requisite declaration of acceptance of office and the 
retiring Mayor invested her with the chain of office. 
 
The Mayor, Councillor Glenville, took the chair at this point. 
 
The retiring Mayor’s consort invested Councillor Walker with the consort’s chain. 
 
In addressing the meeting, Councillor Glenville introduced her cadet and chaplain and 
announced her charities. 
 
It was then moved by Councillor Bill, seconded by Councillor Bray and 
 

RESOLVED – a vote of thanks be accorded to Councillor Hollick for 
service during his term of office as Mayor. 

 
Councillor Hollick then addressed the meeting, thanking his wife for her support as 
Mayoress and previously Deputy Mayoress for two years, his chaplain and fellow 
councillors. The Mayor then presented Councillor Hollick with the Past Mayor’s medal. 
 
Councillor Bray presented the Leader’s medal to Mrs Hollick. 
 

2. Appointment of Deputy Mayor  
 
On the motion of Councillor M Mullaney, seconded by Councillor Bray, it was 
unanimously 
 

RESOLVED – Councillor Gibbens be appointed Deputy Mayor for the 
ensuing year. 

 

Page 11



 

-2 - 

Councillor Gibbens then made the requisite declaration of acceptance of office and the 
Mayor invested him with the Deputy Mayor’s chain of office and Mrs Gibbens with the 
Deputy Mayoress’ chain. 
 

3. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors C Allen, Boothby, Collett, 
Nichols and Roberts. 
 

4. Declarations of interest  
 
No interests were declared. 
 
At this juncture, Councillor O’Shea informed members of the recent sad passing of 
former councillor Richard Shooter and a one minute silence ensued. 
 

5. Establishment of and appointment to council bodies  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill and unanimously 
 

RESOLVED – appointments to council bodies be made as follows: 
 
(i) Appeals Panel (pool of 12 members from which three will be drawn when 

necessary) 
 
 Councillor REH Flemming (Chairman); Councillor B Walker (Vice-Chairman); 

Councillor RG Allen; Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor MJ Crooks; Councillor 
AC Furlong; Councillor DT Glenville; Councillor L Hodgkins; Councillor K Morrell; 
Councillor LJP O’Shea JP; Councillor RB Roberts; Councillor MC Sheppard-
Bools. 

 
(ii) Audit Committee 
 
 Councillor DS Cope (Chairman); Councillor A Pendlebury (Vice-Chairman); 

Councillor MA Cook; Councillor REH Flemming; Councillor L Hodgkins; 
Councillor C Ladkin; Councillor MR Lay; Councillor RB Roberts; Councillor BR 
Walker; Councillor HG Williams; Councillor P Williams. 

 
(iii) Ethical Governance & Personnel Committee 
 
 Councillor R Webber-Jones (Chairman); Councillor SL Bray (Vice-Chairman); 

Councillor RG Allen; Councillor DC Bill MBE; Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor 
MA Cook; Councillor AC Furlong; Councillor L Hodgkins; Councillor LJP O’Shea 
JP. 

 
(iv) Finance & Performance Scrutiny 
 

Councillor C Ladkin (Chairman); Councillor P Williams (Vice-Chairman); 
Councillor JMT Collett; Councillor DS Cope; Councillor EA Hollick; Councillor K 
Morrell; Councillor LJ Mullaney; Councillor MC Sheppard-Bools; Councillor R 
Webber-Jones. 

 
(v) Hinckley Area Committee 
 

Councillor L Hodgkins (Chairman); Councillor LJ Mullaney (Vice-Chairman); 
Councillor DC Bill; Councillor SL Bray; Councillor DS Cope; Councillor SM 

Page 12



 

-3 - 

Gibbens; Councillor KWP Lynch; Councillor MT Mullaney; Councillor K Nichols; 
Councillor A Pendlebury. 

 
(vi) Licensing Committee 
 
 Councillor MC Sheppard-Bools (Chairman); Councillor L Hodgkins (Vice-

Chairman); Councillor CM Allen; Councillor RG Allen; Councillor DC Bill MBE; 
Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor WJ Crooks; Councillor MT Mullaney; 
Councillor K Nichols; Councillor LJP O’Shea JP; Councillor R Webber-Jones. 

 
(vii) Planning Committee 
 
 Councillor MJ Crooks (Chairman); Councillor EA Hollick (Vice-Chairman); 

Councillor CM Allen; Councillor RG Allen; Councillor CW Boothby; Councillor SL 
Bray; Councillor DS Cope; Councillor WJ Crooks; Councillor REH Flemming; 
Councillor AC Furlong; Councillor SM Gibbens; Councillor L Hodgkins; Councillor 
KWP Lynch; Councillor LJ Mullaney; Councillor RB Roberts; Councillor H Smith; 
Councillor BR Walker. 

 
(viii) Scrutiny Commission 
 
 Councillor MR Lay (Chairman); Councillor C Ladkin (Vice-Chairman); Councillor 

P Williams (Vice-Chairman); Councillor JMT Collett; Councillor DS Cope; 
Councillor MJ Crooks; Councillor L Hodgkins; Councillor K Morrell; Councillor A 
Pendlebury; Councillor MC Sheppard-Bools; Councillor R Webber-Jones. 

 

6. Appointment to working groups  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill and unanimously 
 

RESOLVED – appointments to working groups be made as follows: 
 
(i) Asset Strategy & Regeneration Group 
 
 Councillor KWP Lynch (Chairman); Councillor MA Cook; Councillor DS Cope; 

Councillor C Ladkin; Councillor MR Lay; Councillor K Nichols; Councillor P 
Williams. 

 
(ii) Member Development Group 
 
 Councillor SL Bray (Chairman); Councillor CM Allen; Councillor RG Allen; 

Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor E Hollick; Councillor MR Lay; Councillor A 
Pendlebury. 

 

7. Appointment to Leicestershire Partnership Joint Committee  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill and unanimously 
 

RESOLVED – Councillors Bill and Lynch be appointed to Leicestershire 
Partnership Joint Committee. 

 

8. Appointment of representatives to outside bodies  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill and 
 

RESOLVED – the following appointments be made to outside bodies: 
 

Page 13



 

-4 - 

A5 Partnership 
Councillor DC Bill MBE 
 
Bradgate Landfill Liaison Committee 
Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor LJP O’Shea JP 
 
Charnwood Forest Steering Group 
Councillor MB Cartwright 
 
Cliffe Hill Quarry Liaison Committee 
Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor A Furlong 
 
Community Safety Partnership 
Councillor MT Mullaney 
 
Desford Brickworks Liaison Committee 
Councillor R Webber-Jones 
 
East Midlands Councils 
Councillor SL Bray 
 
Employment and Skills Partnership 
Councillor R Webber-Jones 
 
Groby Quarry Liaison Committee 
Councillor EA Hollick 
 
Health & Wellbeing Partnership 
Councillor DC Bill MBE 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Community Transport 
Councillor MB Cartwright 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Sports and Health Alliance 
Councillor K Nichols 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Tourism Partnership 
Councillor K Nichols 
 
Hinckley Shopmobility 
Councillor LJ Mullaney 
 
Hinckley Town Centre Partnership 
Councillor DT Glenville 
 
HORIBA-MIRA Community Liaison Group 
Councillor JMT Collett 
 
Leicester & Leicestershire Police & Crime Panel 
Councillor MT Mullaney 
 
Leicestershire & Rutland Heritage Forum 
Councillor P Williams 
 
Local Government Association General Assembly 
Councillor SL Bray (Councillor DC Bill MBE substitute) 
 

Page 14



 

-5 - 

PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations outside London) Adjudication Joint Committee 
Councillor DS Cope 
 
Think Family Partnership 
Councillor DS Cope 
 
Voluntary & Community Sector Commissioning Board 
Councillor MB Cartwright; Councillor KWP Lynch. 
 

9. Appointments to charitable bodies  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill and 
 

RESOLVED – the following appointments be made to charitable bodies: 
 

(i) Hinckley JCC Foundation 
 

Mr I Daniels 
 

(ii) George Ward Centre 
 

Councillor Sheppard-Bools. 
 

10. Calendar of meetings 2022-23-24  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Bill and 
 

RESOLVED – the calendar of meetings for December to May of the 
2022/23 municipal year and May to December of the 2023/24 municipal 
year be approved. 

 
 

(The Meeting closed at 7.10 pm) 
 
 
 
 

 MAYOR 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



-16 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

9 JUNE 2022 AT 6.30 PM 
 
PRESENT: Cllr P Williams – Vice-Chairman in the Chair 
 Cllr C Ladkin – Vice-Chairman 
Cllr JMT Collett, Cllr DS Cope, Cllr MJ Crooks, Cllr L Hodgkins, Cllr K Morrell, 
Cllr A Pendlebury, Cllr MC Sheppard-Bools and Cllr R Webber-Jones 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor KWP Lynch 
 
Officers in attendance: Daniel Britton, Bill Cullen, Julie Kenny, Helen Nightingale, 
Rebecca Owen, Ian Pinfold, Caroline Roffey, Sharon Stacey and Ashley Wilson 
 

38. Apologies and substitutions  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Ladkin and Lay. 
 

39. Minutes  
 
It was moved by Councillor Crooks, seconded by Councillor Sheppard-Bools and 
 

RESOLVED – the minutes of the meeting held on 31 March be approved 
as a correct record. 

 
40. Declarations of interest  

 
No interests were declared. 
 

41. Environmental Improvement Programme 2022-23  
 
Members were updated on the 2022/23 Environmental Improvement Programme. It was 
agreed that photographs of some of the schemes would be sent to members along with 
a link to the relevant pages of the website. 
 

42. Housing Delivery Test Action Plan  
 
The Scrutiny Commission was notified of the housing delivery test results which 
calculated that the council had delivered 86% of its required housing target over the last 
three years, requiring publication of an action plan. It was reported that the government 
had taken account of slower delivery during the pandemic. 
 
Cllr Ladkin entered the meeting at 6.47pm. 
 
During discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

 The lack of sustainable communities to accept housing 

 Concern that the situation will worsen in future 

 The local plan would improve the situation in the longer term 

 Engagement with developers and neighbourhood plan groups was taking place 

 Bringing forward the sustainable urban extensions (SUEs) would improve the 
situation 

 Legislation now required local plans to be updated every five years, so this would 
result in a constant programme of updates. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



 

-17 - 

A member expressed concern that the Earl Shilton SUE would experience similar delays 
to the Barwell SUE, however officers provided assurance that lessons had been learned 
and a project board would oversee progress. It was noted that the Earl Shilton Town 
Team had been kept informed and the developers were happy to continue to attend 
those meetings. 
 

43. Garden waste costs update  
 
Members were updated on the garden waste position in relation to income and cost 
recovery. It was acknowledged that the income from the service wasn’t intended to cover 
the cost of delivery and despite more residents subscribing to the service than initially 
predicted, the service continued to run at a loss. Members thanked the Head of Finance 
for the clear explanation with regard to the financial position. 
 

44. Ashby Road Cemetery  
 
Further to a motion to Council on 25 January 2022, the Scrutiny Commission received a 
presentation on works to improve surface water drainage at Ashby Road Cemetery. It 
was noted that since opening in 1858 the cemetery had had two extensions, the most 
recent in 2009. 
 
Members were informed that in March 2021 a small number of complaints had been 
received about surface water to the newest extension. Consultants were engaged to 
review the drainage system and in November 2021 additional drainage was installed. 
Following the motion to Council, new consultants were appointed to review the matter. 
The consultants reviewed the initial risk assessment from 2007 where there was a 
moderate risk, meeting Environment Agency requirements and concluded that the risk 
was now low. 
 
The consultants also considered the impact of the new development on the site of the 
“Big Pit” and concluded that it would not affect the existing cemetery extension. It was 
noted that this would be monitored throughout the construction of the new development. 
The cemetery was at a higher level than the Big Pit site. 
 
The cemetery was monitored daily Monday to Friday and at weekends during times of 
high rainfall. 17 days of wetter ground were recorded but these were during periods of 
high rainfall. The drainage system was designed for surface water from precipitation to 
percolate through the system over an eight hour period. 
 
Further work was planned to increase drains on the adjacent section and on 
hardstanding areas and between existing graves subject to the agreement of families. 
 

45. Medium Term Financial Strategy  
 
Members were provided with a presentation on the medium term financial strategy 
(MTFS) which would cover three outlooks due to the high level of uncertainty. The 
business rates reset remained the key risk as part of the fair funding review. It was noted 
that the MTFS would be reported to Council in July. 
 

46. Scrutiny Commission Work Programme  
 
Members received the work programme which covered the 2022/23 municipal year. It 
was reported that the report on supporting young people and young people’s voice would 
be taken to the March meeting. 
 
It was agreed that a briefing note about legislation relating to hedges would be arranged. 
 

Page 18



 

-18 - 

47. Minutes of Finance & Performance Scrutiny  
 
The minutes of Finance & Performance Scrutiny were received for information. 
 
 

(The Meeting closed at 7.50 pm) 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
Forward timetable of consultation and decision making 
 
Council      12 July 2022 
Wards affected:    All wards 
 
 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2025/26  
 
 

Report of Head of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 To seek Council’s approval for the 2022/23-2025/26 Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) attached to this report. This comprises the current year 
2022/23 and a three-year outlook. 
 

1.2  The MTFS has been prepared taking into account the Corporate Plan and 
should be read in conjunction with the Capital Programme, General Fund and 
HRA budgets, which were presented separately in February 2022. 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Council approves the updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) update for 2022/23-2025/26 

 
3. Background to the report 
 
3.1 The purpose of the MTFS is to: 

 Structure and manage the Council’s finances to support and deliver the 
council’s objectives. 

 Inform decision on expenditure and savings to sustain Council services. 

 Engage officers and members in “owning” the process by which Council 
finances are managed. 

 
Summary MTFS information 
 
3.2 The MTFS update (Full details are in the attached MTFS document at 

Appendix A) covers the assumption used and risks considered. A summary of 

Page 21

Agenda Item 10



 
 

the overall MTFS excluding Special Expenses is given in the table below for 
three MTFS scenarios, which cover the: 
 

 Expected Case – which is the most likely, but still challenges and risks, with 
a key assumption being the business rates reset will be in 2024/25 

 Best Case – This has beneficial but unconfirmed or less likely assumption, 
with a key assumption being the business rates reset will be in 2025/26 

 Worst Case – Take a more pessimistic view, with less income opportunity, 
and with a key assumption being the business rates reset will be in 2023/24  

 

EXPECTED  
2022/23 

Current Year 
£ 

2023/24 
Forecast 

£ 

2024/25 
Forecast 

£ 

2025/26 
Forecast 

£ 

Budget requirement 13,434,982 11,185,617 11,588,779 12,014,466 
Income (NNDR, Ctax, 
etc) 10,843,687 10,706,829 9,918,210 9,492,748 

Difference -2,591,295 -478,788 -1,670,569 -2,521,718 

Covered by:         

Reserve movements 2,591,295 478,788 1,670,569 700,718 

Savings required       1,821,000 

  2,591,295 478,788 1,670,569 2,521,718 

 

BEST 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget requirement 12,914,644 10,579,133 10,444,041 11,147,686 
Income (NNDR, Ctax, 
etc) 10,843,687 10,817,370 11,425,679 10,563,994 

Difference 2,070,957 -238,237 -981,637 583,693 

Covered by:         

Reserve movements 2,070,958 -238,237 -981,637 583,693 

Savings required 0 0 0 0 

  2,070,958 -238,237 -981,637 583,693 

 

WORST 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget requirement 13,735,794 12,700,031 12,254,484 10,116,588 
Income (NNDR, Ctax, 
etc) 10,843,687 9,952,214 9,134,468 9,181,801 

Difference 2,892,107 2,747,818 3,120,016 934,787 

Covered by:         

Reserve movements 2,892,107 1,857,318 581,016 451,287 

Savings required   890,500 2,539,000 483,500 

  2,892,107 2,747,818 3,120,016 934,787 

 

4. Exemptions in accordance with the Access to Information procedure 
rules 

 
4.1 Report is to be taken in open session. 

 

Page 22



 
 

5. Financial implications [AW] 
 

5.1 In the body of the report 
 

6. Legal implications [MR] 
 

6.1 The MTFS provides the foundations to allow the Council to meet its statutory 
obligations in accordance with Section 32 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 and section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. The Council has 
a statutory requirement to set a budget for each financial year and approve 
the MTFS, including a three-year capital programme. 
 

7. Corporate Plan implications 
 

7.1 A robust MTFS is required to ensure that resources are effectively allocated to 
ensure delivery of all the aims, outcomes and targets included in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. 
 

8. Consultation 
 

8.1 All members of the Strategic Leadership Team have been consulted in 
preparing this Strategy. 
 

9. Risk implications 
 

9.1 It is the council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks 
which may prevent delivery of business objectives. 
 

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all the time and risks will 
remain which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion 
based on the information available, that the significant risks associated with 
this decision / project have been identified, assessed and that controls are in 
place to manage them effectively. 
 

9.3 The following significant risks associated with these report / decisions were 
identified from this assessment: 

 

Management of significant (Net Red) risks 

Risk description Mitigating actions Owner 

That the Council has 
insufficient 
resources to meet its 
aspirations and 
cannot set a balanced 
budget 

A budget strategy is produced to 
ensure that the objectives of the 
budget exercise are known 
throughout the organisation. 
The budget is scrutinised on an 
ongoing basis to ensure that 
assumptions are robust and reflective 
of financial performance. 
Sufficient levels of reserves and 
balances have been maintained to 
ensure financial resilience 

A Wilson 

Page 23



 
 

10. Knowing your community – equality and rural implications 
 

10.1 The budget process will impact on all areas of the Borough and all groups 
within the population. 

 
11. Climate implications 
 
11.1 The stewardship of the financial resources of the council underpins all policy 

actions to address the council’s objectives in ensuring it manages its 
resources to ensure climate considerations are achieved in accordance with 
the corporate plan.  
 

12. Corporate implications 
 
12.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into 

account: 
 

- Community safety implications 
- Environmental implications 
- ICT implications 
- Asset management implications 
- Procurement implications 
- Human resources implications 
- Planning implications 
- Data protection implications 
- Voluntary sector 

 
  
 
Background papers: Corporate Plan, Capital Programme, General Fund and HRA 

budgets and Treasury report 
 
Contact officer:  Ashley Wilson 
Executive member:  Cllr K. Lynch 

Page 24



Financing for the delivery of the Corporate Plan 

Summary  
Medium Term Financial Strategy  
2022/23 to 2025/26 

What is the purpose of the of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)?  
Our MTFS is more than just a part of our good governance practice to have a schedule of financial forecast.  
It is part of our vision to put our financial resources in making Hinckley and Bosworth ‘A Place of Opportunity’ 
for all. We do this by ensuring we have fiscal governance to match our ambition to deliver our corporate 
goals of creating great places to live, work and relax in. It is not just about money, but how money can be 
used to make lives better. 
 
Background  
This update to the MTFS comes at a time of significant uncertainty and potential change being introduced 
by central government, which will influence public sector finances. We are now in the third of three one-year 
settlements, with 2024/25 now the period expected for the fair funding review and business rates reset to 
be in force, but we do not have clear detail on what this will mean for district councils. 
 
How does the MTFS capture the range of potential issues in a time of high uncertainty?   
As Central Government have not issued a clear intent of what will happen in future years, this MTFS has been 
restricted to the current year plus a three year outlook due to the high level of uncertainty. Therefore, three MTFS 
scenarios are considered. 
 
The Expected, Best and Worst Case MTFS Projections  
The main purpose of the of the three cases is to identify the potential need for savings or new income to ensure 
services are delivered in a controlled way and ensure the council balances its income and expenditure. The high-level 
position is given in the table below. 

New income /Savings 
needed

 
2022/23

 
2023/24 

 
2024/25

 
2025/26

Expected £0 £0 £0       £1,821,000

Best £0 £0 £0 £0

Worst £0          £890,500        £2,539,000        £483,500
Page 25



1.   A £5 increase in Council Tax for 2022/23-2025/26 
2.   A £5 increase in Garden Waste, to £35 in 2022/23 and a further £5 in 2023/24 
3.   To invest in the future of business and jobs with an ambitious £8m funding agreement in the Local  
       Enterprise Zone 
4.   The development of a savings plan for 2025/26 of £1.8m if needed. 
 
Without these actions the savings required in the MTFS would have been on the scale of £3m by 2025/26

Core Spending Power (CSP)  
Since 2016/17 increases in CSP are mainly from 
council tax, with Government settlements placing a 
greater burden on the local taxpayer. Business rates 
growth has helped, but a reset is expected by 
Government in 2024/25 which is the single most 
significant risk to the council’s finances. This is made 
worse by the major reductions in the New Homes 
Bonus scheme since 2016/17. 

This summary gives and overview for full details see the full MTFS technical document 
attached as an appendix.

Reserves 
The overall earmarked balances show an expected 
reduction of almost 50% by 31 March 2026, with up 
to £2m being used to support the general fund in the 
expected MTFS.

Earmarked Reserves 
total balances

2022 
£m 

2023 
£m 

2024 
£m

2025 
£m

2026 
£m

Expected 9.3 6.4 6.1 5.0 4.9

Best 9.3 6.9 7.3 8.7 8.7

Worst 9.3 6.3 4.6 4.6 4.6

The ‘expected’ scenario is currently anticipated to be the most likely outcome, but ‘best’ and ‘worst’ scenarios 
have also been modelled here in order to get a sense of the extent of all possible outcomes. Note these all 
include significant estimates for possible Government support (Damping) which may not be forthcoming. 
This enables suitable planning and contingency to be made.  
 
What happens next?  
The current administration has taken difficult decisions in the face of uncertainty from Government to 
ensure immediate pressures are addressed. In summary these actions are:  

Page 26



Appendix 1 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 

2022/23-2025/26 

 Technical Document 

Page 27



Appendix 1 
 

1 
 

1. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2022/23-2025/26 
 

1.1. The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to: 

 

 Outline how the Council wants to structure and manage its finances and to 

ensure it fits with and supports the direction of the council’s objectives set 

out in its Corporate Plan. 

 Engage officers and members in “owning” the process by which Council 

finances are managed. 

 

1.2. The MTFS has been prepared taking into account the Corporate Plan and 

should be read in conjunction with the Capital Programme, General Fund and 

HRA budgets, which are presented separately. 

 

2.  Executive Summary 
 

2.1 The MTFS is fundamental to securing the key ambitions and objectives of the 

Council’s Corporate Plan. The MTFS refresh 2022/23-2025/26 sets the 

framework for continuing to deliver high quality local services to residents and 

businesses but comes at a very uncertain time due to the lack of a clear 

longer term financial settlement form Government.  

 

2.2 This MTFS comes at the end of a difficult year, with Covid placing many 

pressures on the council during 2021/22, but we are expecting to end the 

2021/22 year with a positive general fund balance but will not achieve our 

15% minimum general fund target.  

 

2.3 As Central Government have not issued a clear intent of what will happen in 

future years, this MTFS has been restricted to the current year plus a three-

year outlook due to the high level of uncertainty, instead of the normal five-

year outlook. Information from ongoing government consultation, and from our 

advisors, which is not definitive and covers potential areas of change, 

indicates a significant risk to sources of income that have been a core part of 

HBBC’s financing in the past.  

 

2.4 The single most significant risk to the council’s finances is the potential 

business rates reset as part of the much-delayed fair funding review. This is 

made worse by the major changes to the New Homes Bonus scheme since 

2016/17 and the lack of clarity on its replacement post 2022/23.  

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Appendix 1 
 

2 
 

2.5 There is no clear indication on any transitional arrangements (Damping), in 

the financial settlement. However, it seems unlikely that Government would 

leave multiple councils to face immediate financial failure and will give some 

transitional support. The MTFS assumption is for some help to be provided. 

This is a key, and potentially high risk, assumption, which if incorrect, would 

mean significant financial pressure would occur much earlier in the MTFS 

period. 

 

2.5 The current administration has taken difficult decisions in the face of 

uncertainty to ensure that initial pressures are addressed but have balanced 

that with taking actions that are proportionate and balanced with the high level 

of uncertainty of having only a one-year financial settlement. In summary 

these actions are:  

 

 a £5 increase in Council Tax for 2022/23-2025/26 (which is expected to still 

leave us in the bottom 15 lowest charging District Councils) 

 a £5 increase in Garden Waste, to £35 in 2022/23 and a further £5 in 

2023/24(Still the lowest of the six charging councils in Leicestershire) 

 To invest in the future the local area with an ambitious £8m investment in 

the Local Enterprise Zone 

 the Development for a savings plan for 2025/26 of £1.8m if needed, 

 No recurring supplementary requests for the period of the MTFS, unless 

totally unavoidable. 

  

2.3 Without these actions the savings required in the MTFS would have been on 

the scale of £3m by 2025/26, with savings needed in 2023/24. This would not 

have been manageable and by taking these decisions now, it is hoped the 

council will be able to manage the pressures faced. This was a key 

governance aim in the light of such a high level of short-term uncertainty due 

to a lack of a longer-term settlement being provide by central government.  

 

2.4 The summary below gives the overall High level MTFS position in terms of 

three potential scenarios, Expected, Worst and Best. The Expected case 

gives the most likely position based on current information, with the Best and 

worst used for information to give a potential range, should things go better or 

worse than expected. The forecasts indicate action is needed to prepare and 

develop a £1.8mm savings and new income plan to be ready for 2025/26. Any 

action taken before then will be beneficial. 

 

 

 

Page 29



Appendix 1 
 

3 
 

EXPECTED  
 
FINANCIAL 
FORECAST  
(Includes Damping of 
£1.75m by 2025/26) 

2022/23 
Current Year 

£ 

2023/24 
Forecast 

 
£ 

2024/25 
Forecast 

 
£ 

2025/26 
Forecast 

 
£ 

Net Service Expenditure 15,805,260 13,434,982 11,185,511 11,588,865 

Budget movements -2,370,278 -2,249,471 403,354 425,624 

Savings needed 0 0 0 -1,821,000 

NET Borough Budget 
Requirement 

13,434,982 11,185,511 11,588,865 10,193,489 

Performance against 
target 

12.95% 15.00% 15.00% 15.00% 

Council Tax charge £144.86 £149.86 £154.86 £159.86 

 

BEST 
 
FINANCIAL 
FORECAST  
(Includes Damping of 
£1.5m by 2025/26) 

2022/23 
Current Year 

£ 

2023/24 
Forecast 

 
£ 

2024/25 
Forecast 

 
£ 

2025/26 
Forecast 

 
£ 

Net Service Expenditure 15,805,260 12,914,644 10,579,133 10,444,041 

Budget movements -2,890,616 -2,335,511 -135,091 703,645 

Savings needed 0 0 0 0 

NET Borough Budget 
Requirement 

12,914,644 10,579,133 10,444,041 11,147,686 

Performance against 
target 

12.95% 15.00% 15.00% 15.00% 

Council Tax charge £144.86 £149.86 £154.86 £159.86 

 

WORST 
 
FINANCIAL 
FORECAST  
(Includes Damping of 
£1.7m by 2024/25) 

2022/23 
Current Year 

£ 

2023/24 
Forecast 

 
£ 

2024/25 
Forecast 

 
£ 

2025/26 
Forecast 

 
£ 

Net Service Expenditure 15,805,260 13,735,794 11,809,531 9,715,484 

Budget movements -2,069,466 -1,035,763 444,953 401,104 

Savings needed 0 -890,500 -2,539,000 -483,500 

NET Borough Budget 
Requirement 

13,735,794 11,809,531 9,715,484 9,633,088 

Performance against 
target 

15.00% 15.00% 15.00% 15.00% 

Council Tax charge £144.86 £149.86 £154.86 £159.86 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



Appendix 1 
 

4 
 

3. BACKGROUND  
 

3.1 This MTFS update sets out the council’s financial position for the current year 

2022/23 and then onto 2025/26, giving a total three-year outlook.  

 

3.2 This update to the MTFS comes at a time of significant uncertainty and 

potential change, which will have an effect on public sector finances. We are 

currently entering the third of three one-year settlements, with 2024/25 now 

being the period expected when the fair funding review and business rates 

reset will be in force. As yet there is still no definitive detail on what this will 

mean for district councils. There is also the uncertainty of what will happen to 

the economy following the Covid pandemic, Brexit, and conflict in the Ukraine.  

 

3.3 The current one-year settlement gives little indication of government thinking 

overall as Covid has, understandably, been dominating the attention of central 

government currently. Financial predictions are in highly uncertain times, 

means that the information provided should be interpreted with care by 

members and may change significantly when the next financial spending 

review is complete. However, it is good governance to make risk-based 

forecasts and ensure preparations are made, even if not eventually needed, 

to ensure financial suitability .is maintained 

 

Core Spending Power (CSP) 
 

3.4 Government have stated that settlement represents real terms increase of 

more than 4.5% from last year on average Core Spending Power (CSP) 

HBBC’s CSP is £9.5m in total for 2022/23. Our net funding requirement, to 

cover the shortfall between other income sources and service costs is £11.9m 

(Inc Special Expenses). This s is covered by the CPS funds and £2.6m of 

business rates growth. However, much of the increase in CSP is from 

expected council tax increases being at the maximum allowed. A feature of 

recent settlements is that a greater burden appears to be placed on the local 

taxpayer, despite Government announcing increases in the settlement.  

 

3.5 A review of our Core funding allocations since 2016/17 demonstrates this 

change¸ The amount of Core Funding has fallen, mainly as NHB which was 

£2.9m in 2016/17 and £0.5m in 2022/23, but there has been a transfer of 

expectation from central grant funding to local taxation. The Council Tax 

figure they use is the notional maximum, not what is charged by the Council. 

Business Rates Growth is not included in core funding but has covered most 

of the shortfall in recent years. A reset is expected in 2024/25 which is likely to 

remove most of this growth. 

  

Page 31



Appendix 1 
 

5 
 

 

 

Table 1 
Core Funding 

 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 

Non-CTax  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Baseline Rates 3.6 3.2 2.9 2.6 2.7 2.7 2.7 
Rate rise 
compensation 

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3 

NHB 2.9 2.8 2.6 2.3 1.6 0.9 0.5 

Lower Tier Grant           0.4 0.2 

Services Grant             0.2 
Sub-total non-
CTax funding 

6.5 6 5.6 5 4.4 4.1 3.9 

CTax £m 4.3 4.6 4.8 5.1 5.3 5.4 5.6 

Total 10.8 10.6 10.4 10.1 9.7 9.5 9.5 

Non-CTax 60% 57% 54% 50% 45% 43% 41% 

CTax 40% 43% 46% 50% 55% 57% 59% 
Core Funding 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 

Business Rates 
Growth  

0.5 0.51 0.92 1.19 1.78 1.64 2.6 

 

CSP Longer term view and key MTFS elements 
 

3.6 Looking forward over the MTFS period of 2022/23 -2025/26 the key financial 

pressures come from the loss of NHB and the fair funding review that brings 

with it a business rates reset. It is now expected that as part of the fair funding 

review, that the baseline funding from business rates will be recalibrated, 

taking affect from 2024/25 (Originally planned for 2023/24). If this is a full 

reset, then much of the accumulated growth could be lost, via an amendment 

to the tariff.  

 

3.7 This MTFS covers the current year plus the next three years, 2022/23 -

2025/26 has three scenarios presented, an expected case for planning 

purposes, and a best case and worst-case profile to inform members of 

potential outlying possibilities. In all cases the major change to our position is 

going to be the from the loss of New Homes Bonus (NHB) and the fair funding 

review that brings with it a business rates reset. 

 

Expected MTFS comparisons 
 

 Business Rates 
 

3.8 The Expected MTFS uses a reset of the baseline business rates that would 

leave some income growth, this is assuming the reset Tariff will be based on 

the 2022/23 base year subject to inflation to 2023/24. Although Government 

Page 32



Appendix 1 
 

6 
 

had indicated that the reset may be in 2023/24, it is now unlikely the 

legislative timeframe is available to do that, so the reset has been forecast in 

the Expected MTFS for 2024/25 but may be delayed again to 2025/26.  

 

3.9 If the Business rates reset is based on a later year, then it may mean more 

rates are lost on a recurring basis after that date. Hence there is some risk to 

this assumption. The table below gives the expected growth following the 

baseline reset, compared to the best and worst case. The way to assess the 

impact of the reset is not the year-on-year movement, but the loss of annual 

income on a recurring basis compared to the current 2022/23 financial year. 

In the expected case it falls by £1.9m in 2024/25. This is a recurring loss of 

income which creates a gap in our funding on an ongoing basis. 

 

Retained Business rates 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Expected (Reset 2024/25) £4,972,050 £5,247,914 £3,010,803 £3,110,053 

Worst (Reset 2023/24) £4,963,463 £3,499,996 £3,607,271 £3,717,450 

Best (Reset 2025/26) £5,347,914 £5,347,914 £5,762,515 £3,167,029 

Fall /Increase in income 
compared to 2022/23 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Expected   £275,864 -£1,961,247 -£1,861,997 

Worst   -£1,472,054 -£1,364,779 -£1,254,600 

Best   £375,864 £790,465 -£1,805,021 

 

Council Tax 
 

3.9 No major changes were made by Government in relation to Council Tax in the 

financial settlement, with District Councils being able to increase Tax by 2% or 

£5. The MTFS for the expected and best scenarios assumes the same rate of 

increase in the council tax base, with all scenarios having a £5 increase in all 

years of the MTFS period. Note, the whole of the £5 increase, not just £4.70 is 

being allocated to the Borough for 2022/23, increasing the share to the 

Borough by £47,449.26 over the life of the MTFS.  

 

3.10 The table below gives the level of Council Tax expected. The worst case has 

a slightly lower rate of growth in the tax base. 

 

Table 4 
Council Tax 
(Expected and 
Best case) 

2022/23 
Current year 

2023/24 
MTFS Yr 1 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 2 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 3 

Borough £4,926,893 £5,119,767 £5,352,623 £5,589,260 

Special Expenses £755,570 £774,188 £793,080 £812,251 

Total £5,682,463 £5,893,955 £6,145,703 £6,401,511 
          

Page 33



Appendix 1 
 

7 
 

Council Tax 
(Worst Case) 

2022/23 
Current year 

2023/24 
MTFS Yr 1 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 2 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 3 

Borough £4,926,893 £5,112,149 £5,336,708 £5,564,351 

Special Expenses £755,570 £773,037 £790,725 £808,634 

Total £5,682,463 £5,885,186 £6,127,433 £6,372,985 
          

Council Tax  

2022/23 
Current year 

2023/24 
MTFS Yr 1 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 2 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 3 

Difference £0 -£8,769 -£18,270 -£28,526 
 

3.11 There is a risk to this assumption, as the Government may not retain the £5, 

or only apply the 2% increase in Council Tax after 2022/23, which would 

result in the loss of income becoming much larger. The table below gives the 

risk of not applying a £5 increase and applying 2% over the life of the MTFS. 

There would be a cumulative loss of £0.5m over the MTFS period. 

 

Table 5 
Council Tax (Loss 
of income) 

2022/23 
Current year 

2023/24 
MTFS Yr 1 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 2 

2024/25 
MTFS Yr 3 

Difference £0 -£82,768 -£164,726 -£245,786 

 

3.12 HBBC have consistently been committed to a high level of efficiency, which 

means we remain in the bottom 15 out of 190 district councils for the level of 

council tax charged in 2022/23, and the lowest out of the seven Leicestershire 

District Councils.  

 

 New Homes Bonus 
 

3.13 The Financial settlement confirmed that the New Homes Bonus scheme 

makes its final payment in 2022/23 with no further legacy payments being 

provided. The Government still plans to reform the New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

scheme having consulted in February to April 2021. Therefore, any inclusion 

of amounts for a replacement NHB are highly subjective and may be incorrect.  

 

3.14 For the Expected MTFS profile, a rate of £300,000 has been included in the 

years 2023/24 to 2025/26. This is based on the rounded average of a single 

year NHB allocations to HBBC. This is a high-risk assumption as there is no 

government information available. The Table below gives the historical 

income received by HBBC from NHB, and its significant decline since 

2016/17. 

 

Page 34



Appendix 1 
 

8 
 

 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
 

3.16 The UK Shared Prosperity Fund is to be shared out to every place in the UK 

recognising that even the most affluent parts of the country contain pockets of 

deprivation and need support. The Fund is worth £2.6 billion over the period 

to 2024-25. It is intended to help people access opportunity in places in need 

and for people in disadvantaged groups.  

 

3.17 The Fund will make available a mixture of both revenue and capital funding in 

the allocations given. This funding will be allocated by formula to invest in 

local priority projects to support local communities, businesses, and people. 

To access their allocation, each place will have to set out measurable 

outcomes they are looking to deliver, and what interventions they are 

choosing to prioritise in an investment plan submitted for Government 

approval.  

 

3.18 Our Allocation is £2.6m, which must be split between revenue and capital. We 

are allowed a 4% administration charge, which should give some support to 

the General fund. The table below gives the details, and the same information 

has been used for all scenarios. 

 

Funding (£) 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 Total 

UKSPF Allocation 315,535 631,071 1,653,405 2,600,011 

Allowance for our 
Admin costs 4% 

12,621 25,243 66,136 104,000 

 

 

 

Page 35



Appendix 1 
 

9 
 

Lower Tier Support grant and 2022/23 Services Grant 
 

3.19 Lower Tier Services Grant was introduced in the local government finance 

settlement 2021 to 2022 for local authorities with responsibility for lower tier 

services, with a second allocation made in 2022/23. The government is also 

clear that this funding was a one-off and that no local authority should take 

this funding floor as guaranteeing similar funding floors in future years, 

including in future finance reforms (LGC, December 2020).  

 

3.20 However, it has been repeated in 2022/23. The amount in 2021/22 was 

£429,409 and £236,716 in 2022/23. It is assumed in the Expected and Best 

Case MTFS forecast that this grant this will be repeated, but based on the 

methodology used, it indicates that it would be just under £40,000. In the 

Worst Case it is assumed it will not be repeated. 

 

3.21 Government introduced a 2022/23 Services Grant worth £822 million for 

2022/23 in total. For HBBC it was worth £179,153. Government made it clear 

that this grant is a one off for 2022/23 and this funding would be excluded 

from any proposed baseline for transitional. Therefore, it has been treated the 

same for MTFS scenarios. 

 

Damping (Transitional support to councils) 
 

3.22 There is no clear indication or information on any transitional arrangements, 

often referred to as Damping, in the financial settlement. However, the 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities have made general 

statements in consultation papers and other documents on transitional 

support. Our advisors have suggested a potential Damping around an allowed 

5% fall in an overall income year on year until actual income meets the lower 

level of funding provided without. However, they advise caution with this 

assumption as no Government information is available.  

 

3.23 If we were to use a “5% fall” calculation and assume this may be available for 

all scenarios, it would look like the table below. The inclusion in MTFS 

forecasts leaves a high risk due to the high level of estimation uncertainty in 

this assumption. However, it seems reasonable to assume central 

government would offer some support to cope with the reduction. 

 

Table 8 
Damping 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Expected £0 £1,254,783 £493,435 

Worst £1,400,920 £290,489 £0 

Best £0 £0 £1,497,163 

 

Page 36



Appendix 1 
 

10 
 

Collection Fund Gains and Losses 

 

3.24 Collection fund gains and losses are where income is lower than forecast for 

Business Rates and Council Tax. The table below gives the figures used for 

the forecast scenarios; 2022/23 comes from the NNDR 1 return. There 

remains a risk that the actuals will be higher or lower than any of the 

scenarios presented.  

 

Table 9 
Collection fund 
Surplus/(deficit) 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

2025/26 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Worst 40 -105 -105 -105 -275 

Best 40 -105 -55 -55 -175 

Expected 40 6 6 6 58 

 

 

Non-Core Spending MTFS elements (income and expenditure) 
 

Block C the Crescent. 
 

3.25 Block C at the Crescent Development has most of the units let, but there are 

two remaining units which are currently being marketed.  

 

3.26 For the MTFS review the expectations are that the Best and Expected will 

have the same rental profile, due to the history of letting at the Block C, with 

the worst case being a delay of 18 months in letting the remaining two units. 

The table below, indicates this is relatively marginal to the income 

expectations overall with the difference being £85,843 in total. 

 

Table 10 
Block C 
rental 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Total 
£ 

Worst 306,566 306,770 376,990 431,266 1,421,592 

Best 306,566 355,824 413,780 431,266 1,507,436 

Expected 306,566 355,824 413,780 431,266 1,507,436 

 

3.27 The Expected net position is on the table below.  

 

Table 11 
Block C rental  
(Expected net 
yield) 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Income 306,566 355,824 413,780 431,266 

MRP -135,333 -135,333 -135,333 -135,333 

Interest -120,176 -120,176 -120,176 -120,176 

Page 37



Appendix 1 
 

11 
 

Net 51,057 100,315 158,271 175,757 

Yield % (net)  1.3% 2.5% 3.9% 4.3% 

 

Other General fund Rentals  
 

3.28 For other rentals the same forecast has been used for all scenarios as the 

information is less susceptible to variations in forecast. The expected income 

is given in the table below 

 

Table 12 
Other General fund 
rental properties 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Industrial units 727,900  735,179  742,531  749,956  

Miscellaneous 
Properties 

110,000  70,000  70,700  71,407  

Atkins  215,400  217,554  219,730  221,927  

Atkins Room Hire 16,000  16,000  16,000  16,000  

Hub 172,560  174,286  176,028  177,789  

Total  1,241,860  1,213,019  1,224,989  1,237,079  

 

Car parking income 
 

3.29 The Council operates 16 pay and display car parks in Hinckley and one in 

Market Bosworth along with several other car parks which are free / permit 

holders only across the Borough. 

 

3.30 For 2021/22 it was reported to members that fee income had fallen by 

£156,000 due to the Covid Pandemic. However, it is expected that demand 

will increase to former levels and for the Expected and Best MTFS positions. 

This may turn out to be optimistic, but it is hoped that demand will return to 

normal in 2022/23. The Worst case assumes a slower return to normal. The 

table below gives the overall impact. 

 

Table 13 
Car parking income 
(Expected and Best) 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Pay and display including 
Season ticket income 

628,250  628,250  628,250  628,250  

          
Car parking income (Worst 
case) 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Pay and display including 
Season ticket income 

564,207  596,229  628,250  628,250  

          

Difference -64,043  -32,021  0  0  

 

Page 38



Appendix 1 
 

12 
 

3.31 To improve performance consideration would need to be given to increasing 

the car parking fees. The last time car parking fee was increased by members 

was in 2018/19.  

 

Garden Waste 
 

3.32 The general fund budget report in February 2022 noted the overall cost of the 

service as in the table below, which shows the overall service is forecast to 

cost more than it brings in in terms of garden waste fees at a charge of less 

than £45. The service now has just under 33,200 subscribers, and the table 

assumes not change in numbers, with an expectation for forecasting of a 2% 

increase on costs.  

 

3.33 The Expected, Worst, and Best case scenarios for the MTFS period are 

provided below, based on different fee levels. It is assumed for forecasting 

purposes that costs will increase by 2% a year, to cover staff costs. With 

inflation as of March 2022, as measured by RPI being 8.2% (CPI was 6.2% in 

February 2022), that may be a very optimistic assumption in the short term. 

 

Table 15 
Garden Waste –  
Fee per subscriber 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Expected 35 40 40 40 

Worst 35 35 35 35 

Best 35 40 50 50 
     

Garden Waste 
Income 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Expected 1,162,000  1,328,000  1,328,000  1,328,000  

Worst 1,162,000  1,162,000  1,162,000  1,162,000  

Best 1,162,000  1,328,000  1,660,000  1,660,000  

Cost     

Expected 1,491,342  1,521,169  1,551,592  1,582,624  

Worst 1,491,342  1,521,169  1,551,592  1,582,624  

Best 1,491,342  1,521,169  1,551,592  1,582,624  

Net     

Expected -329,342  -193,169  -223,592  -254,624  

Worst -329,342  -359,169  -389,592  -420,624  

Best -329,342  -193,169  108,408  77,376  
     

Garden Waste  
Benefit to GF of Fee 
increase 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Expected 166,000  332,000  332,000  332,000  

Worst 166,000  166,000  166,000  166,000  

Page 39



Appendix 1 
 

13 
 

Best 166,000  332,000  664,000  664,000  

 

3.34 As can be seen from the tables above the service overall makes a loss for 

fees under £50, it breaks even at around £45, based on 33,200 subscribers.  

 

The Crematorium 
 

3.35 The Crematorium currently has a budget of £6.9m but is subject to continuing 

delays on the site due to problematic water conditions, which may increase 

the costs further. The Contractor is completing site inspections and we are in 

continual dialogue with the contractor as to how these issues can be resolved. 

It is currently expected to become operational during the 2022/23 year. Two 

assumptions used may change due to external factors that relate to costs and 

date of opening: 

 

 Firstly, as assumption of mid-year has been used for forecasting 

purposes, for when the site will be fully operational, but this depends on 

the completion of inspections and build time.  

 Secondly, interest rates of 2.7% have been used, but unfortunately, we 

are in a time of increasing interest rates so this may be higher by the time 

we need to take on new debt. As of 16 June 2022, interest rates are 

running at 3.7% on a 30-year loan. 

 

3.36 The scenarios as noted in the table below are based on the crematorium 

being run by a wholly owned company and the Council’s cemetery services 

being included in the transfer of services to the wholly owned company.  

 

 Expected – initial demand 900, delivered on budget of £7.9m 

 Best – initial demand 1000, delivered on budget of £7.9m 

 Worst – initial demand 800, VAT becomes liable of £1.6m on Build cost. 

 

Crematorium 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Net return  £ £ £ £ £ 

Expected (Gain) 0 61,927 141,835 160,623 180,256 

Worst (Loss/Gain) 0 -10,166 -5,233 10,561 27,083 

Best (Gain) 0 98,233 217,328 239,110 261,855 

Difference to expected  

Worst 0 -72,094 -147,068 -150,062 -153,173 

Best 0 36,306 75,493 78,487 81,599 

 

3.37 If the cemetery services are not transferred to the company the benefit to the 

council is reduced and therefore the overall return to the general fund is 

reduced. This is because of corporation tax implications on the company’s 

performance. 

Page 40



Appendix 1 
 

14 
 

 

Crematorium 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 225/26 2026/27 

Net return  £ £ £ £ £ 

Expected (Gain) 0 40,493 98,110 116,024 134,765 

Worst (Loss) 0 -31,600 -48,958 -34,038 -18,409 

Best (Gain) 0 76,800 173,603 194,511 216,363 

 Note: the worst-case scenario makes a return from 2028/29 

 

The Leisure Centre 

 

3.38 The council receives an annual management fee for the provision of the 
Leisure Centre contract. This income has already been allowed for within the 
MTFS and is the same in all scenarios as it is fixed by contract. The annual 
fee income for the next five years is summarised in the table below.  

  
 

 
 
 
3.39 The 2022/23 fee is slightly lower than originally contracted for due to Covid, 

but then returns to the agreed management fee in 2023/24 The difference in 
2022/23 is relatively low at £35,856. 

 

The Enterprise Zone MIRA investment 

 

3.40 The Council working with the LLEP has taken the initiative to invest up to 

£8.1m across a range of projects at the MIRA Enterprise Zone including 

activities that fit with the Council’s commitment to acting on climate change 

and reducing carbon emissions. The investment covers: 

 the provision of a low carbon innovation hub.  

 electric vehicle and hydrogen research and Development facilities, 

 additional infrastructure, with new road and bridge construction to 

open new research and development plots on the site. 

 

3.41 The report to Council in June set out the significant benefits of the investment 

in creating high skilled jobs and apprenticeship opportunities for local 

residents; the delivery of a state-of-the-art low carbon innovative hub for the 

automotive sector; and new infrastructure to support new development that 

would generate business rates to support loan repayments and investment in 

the site. 

 

3.42 In early April 2022 the agreement to proceed was signed. The first £4.2m has 

already been provided to the LLEP who are managing the day-to-day release 

of funds to MIRA as they incur costs. The next instalment from HBBC to the 

LLEP on this agreement is on the 14 April 2023 and is currently expected to 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£885,000 £1,041,490 £1,064,122 £1,031,827 £1,048,608 

Page 41



Appendix 1 
 

15 
 

be £3.95m. This investment generates a £3.9m return in additional business 

rates we can retain over the next 17 years. The Table below gives the net 

return over the MTFS period. 

 

EZ net position 2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Additional Rates  443,297 860,528 860,528 860,528 

MRP and Interest 99,972 366,474 624,818 619,456 

Net gain 343,325 494,053 235,710 241,072 

 

3.43 The same position has been used for all MTFS scenarios. There is a risk that 

if MIRA do not deliver the growth in rates, they have projected the scheme 

would fail. However, based on legal advice we have an agreement with MIRA 

that includes a bank guarantee that protects the council from not being able to 

service its debt obligations and would ensure any amounts invested were 

returned to the Council. At this stage it is not felt that this will be needed. 

 

 

The Subsidiary Company 

 

3.44 The Council has a dormant company that is currently being considered for 

investment opportunities. There are no current schemes, but it is hoped to 

achieve a return of 5%-7%. The Best Scenario MTFS has the following 

included as a rate of return at 7%. For Expected and Worst, no return has 

been included as there are currently no known projects and more detail would 

be needed to include figures for budgeting purposes. 

 
 

2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 

Investment £0 £1,000,000 £3,000,000 £5,000,000 

Return at 7% £0.00 £70,000.00 £210,000.00 £350,000.00 

 

Share of business rates pool surplus 

 

3.45 There are on-going discussions in relation to the level of surplus held within 

the business rates pooling arrangements in place across the Leicestershire 

area. There is a potential for £500,000 per year for three years to be released 

for inclusion in revenue, but this is not at a stage to be confirmed. Therefore, 

this has been included in the Best case scenario only. 

 

Payroll 

 

3.46 Staff costs are one of the single highest costs items for the Council as staff 

are key to delivering high quality services. For 2021/22 a 1.75% pay increase 

was agreed after an extended national negotiation. This has been used as 

Page 42



Appendix 1 
 

16 
 

guidance for 2022/23, and with other contractual increments, the increase is 

2.25% for 2022/23. Note there has been a public announcement by unions 

that they are asking for an 11.1% pay raise for 2022/23 due to cost-of-living 

pressures. The outcome of negotiations is unknown, but 11.1% would add 

about £1m to pay costs  

 

3.47 The table below is based on Expected and Best at 2,25%% for 2022/23, 

followed by 2% increases for expected and 1% for best, the worst has 4% for 

2023/24 and then 2% for each year after. An allowance for spinal point 

increases has also been allowed for of 0.5% in all cases. Note that a 5% 

vacancy factor each year delivering and efficiency saving of £0.6m for 

2022/23 has been included. 

 

Pay costs 2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Expected 11,426,974 11,682,398 11,967,453 12,259,463 

Worst 11,684,080 11,976,182 12,275,587 12,582,477 

Best 11,426,974 11,682,398 11,857,634 12,035,498 

Difference to 
Expected 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Worst 257,106 293,784 308,134 323,014 

Best 0 0 -109,819 -223,965 

 

Inflation on contracts and on income from fees 
 

3.48 The assumptions used for general increases in fees and charges is based on 

inflation of 4% for Expected, 2% Best and 6% worst, followed by 2% per year 

thereafter as an average for the life of the MTFS. The table below gives the 

net impact. Note, due to the net impact of this assumption on both costs and 

fees, there is marginal difference between the forecasts. this assumes 

members would feel comfortable increasing fees at the same rate contractual 

costs are increasing, which is often linked to the CPI or RPI rate. 

 

Expected 2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

2025/26 
£ 

Contract costs 131,488 136,747 139,482 142,272 

Fees and charges 
income 

-78,600 -79,380 -80,180 -78,600 

Total 52,888 57,367 59,302 63,672 

     
Worst 2022/23 

£ 
2023/24 

£ 
2024/25 

£ 
2025/26 

£ 

Contract costs 131,488 139,377 142,165 145,008 

Fees and charges 
income 

-78,600 -79,380 -80,180 -78,600 

Page 43



Appendix 1 
 

17 
 

Total 52,888 59,997 61,985 66,408 

          
Best 2022/23 

£ 
2023/24 

£ 
2024/25 

£ 
2025/26 

£ 

Contract costs 131,488 134,118 135,459 136,813 

Fees and charges 
income 

-78,600 -79,380 -80,180 -78,600 

Total 52,888 54,738 55,279 58,213 

 

Government initiatives  
 

3.49 The Environment Act 2021 may lead to free garden waste collection and 

separate weekly food waste collection in 2023/24, with changes to segregated 

dry recycling collections in 2025/26. There was consultation during 2021, and 

DEFRA have expressed a preference for free garden waste collection. 

Indication from Government have been that this will be cost neutral on 

councils, but the details of how any income will be provided to offset any lost 

fees has not been disclosed.  

 

3.50 For the Best and Expected MTFS scenarios, no additional costs have been 

included, but for the Worst case, an Extra £750,000 of expenditure has been 

included based on costs not being fully covered, which would need to be 

further developed should it look like full compensation for losses was not 

forthcoming form Government.  

 

3.51 Full Potential costs are summarised in the table below and are currently 

estimated at an additional £2.185m falling on the general fund, with a 

requirement of £3.207m of capital spend. In year one there would also be a 

one-off revenue cost for transition of up to £0.3m. The Council would have 

extreme difficulty in maintaining its current level of services and level of staff 

employed with this level of general fund pressure. 

 
  

Revenue Cost 

£000 

Capital Cost 

£000 

Service   

Weekly Separate collection of food waste 
  

New weekly food waste collection 636 
 

One off caddy cost  1160 

One off capital cost bin purchase 
 

1,480 

Page 44



Appendix 1 
 

18 
 

Other implantation costs (storage replacement bins, 

communications admin etc.) 

100 
 

Collecting garden waste (Free of Charge) 
  

Estimated Loss of income per annum 975 
 

Increase in demand due to free service 191 
 

 Additional garden bin delivery for current non-

subscribers 

 
567 

Separating dry recycling materials 
  

Estimate 26% increase on base dry recycling costs  283 
 

Total 2,185 3,207 

 
3.52 The Consultation did refer to additional New Burdens Support to fund the 

pressures, but this appeared to cover any implementation costs and capital 
costs. It is still unclear if ongoing lost income support will be provided. 

 

Climate change costs 

 

3.53 The full impact of all climate change requirements has not been included in 

the MTFS and will be covered in separate reports as decisions are needed. 

However, the Council will need to replace its waste fleet, and consider electric 

and will introduce Electric vehicle charging points. The potential costs of this 

maybe significant and we have a relatively small reserve for waste 

management of £237,000 that can be used to support such changes. Based 

on a report for the Council by the Energy Saving Trust Report of May 2021 

the potential costs difference is below, with finance costs. 

 
 

Electric Diesel Difference 

19 Vehicles £6,911,250 £4,641,429 -£2,269,821     

Vehicle cost £415,000 £180,000 -£235,000 

Residual Value -£13,250 -£9,000 £4,250 

QZEV grant funding -£8,000 
 

£8,000 

Residual Value (Battery) -£30,000   £30,000  
£363,750 £171,000 -£192,750 

Annual cost for 10 years (diesels 
are 7+3) 

£363,750 £244,286 -£119,464 

Service, Maintenance & Repair 
Cost 

£159,600 £228,000 £68,400 

AdBlue (diesel exhaust fluid) Cost 
 

£3,061 £3,061 

VE Duty + Road User Levy 
 

£11,685 £11,685 

Energy/Fuel £95,135 £299,746 £204,611 

Page 45



Appendix 1 
 

19 
 

MRP £691,125 £464,143 -£226,982 

Interest on debt £179,693 £120,677 -£59,016 

Annual cost £1,489,303 £1,371,598 £117,705 

 

3.54 Note this is based on data as at May 2021, and may have changed, it is also 

based on a 19 vehicle 26 tonne fleet over a ten year period but this is 

sensitive to a range of factors such as the quoted price of the vehicles, the 

future cost of Euro VII diesel RCVs, future price of diesel fuel, the introduction 

of a carbon tax, changes to road duty, introduction of road pricing, significant 

reductions in the off-peak cost of electricity including occasional negative 

pricing and the use of local private-wire renewable generation. Therefore, is 

not reliable for MTFS planning purposes until further work is completed 

 

3.55 The above does not include the costs of depot changes needed or the costs 

for the installation of EV charging sites, or the more recent pressures on 

diesel prices 

 
Other items 
 

3.56 The following items have been included in all MTFS scenarios: 

 

Budget movements 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025-26 

Local Plan  £214,200 -£264,200 
 

  

Collection Fund year 2 £1,724,767 -£1,724,767 
 

  

 LCC Pension Lump Sum  £106,160 £107,593 £105,037 £107,138 

Capital Financing (MRP 
increase) 

£9,291 £17,617 £71,125 £10,120 

Interest  
 

-£25,000 -£25,000 -£25,000 

 

3.57 The figures above are the net changes in the budget. The Collection fund 

change is in relation to collection fund smoothing due to accounting 

requirements on cash funding from government to fund retail reliefs given to 

local businesses. There is a corresponding movement in reserves which 

means there is no impact on the general fund.  

 

Changes to reserves 
 

3.58 The appendix gives the overall balances by year of the MTFS for each 

Reserve, for detail see appendix 2. The key reserves used in terms of 

financial support to the general fund are the Business Rates Equalisation 

Reserve and the Financial support reserve. The reduction shows that in the 

Expected case of £2m of these earmarked reserves that they are used to 

Page 46



Appendix 1 
 

20 
 

support the general fund position, which indicates we are spending more than 

we have coming in.  

 

Reserve use 
 
Expected 

Closing 
Balance 
31 March 
2022 

Closing 
Balance 
31 March 
2023 

Closing 
Balance 
31 March 
2024 

Closing 
Balance 
31 March 
2025 

Closing 
Balance 
31 March 
2026 

Business Rates 
Equalisation  2,361,293 2,092,293 2,092,293 1,649,000 1,250,000 

Financial support  1,080,000 755,000 728,000 133,000 133,000 

Total 3,441,293 2,847,293 2,820,293 1,782,000 1,383,000 

Best           
Business Rates 
Equalisation  2,361,293 2,355,293 2,355,293 2,337,293 2,337,293 

Financial support  1,080,000 1,016,000 1,681,000 3,048,000 2,752,000 

Total 3,441,293 3,371,293 4,036,293 5,385,293 5,089,293 

Worst           
Business Rates 
Equalisation  2,361,293 2,324,293 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 

Financial support  1,080,000 0 0 0 0 

Total 3,441,293 2,324,293 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 
 

3.59 The overall earmarked balances are below and show an expected reduction 

of almost 50% by 31 March 2026 

 

Earmarked 
Reserves total 
balances 

2022 
£ 

2023 
£ 

2024 
£ 

2025 
£ 

2026 
£ 

Expected 9,300,842 6,362,948 6,080,907 5,017,614 4,869,614 

Best 9,300,842 6,886,948 7,301,907 8,680,907 8,714,907 

Worst 9,300,842 6,319,948 4,545,614 4,575,614 4,605,614 

Expected 100% 68% 65% 54% 52% 

Best 100% 74% 79% 93% 94% 

Worst 100% 68% 49% 49% 50% 

 
Key Risk summary 
 

3.60 An MTFS is based on a set of key assumptions, these cover costs and 

income projections and what they are based on. The key ones have been 

noted in the report for the Expected MTFS position, the main ones are 

reviewed below: 

 

 That the Government will push ahead with a business rates reset, which 

has not been done for 10 years, 

 The Fair Funding review and business rates reset will impact on the 

2024/25 year leading to the need to make savings in 2025/26 of £2m 

which are yet to be scoped and finalised 

Page 47



Appendix 1 
 

21 
 

 That “Damping” funding will be provided by government in some form, this 

is a high-risk assumption as no exact details have been provided. 

 NHB will not be replaced with a scheme as generous as that provided 

previously 

 There will be no recurring budget supplementary increments agreed over 

the MTFS period that are not matched by savings. If this is not possible it 

will increase the savings required.  

 The Crematorium will delivery at 900 cremations a year in from its first day 

of operation, and HMRC will not consider build costs to be subject to VAT 

of approximately £1.5m. 

 That pay increases at a rate much lower than CPI for 2022/23, if it does 

not significant costs will be added to the MTFS forecast. 

 The most uncertain risk is the lack of any clear indication of a longer-term 

financial settlement, which may change the forecasts given significantly. 

 

Other Factors 
 

4.1. In addition to those risks relating to financing detailed above, this MTFS 

highlights several other key factors that will impact on the financial position of 

this Council over the MTFS period. These include, but are not limited to: 

 

Capital Programme –  

 

4.2. The council’s capital investment plans are outlined annually in the Capital 

Programme (the “Programme”) which is approved at the same time as the 

revenue budget.  

 

4.3. Although capital expenditure is clearly separated from revenue spend within 

the council’s budget, the use of capital resources has an impact on revenue in 

the following ways: -  

 

 The use of capital resources will result in a corresponding reduction in 

investment income.  

 

 Any borrowing will incur interest payments and minimum revenue 

provision which is charged as a “cost” to the Council’s revenue budget 

 

 The creation of new assets will require running costs that will have to be 

funded from revenue sources.  

 

Local external pressures 

 

Page 48



Appendix 1 
 

22 
 

4.4. The County Council are looking for savings and renegotiating many 

agreements. LCC are discussing their rental agreement in the Hinckley Hub. 

The position is not far enough in those discussions to confirm the impact, but 

any loss of rental income will lead to further savings being needed in 2023/24 

 

4.5. LCC have withdrawn funding from all Leicestershire billing authorities (i.e., the 

seven district councils) to support the administration of the Localisation of 

Council Tax Support schemes (LCTS) and to the Discretionary Discount 

Funds administered by the billing authorities. The district council will try to 

continue this funding, but the amount may vary in future years. Central 

Government have given additional allocations to Councils in Leicestershire for 

2021/22 of £4.9m. HBBC share being £80,760.  

 

Income and Expenditure Levels  

 

4.6. A significant proportion of council expenditure is financed from income from 

fees and charges. A number of these income streams are extremely volatile 

and depend on external factors such as take up, demand and local economic 

conditions. The most significant and sensitive changes in income levels 

include: 

 

 Planning fees - This income stream is highly dependent on both the housing 

and commercial market and therefore large “windfalls” often occur in times of 

prosperity, but during an economic downturn this income may decline 

significantly. In addition, the council can incur significant costs for appeals 

against decisions taken by Planning Committee.  

 

4.7. In addition to this, the following general assumptions used on expenditure 

used for forecasts: may proof to be over optimistic in a period of rising inflation 

and cost of living pressures 

 

 1% base rate for 2022/23 

 Retail Price Index of 4% for 2022/23 and 2% for the life of the MTFS, 

which due to the current cost of living pressures and higher than normal 

inflation may proof to be incorrect.

Page 49



Appendix 1 
 

23 
 

 

Appendix 2- Detailed MTFS movements 
 

FINANCIAL FORECAST 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Expected MTFS Forecast  Current year Forecast  Forecast   
£ £ £ £ 

Net Service Expenditure 15,805,260 13,434,982 11,185,511 11,588,865 

Budget movements     

Net growths/Savings 239,060  -52,450  
  

Budget changes (net) -628,365  -472,253  403,354  425,624  
Variances forecast 

    

Supplementary/Reversals of one off supplementaries 120,780  
   

Collection Fund Adjustment -3,826,520  
   

Collection Fund Adjustment (2) 1,724,767  -1,724,767  
  

Savings needed 0  0  0  -1,821,000  
NET Borough Budget Requirement 13,434,982 11,185,511 11,588,865 10,193,489 

Pension adjustments -488,620  -488,620  -488,620  -488,620  
Contribution to Reserves 175,990  25,000  25,000  251,000  
Transfer to DCF 0  0  0  0  
Contribution from Reserves -2,646,475  -217,041  -1,088,293  -399,000  
Transfer from / to unapplied grants -55,000  

   

Additional contributions to/from reserves 
    

Contribution to/(from) Balances 422,810  201,979  -118,742  -64,121  

NET BUDGET/FORECAST EXPENDITURE 10,843,687 10,706,829 9,918,210 9,492,748 

P
age 50



Appendix 1 
 

24 
 

Performance against target 12.95% 15.00% 15.00% 15.00% 

     

Sources of Funding 
    

Damping income 5% loss adjusted  0 0 1,254,783 493,435 

National Non-Domestic Rates 2,687,603 2,741,355 2,796,182 2,852,106 

National Non-Domestic Rates retained above baseline 2,275,860 2,606,559 264,621 307,947 

Lower Tier Support Grant 236,716 39,149 0 0 

2022/23 Services Grant 179,153 0 
  

Collection fund Deficit NNDR 8,587 -100,000 -50,000 -50,000 

Baseline transitional relief/Dampening 0 0 
  

New Homes Bonus  528,875 300,000 300,000 300,000 

Special Expenses Freeze on CTax 0 0 0 0 

Collection Fund Surplus - CTax 31,250 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 

Council Tax Income 4,895,643 5,124,767 5,357,623 5,594,260 

  10,843,687 10,706,829 9,918,210 9,492,748 

  
    

Estimated Tax base 39,011 39,362 39,717 40,075 

Estimated Band D Council Tax £125.50 £130.20 £134.90 £139.60 

Year on Year Increase in Council Tax     

(i) Amount £5.00 £4.70 £4.70 £4.70 

P
age 51



Appendix 1 
 

25 
 

(ii) Percentage 3.57% 3.45% 3.34% 3.23% 

     

SPECIAL EXPENSES     

NET BUDGET/FORECAST EXPENDITURE-Special 
Expenses 

£755,570 £774,188 £793,080 £812,251 

Estimated Taxbase 39,011 39,362 39,717 40,075 

Special Expenses Council Tax (As part of average 
Band D calculation) 

£19.37 £19.67 £19.97 £20.27 

Year on Year Increase in Council Tax £0.00 £0.30 £0.30 £0.30      

Total Council Wide Net Budget Requirement 11,599,257 11,481,017 10,711,290 10,304,998 

Taxbase 39,011 39,362 39,717 40,075 

Council Wide Council Tax £144.86 £149.86 £154.86 £159.86 

Percentage Increase 3.57% 3.45% 3.34% 3.23% 

Year on Year Increase in Council Tax £5.00 £5.00 £5.00 £5.00 

 

 

 

          

P
age 52



Appendix 1 
 

26 
 

Appendix 3- Reserves 

 
 

 

 

E
x
p

e
c
t
e
d Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2022

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2023

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2024

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2025

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2026 B
e
s
t

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2022

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2023

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2024

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2025

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2026 W
o

r
s
t

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2022

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2023

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2024

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2025

Closing 

Balance 

31 March 

2026

Business Rates Equalisation Reserve        2,361,293 2,092,293 2,092,293 1,649,000 1,250,000 2,361,293 2,355,293 2,355,293 2,337,293 2,337,293 2,361,293 2,324,293 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

Collection Fund reserve 1,890,809 166,041 0 0 0 1,890,809 166,041 0 0 0 1,890,809 166,041 0 0 0

Financial support reserve 1,080,000 755,000 728,000 133,000 133,000 1,080,000 1,016,000 1,681,000 3,048,000 2,752,000 1,080,000 0 0 0 0

Developing Communities Fund 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328 844,328

Local Plan Procedure                    623,820 350,112 326,112 326,112 326,112 623,820 350,112 326,112 326,112 326,112 623,820 350,112 326,112 326,112 326,112

Building Maintenance costs 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120 588,120

Asset Management Reserve  400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000

Hinckley Community Development Fund 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

Enterprise Zone - Covid 295,911 0 0 0 0 295,911 0 0 0 0 295,911 0 0 0 0

Special Expenses Reserve                243,749 145,049 85,049 85,049 85,049 243,749 145,049 85,049 85,049 85,049 243,749 145,049 85,049 85,049 85,049

Enforcement and Planning Appeals 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000

Waste Management Reserve                130,260 252,000 237,000 237,000 463,000 130,260 252,000 237,000 237,000 537,000 130,260 252,000 237,000 237,000 237,000

Environmental  Action Reserve 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000

ICT Reserve                             59,750 0 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 59,750 0 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 59,750 0 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000

Maint Fund - Green Towers               45,000 50,000 50,000 0 0 45,000 50,000 55,000 60,000 65,000 45,000 50,000 55,000 60,000 65,000

S31 Ctax Hardship Support 42,797 0 0 0 0 42,797 0 0 0 0 42,797 0 0 0 0

Grounds Maintenance                     30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000

Election Reserve                        25,005 50,005 75,005 100,005 125,005 25,005 50,005 75,005 100,005 125,005 25,005 50,005 75,005 100,005 125,005

9,300,842 6,362,948 6,080,907 5,017,614 4,869,614 9,300,842 6,886,948 7,301,907 8,680,907 8,714,907 9,300,842 6,319,948 4,545,614 4,575,614 4,605,614

P
age 53



Appendix 1 
 

27 
 

Appendix 4 - Strategic Financial Objectives 
 

 

 The Council should allocate resources to services in line with the Corporate Aims and Ambitions 

 Ensure regular monitoring of actual spend against budget to assess outcomes and inform the Performance Management 

Framework 

 The Council must search for new sources of funding to support its activities and maximise opportunities from emerging 

economic initiatives such as City Deals and Local Growth Funds 

 To review the scale of fees and charges at least annually 

 To optimise the financial return on assets and ensure capital receipts are obtained where appropriate opportunities arise 

 Capital expenditure is properly appraised 

 When funding the Capital Programme, all funding options are considered 

 To review levels and purpose of Reserves and Balances 

 To maintain sustainable Council Tax increases 

 To increase efficiency savings and generate funding through shared services and collaborative working 

 

  

 

P
age 54



 
 
Forward timetable of consultation and decision making 
 
Council   12 July 2022 
 
Wards affected:  All wards 
 
 

Community Governance Review – draft recommendations 
 

 
Report of the Chief Executive 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 To present the draft recommendations of the Community Governance Review 

Working Group. 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 The recommendations contained in paragraphs 3.6.1 to 3.6.7 be published for 
consultation for a period of eight weeks from 13 July to 7 September 2022. 

 
3. Background to the report 
 
3.1 In accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 

Act 2007, each local authority is required to periodically undertake a 
community governance review of its local authority area. This is an exercise 
where the parish electoral arrangements across the whole area are reviewed 
to ensure that they are appropriate and relevant. 

 
3.2 The council is undertaking a review at this time because a period of ten years 

has elapsed since the last review in 2012. This is in line with government 
guidance that it is good practice to conduct a review every 10-15 years. 

 
3.3 Furthermore, the Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

(LGBCE) has requested an electoral review of the ward boundaries which is 
provisionally scheduled to commence in 2026. They advise that a community 
governance review is undertaken prior to an electoral review. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 11



3.4 Council approved the terms of reference for the review at its meeting on 22 
February 2022. There was then a period of public consultation from 23 
February to 18 May 2022. 

 
3.5 Consultation was undertaken in a variety of ways. These are outlined in 

paragraphs 2.1 to 2.5 of appendix A. 
 
3.6 The responses have been collated (and are attached at appendix B) and 

analysed by the Community Governance Review Working Group (analysis 
attached at appendix A). The working group makes the following 
recommendations for change (only those with recommendations for change 
are noted here – analysis of all parishes is included in appendix A in 
paragraphs 4.1 to 4.25 including more detail on the recommendations below): 

 
3.6.1 Bagworth & Thornton 
 

Whilst there were some responses that suggested the two settlements should 
be split into two separate parishes, each parish would be small in terms of 
number of seats and, given the fact that all ten vacancies on the parish 
council since 2015 have been uncontested, there is little evidence that each 
village could sustain its own parish council. 
 
Representation of electors per councillor could, however, be more equal. To 
make the representation of electors per councillor more equal, Bagworth ward 
should increase from four to five seats and Thornton ward should decrease 
from 4 to 3 seats, thus retaining the same number of councillors overall. 
 

Recommendation 
 
The parish council remains as a single body. The number of overall number of 
seats remains the same with Bagworth ward increasing from four to five seats 
and Thornton ward decreasing from four to three seats. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Bagworth 4 327  

Thornton 4 234  

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Bagworth 5 278 

Thornton 3 283 

 
  

Page 56



Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change in terms 
of the number of councillors representing each parish ward would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.6.2 Groby 
 

Further to the suggestion from respondents that Field Head should become 
part of Markfield Parish, this would not only align better with borough ward 
boundaries but would improve governance, community cohesion, and would 
better reflect identities of residents in the area. 
 

Recommendation 
 
The boundary be redrawn between Groby and Markfield parishes to result in 
Field Head becoming part of Markfield Parish. The number of councillors for 
Groby Parish Council be set at 13 with no warding. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Groby 13 418 

Field Head 3 154 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Groby 13 418 

 

Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change by 
taking Field Head ward out of Groby parish and reducing the number of 
overall seats by three to 13 with no warding would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.6.3 Markfield 
 

Further to suggestions from respondents that Field Head be moved within the 
parish boundary of Markfield, a change to the boundary would improve 
governance and community cohesion and would better reflect identities of 
residents within the area. 

Page 57



 
An increase of one seat (according to NALC’s guidelines) is supported. 
Moving the parish boundary to incorporate Field Head within Markfield Parish 
does not affect this recommendation, however Field Head has historically 
been represented by three seats (whilst part of Groby parish) which would 
lead to inequity in the elector-to-councillor ratio if part of Markfield Parish 
Council. Therefore, on the basis of Field Head becoming part of Markfield 
parish, the representation for Field Head ward should be reduced to one 
councillor. 
 

Recommendation 
 
The boundary be redrawn to incorporate Field Head ward within Markfield 
parish. The number of councillors for Markfield Parish Council be set at 12 
with 11 for Markfield ward and one for Field Head ward. 
 
Current representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Markfield 10 401 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Markfield 11 365 

Field Head 1 463 

 

Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change by 
incorporating Field Head ward into Markfield parish and increasing the overall 
number of parish councillors to 12 with 11 for Markfield ward and one for Field 
Head ward would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.6.4 Peckleton 
 

Further to the suggestion of respondents that three smaller parishes for the 
three villages be created, whilst each village has an electorate above the 
minimum advised by NALC guidance, each would be small and, as parish 
wards, none have received sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral 
contest in the last ten years, which demonstrates potential difficulties in each 
sustaining its own quorate parish council. 
 

Page 58



Stapleton is now the largest of the three villages and Peckleton the smallest 
so the name is not reflective of the area. The name should be amended to 
“Kirkby Mallory, Peckleton & Stapleton Parish”. 
 

Recommendation 
 
The name of the parish be amended to “Kirkby Mallory, Peckleton & Stapleton 
Parish” with the name of the parish council also amended to the same. 
 

Reason 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change by 
amending the name of the parish to “Kirkby Mallory, Peckleton & Stapleton 
Parish” would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.6.5 Stoke Golding 
 

The suggestion of respondents that there should be an increase in the 
number of councillors to reflect the 8.79% increase in the electorate over the 
last five years is acknowledged, supported by NALC’s guidance that the 
appropriate number of councillors for a parish council the size of Stoke 
Golding is eight. 
 

Recommendation 
 
The number of councillors on Stoke Golding Parish Council be increased from 
seven to eight councillors. 
 
Current representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Stoke Golding 7 266 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Stoke Golding 8 232 

 

Reasons 
 
Based on the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change to 
increase the number of councillors from seven to eight would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

Page 59



 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.6.6 Sutton Cheney 
 

In considering the views of the majority of respondents that the parish council 
no longer reflects the identities of all residents within the parish and 
Dadlington should have its own parish council, it is important to note that none 
of the wards within Sutton Cheney parish have received sufficient nominations 
to achieve an electoral contest in the last ten years and whilst Dadlington 
ward has produced the required number of nominations on three occasions in 
the last ten years, Shenton and Sutton Cheney wards has consistently 
produced fewer than required for the number of seats. Therefore, Shenton 
and Sutton Cheney as a parish would not be sustainable, and neither is there 
sufficient evidence that Dadlington would be sustainable as a separate parish 
council. 
 
With regard to the view that Dadlington is now the largest settlement within 
the parish and the name should therefore reflect this, the name of the parish 
should be changed to “Dadlington & Sutton Cheney Parish”. 
 
In order to create equity in terms of elector-to-councillor ratio, the number of 
seats for Dadlington ward should be increased from three to four, thereby 
increasing the overall total for the parish council to eight seats. 

 

Recommendation 
 
The name of Sutton Cheney Parish be amended to “Dadlington & Sutton 
Cheney Parish” with the name of the parish council also amended to the 
same. The number of councillors for Dadlington ward be increased from three 
to four. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Dadlington 3 79 

Shenton 2 43 

Sutton 2 56 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Dadlington 4 59 

Shenton 2 43 

Sutton 2 56 

 
  

Page 60



Reasons 
 
Based on the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change to 
amend the name of the parish and to increase the number of councillors 
representing Dadlington ward from three to four would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.6.7 Witherley 
 

In considering the suggestion in the majority of responses that two separate 
parish councils be created – one for Witherley and another for the remaining 
hamlets of Fenny Drayton, Atterton and Ratcliffe Culey, it is noted that 
Witherley ward has produced the required number of nominations to achieve 
an electoral contest twice in the last ten years, with the other wards not having 
achieved a contest at all during that time. It is therefore unlikely that neither 
Witherley nor the hamlets would be able to sustain a parish council. 
 
It is acknowledged that the name of the parish does not reflect the settlements 
within the parish. The name should be amended to “Witherley & Fenny 
Drayton Parish”. 
 
Whilst some respondents felt the hamlets were underrepresented on the 
parish council, in terms of elector-to-councillor ratio Witherley is actually 
underrepresented. The number of seats in Witherley ward should therefore be 
increased from four to five, thereby increasing the overall number of seats on 
the parish council to 12. 
 

Recommendation 
 
The name of Witherley Parish be amended to “Witherley & Fenny Drayton 
Parish” with the name of the parish council also amended to the same. The 
number of councillors for Witherley ward be increased from four to five. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Fenny Drayton 4 111 

Atterton 1 33 

Ratcliffe 2 75 

Witherley 4 144 

 
  

Page 61



Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Fenny Drayton 4 111 

Atterton 1 33 

Ratcliffe 2 75 

Witherley 5 115 

 

Reasons 
 
Based on the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change to 
amend the name of the parish and to increase the number of councillors 
representing Witherley ward from four to five would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
3.7 Public consultation on these draft recommendations will take place from 13 

July to 7 September 2022. Consultation will take place in accordance with the 
terms of reference for the review. 

 
4. Exemptions in accordance with the Access to Information procedure 

rules 
 
4.1 To be taken in public session. 

 
5. Financial implications (AW) 

 
5.1 None directly from this report. 

 
6. Legal implications (MR) 

 
6.1 Set out in the report. 

 
7. Corporate Plan implications 

 
7.1 The community governance review supports all objectives within the 

corporate plan by ensuring community governance is appropriate. 
 

8. Consultation 
 

8.1 Consultation with stakeholders listed in the terms of reference took place 
between 23 February and 18 May 2022. A further consultation period will take 
place on the recommendations agreed by Council. 
 

9. Risk implications 
 

9.1 It is the council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks 
which may prevent delivery of business objectives. 

Page 62



 
9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will 

remain which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion 
based on the information available, that the significant risks associated with 
this decision / project have been identified, assessed and that controls are in 
place to manage them effectively. 
 

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were 
identified from this assessment: 

 
Management of significant (Net Red) risks 

Risk description Mitigating actions Owner 

Electorate dissatisfaction with 
revised arrangements 

Maximise public 
awareness of the 
consultation and give due 
consideration to all 
responses received 

Chief 
Executive 

Non-compliance with government 
policy 

Council to be mindful of 
government guidelines 
and policy 

Monitoring 
Officer 

Potential for judicial review Council to ensure that 
decision making 
processes are following 
and decisions are 
supported by clear 
reasons 

Democratic 
Services 
Manager 

 
10. Knowing your community – equality and rural implications 

 
10.1 This review invites communities to input into the governance arrangements 

that affect them. 
 
10.2 The review may impact parish councils but this will be minimised where 

changes to current arrangements are imposed and parish councils will be 
supported through any changes. 

 
10.3 The consultation process will be accessible to all residents. 
 
10.4 An equality impact assessment will be undertaken when the final proposals 

are drafted. 
 
11. Climate implications 
 
11.1 Consultation has taken place online where possible to reduce paper usage. 
 
11.2 The recommendations within this report will not have direct climate 

implications. 
 

  

Page 63



12. Corporate implications 
 
12.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into 

account: 
 

- Community safety implications 
- Environmental implications 
- ICT implications 
- Asset management implications 
- Procurement implications 
- Human resources implications 
- Planning implications 
- Data protection implications 
- Voluntary sector 

 
 
 
Background papers: Report to Council, 22 February 2022 
 
Contact officer:  Becky Owen, tel 01455 255879 
 Mollie Brooks-Crowley, tel 01455 255835 
 
Executive member:  Councillor S Bray. 

Page 64



APPENDIX A 
Community Governance Review 

 
Analysis of stage 1 consultation 

 
Draft recommendations 

 
1. Background to the review 
 
1.1 The following draft recommendations are intended to ensure that community 

governance is: 
 

 Reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area 

 Effective and convenient. 
 

1.2 The review must take into account: 
 

 The impact of community governance arrangements on community 
cohesion 

 The size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish. 
 
1.3 The review must consider the following options for all areas: 
 

 Creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes 

 The naming of parishes and the style of new parishes 

 The electoral arrangements for parishes including 
o The ordinary year of election 
o Council size 
o The number of councillors to be elected to the council 
o The warding (if any) of the parish. 

 Grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping 
parishes. 

 
1.4 In undertaking the review, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council has taken 

into account key data for each parish and ward. The range of data used is as 
follows: 

 

 Electorate size and projected housing development data 

 Elections data from previous elections and by-elections including the 
number of seats contested in recent years 

 Responses to the initial consultation which took place between 23 
February and 18 May 2022 

 Council size given the legal minimum of five members and the National 
Association of Local Councils recommendation of a minimum number of 
seven 

 The ratio of councillors to electors. 
 
 

Page 65



2. Consultation 
 
2.1 The initial consultation took place between 23 February and 18 May 2022. 

The following methods of consultation were undertaken: 
 

 Open consultation on the council’s website 

 Advertisement in the Borough Bulletin with a link to the consultation on the 
website and contact details should respondents require a paper copy 

 Social media posts 

 Email to borough councillors inviting them to respond to the consultation 
online or by email / letter 

 Email to parish clerks inviting a formal response to the consultation online 
or by letter / email and inviting individual responses from parish councillors 
and offering a visit to talk about the review and receive views 

 Email to a database of voluntary & community sector bodies 

 Email to a database of around 700 businesses in the borough 

 Email to Leicestershire County Council inviting them as a body and county 
councillors to respond to the review 

 Email to Leicestershire & Rutland Association of Local Councils inviting 
them to respond 

 Email to neighbourhood development groups 

 Email to the MPs for Hinckley & Bosworth inviting a response 

 Display at the Rural Conference 

 Posters in public buildings. 
 
2.2 Following the above, we attended a meeting of the Dadlington Steering Group 

to talk about the review, a meeting with Sutton Cheney parish councillors and 
a meeting with representatives of parish councillors arranged by the 
Leicestershire & Rutland Association of Local Councils. 

 
2.3 128 consultation responses were received from borough and parish 

councillors, parish councils residents, and the MP for Bosworth. These 
responses are contained within appendix B. 

 
2.4 It should be noted that a number of the submissions received raised issues 

with other aspects of parish councils outside of the remit of this review, for 
example dissatisfaction with decision-making. 

 
2.5 The Community Governance Review Working Group met on 26 May 2022 to 

consider the responses to the consultation and to make recommendations to 
Council. Their considerations and recommendations are contained within this 
document. 

 
  

Page 66



3. Next steps 
 
3.1 The recommendations of the working group will be put to Council on 12 July 

2022. Those approved by Council will be open for public consultation from 13 
July to 7 September 2022. The working group will then meet to consider 
consultation responses and make final recommendations to Council. 
Following Council approval, Orders for those changes agreed will be made 
and will come into effect in May 2023. 

 
  

Page 67



4. Considerations and recommendations of the Community Governance 
Review Working Group 

 
4.1 Bagworth and Thornton 
 

Four responses were received, three of which suggested Bagworth and 
Thornton had become quite distinct settlements and it was no longer 
appropriate for them to be represented by a single parish council. 
 
Members acknowledged the differences in the two settlements, however it 
was noted that if they were split into two parishes each would be small in 
terms of number of seats and, given the fact that all ten vacancies on the 
parish council since 2015 had been uncontested, there was little evidence that 
each village could sustain its own parish council. 
 
Members did, however, feel that representation of electors per councillor 
could be more equal. 
 
To make the representation of electors per councillor more equal, Bagworth 
ward should increase from four to five seats and Thornton ward should 
decrease from four to three seats, thus retaining the same number of 
councillors overall. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The parish council remains as a body. The number of overall number of seats 
remains the same with Bagworth ward increasing from four to five seats and 
Thornton ward decreasing from four to three seats. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Bagworth 4 327 

Thornton 4 234 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Bagworth 5 278 

Thornton 3 283 

 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change in terms 
of the number of councillors representing each parish ward would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 

Page 68



4.2 Barlestone 
 

Two responses were received and were largely satisfied with the 
arrangements. Comments related to the actions of individuals rather than the 
electoral arrangements. 
 
One response suggested that Barlestone should merge with Osbaston, given 
the geographical links, however Osbaston Parish Council was satisfied with 
its arrangements and there was no evidence to suggest change was 
necessary. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.3 Barwell 
 

Four responses were received with a mixed interest in change, although 
reasons given mostly related to matters that were not within the remit of this 
review. 
 
Barwell Parish Council expressed an interest in more seats on the parish 
council which was also suggested by the borough councillor for Barwell. Only 
one resident suggested an increase in seats but the reasoning for this request 
was not sufficient to be considered. Whilst NALC guidance suggests an 
electorate of Barwell’s size could sustain 14 seats (an overall increase of 2), 
the number of councillors would not be able to be applied equally to the parish 
wards and would negatively affect the equity of the elector-to-councillor ratio. 
Barwell is evenly represented with an average elector to councillor ratio of 
611:1 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 

  

Page 69



Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.4 Burbage 
 

Nine responses were received and were mostly positive or neutral. Any 
dissatisfaction expressed related to matters not within the remit of this review. 
The Parish Council did not request any changes. 
 
Whilst NALC guidance suggests an electorate of Burbage’s size could sustain 
18 seats (an overall decrease of 2), there were no suggestions that the 
current number of councillors is inappropriate and therefore no evidence to 
support change. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.5 Cadeby 
 

One response received (from the parish council) which was satisfied with 
maintaining the status quo. 
 
Cadeby Parish Council has five councillors which is the legal minimum yet 
also has the lowest elector-to-councillor ration in the borough. Cadeby has not 
received sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral contest in the last ten 
years. It would therefore be inappropriate to increase the number of 
councillors to NALC’s recommended minimum of seven. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 

  

Page 70



Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 

4.6 Carlton 
 

One response was received, from Carlton Parish Council. The response 
requested a change to the boundary between Carlton and Market Bosworth 
(see the map enclosed with their response). 
 
The changes requested by Carlton Parish Council would require a move to 
the boundaries around Friezeland Farm, land adjacent to the two southern-
most cottages on Westfields Lane, the canal towpath, Park View Farm and 
the carriageway of Barton Road. 
 
Market Bosworth Parish Council, which would be affected by these boundary 
changes, does not support the requested changes. 
 
Members acknowledged that a change in boundary would prevent it bisecting 
some plots along the border and understood how the parish council may feel 
this would improve governance in the area. They concluded, however, that 
the issue of the parish boundary bisecting plots was not a cause for concern 
and was a regular occurrence throughout the country. Given that no other 
consultation responses had been received from the area and that Market 
Bosworth Parish Council did not support the request, members did not feel 
change was appropriate. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
  

Page 71



4.7 Desford 
 

Four responses were received, mostly positive or neutral. Dissatisfaction 
expressed was in matters not within the remit of this review. 
 
Whilst NALC guidance suggests the parish council could sustain 11 seats, 
which would be a decrease of one seat, there was no suggestion that the 
current representation is ineffective and therefore no evidence for change. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.8 Earl Shilton 
 

Four responses were received with mostly positive or neutral views. Two of 
the responses expressed an interest in more councillors and, whilst an 
electorate of Earl Shilton’s size could sustain 15 seats (an increase of 1), 
applying this to the two parish wards proportionately would negatively affect 
the equity in the elector-to-councillor ratio. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
  

Page 72



4.9 Groby 
 

Four responses were received, three of which expressed an interest in a 
change to Groby parish’s border. Some of these suggested changes would 
require a change to the external border of the borough which cannot be 
considered as part of this review. However several responses suggested that 
Field Head ward would be more suitable as part of Markfield parish. Groby 
Parish Council also suggested this change. 
 
Members felt that Field Head becoming part of Markfield Parish would not 
only align better with borough ward boundaries but would improve 
governance, community cohesion, and would better reflect identities of 
residents in the area. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The boundary be redrawn between Groby and Markfield parishes to result in 
Field Head becoming part of Markfield Parish. The number of councillors for 
Groby Parish Council be set at 13 with no warding. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Groby 13 418 

Field Head 3 154 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Groby 13 418 

 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change by 
taking Field Head ward out of Groby parish and reducing the number of 
overall seats by three to 13 with no warding would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
  

Page 73



4.10 Higham on the Hill 
 

No responses were received. Whilst NALC guidance suggests a minimum 
number of seven seats, there is no disproportionality in elector-to-councillor 
ratios and no drive for change amongst residents. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.11 Hinckley 
 

Seven responses were received, with none expressing a particular interest in 
becoming a parished area.  
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.12 Market Bosworth 
 

Four responses were received, including a response from the parish council 
which had requested an increase in the number of seats. Members noted, 
however, that the electorate of Market Bosworth has decreased over the last 
five years despite a small increase in the number of properties. It is therefore 
felt that there was no evidence for change. This is further supported by the 
fact that there has been sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral contest 
only once in the last ten years. 
 

  

Page 74



Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.13 Markfield 
 

Four responses were received, two of which, including the parish council, 
suggested that the border of Markfield parish should be extended to include 
land adjacent to the A50 (which may include Field Head), although part of this 
land fell outside of the borough boundary and was therefore not within the 
remit of this review. Whilst Markfield Parish Council had not specifically 
suggested that Field Head be moved within the parish boundary of Markfield, 
members felt that change was important to the residents of Field Head (as 
suggested by Groby Parish Council) and that this would improve governance 
and community cohesion and would better reflect identities of the residents 
within the area. 
 
In relation to the size of Markfield Parish Council, members supported NALC’s 
suggested increase of one seat (on the current size of the parish council). 
Including Field Head within Markfield Parish did not affect this 
recommendation, however Field Head had historically been represented by 
three seats (whilst part of Groby parish) which would lead to inequity in the 
elector-to-councillor ratio if part of Markfield Parish Council. It is therefore felt 
that, on the basis of Field Head becoming part of Markfield parish, the 
representation for Field Head ward should be reduced to one councillor. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The boundary be redrawn to incorporate Field Head ward within Markfield 
parish. The number of councillors for Markfield Parish Council be set at 12 
with 11 for Markfield ward and one for Field Head ward. 
 
Current representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Markfield 10 401 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Markfield 11 365 

Page 75



Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Field Head 1 463 

 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change by 
incorporating Field Head ward into Markfield parish and increasing the overall 
number of parish councillors to 12 with 11 for Markfield ward and 1 for Field 
Head ward would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 

4.14 Nailstone 
 

No responses were received. Whilst NALC guidance suggests a minimum 
number of seven seats, there is no disproportionality in elector-to-councillor 
ratios and the parish council has received sufficient nominations to achieve an 
electoral contest only twice in the last ten years. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.15 Newbold Verdon 
 

Four responses were received, none of them suggested a change in 
governance arrangements. Whilst NALC guidance suggests a minimum 
number of seven seats, there is no disproportionality in elector-to-councillor 
ratios and the parish council has received sufficient nominations to achieve an 
electoral contest only twice in the last ten years. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 

  

Page 76



Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.16 Osbaston 
 

Two responses were received with no request for change. Whilst NALC 
guidance suggests a minimum number of seven seats, there is no 
disproportionality in elector-to-councillor ratios and the parish council has not 
received sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral contest in the last ten 
years. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 

4.17 Peckleton 
 

Four responses were received, two of which suggested splitting the parish 
into three separate parishes along ward lines. Other suggestions included 
increasing the number of councillors and changing the name to reflect the 
other settlements within the parish. 
 
Members considered the suggestion to create three smaller parishes and 
noted that, whilst each village had an electorate above the minimum advised 
by NALC guidance, each would be small and, as parish wards, none have 
received sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral contest in the last ten 
years (with Kirkby Mallory having received no nominations in the 2019 
elections), which demonstrated potential difficulties in each sustaining their 
own quorate parish council. 
 
It is, however, acknowledged that Stapleton is now the largest of the three 
villages and Peckleton the smallest so the name is not reflective of the make 
up of the area. It is felt that the name should be amended to “Kirkby Mallory, 
Peckleton and Stapleton Parish”. 
 

Page 77



Recommendation 
 
The name of the parish be amended to “Kirkby Mallory, Peckleton and 
Stapleton Parish” with the name of the parish council also amended to the 
same. 
 
Reason 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considers that a community governance change by 
amending the name of the parish to “Kirkby Mallory, Peckleton and Stapleton 
Parish” would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.18 Ratby 
 

No responses were received. Whilst NALC guidance suggests an electorate 
the size of Ratby’s could sustain 11 seats (an increase of two), there had 
been no request for change. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.19 Shackerstone 
 

One response was received which supported no change. Whilst NALC 
guidance suggests a minimum number of seven seats, there had been no 
request for change and there is no evidence that change is required. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 

  

Page 78



Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.20 Sheepy 
 

No responses were received. Whilst NALC guidance suggests seven seats 
would be an appropriate size for Sheepy parish (an overall decrease of four 
seats), a reduction would negatively impact the equity of the elector-to-
councillor ratio between the five wards (which must all be represented by a 
minimum of one councillor). Sheepy ward is considerably larger than the other 
villages and hamlets in the parish and the seats allocated reflect this. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.21 Stanton Under Bardon 
 

Four responses were received, with any dissatisfaction being directed at 
matters not relevant to the review. Whilst NALC guidance suggests a 
minimum number of seven seats, members felt that the current size of five 
councillors is appropriate given the size of the electorate. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 

Page 79



4.22 Stoke Golding 
 

Three responses were received, all (including Stoke Golding Parish Council) 
suggesting there should be an increase in the number of councillors to reflect 
the 8.79% increase in the electorate over the last five years. Members also 
acknowledged that an increase from seven to eight councillors would follow 
NALC’s guidance. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The number of councillors on Stoke Golding Parish Council be increased from 
seven to eight councillors. 
 
Current representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Stoke Golding 7 266 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Stoke Golding 8 232 

 
Reasons 
 
Based on the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change to 
increase the number of councillors from seven to eight would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.23 Sutton Cheney 
 
 25 responses were received, the majority from residents of Dadlington ward, 

generally expressing dissatisfaction with the current governance 
arrangements. Whilst the dissatisfaction seems to stem from experiences 
surrounding the Neighbourhood Development Plan, actions and decisions of 
the parish council, which is not within the remit of this review, there were 
suggestions that the current arrangements do not reflect identities of the 
residents in Dadlington as Shenton and Sutton Cheney are estate-owned and 
partially estate-owned respectively. The view was also expressed that 
Dadlington is now the largest settlement within the parish, therefore the name 
of the parish is not appropriate. It was also felt that Dadlington was 
underrepresented on Sutton Cheney Parish Council. 

 
 A submission from “the Steering Group for a Dadlington Parish Council” 

argued strongly that there should be a separate parish council for Dadlington 
and cited receipt of 150 responses in favour of this (from an electorate of 225) 
in an informal poll of residents. 

Page 80



 
 Sutton Cheney Parish Council requested no change to the parish boundaries 

but indicated that they would accept a change in name to reflect the size of 
Dadlington. 

 
 Members acknowledged the points raised and appreciated the work put into 

the responses. They did, however, note that none of the wards within Sutton 
Cheney parish had received sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral 
contest in the last ten years and whilst Dadlington ward had produced the 
required number of nominations on three occasions in the last ten years, 
Shenton and Sutton Cheney wards had consistently produced fewer than 
required for the number of seats. It was therefore felt that Shenton and Sutton 
Cheney as a parish would not be sustainable and neither is there sufficient 
evidence that Dadlington would be sustainable as a separate parish council. 

 
 Members felt that the most appropriate change to improve representation, 

better reflect identities within the area and ensure effective governance of the 
parish as a whole is to recommend a change in name to “Dadlington & Sutton 
Cheney Parish” and to increase the number of seats in Dadlington ward from 
three to four which would create the best equity in terms of elector-to-
councillor ratio, thereby increasing the overall total for the parish to eight 
seats. 

 
Recommendation 
 
The name of Sutton Cheney Parish be amended to “Dadlington & Sutton 
Cheney Parish” with the name of the parish council also amended to the 
same. The number of councillors for Dadlington ward be increased from three 
to four. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Dadlington 3 79 

Shenton 2 43 

Sutton 2 56 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Dadlington 4 59 

Shenton 2 43 

Sutton 2 56 

 
  

Page 81



Reasons 
 
Based on the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change to 
amend the name of the parish and to increase the number of councillors 
representing Dadlington ward from three to four would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 

4.24 Twycross 
 

One response was received which did not comment on the current 
governance arrangements. Whilst NALC guidance suggests a minimum 
number of seven seats, members felt that the current size of six councillors is 
appropriate given the size of the electorate and this number allowed for equity 
in electorate distribution. It was also noted that Twycross had not received 
sufficient nominations to achieve an electoral contest in the last ten years. 
 
Recommendation 
 
No change. 
 
Reasons 
 
Based upon the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change would 
NOT: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 
 
4.25 Witherley 
 
 35 responses were received, 33 of which felt that a change to governance 

arrangements was necessary, however the majority of respondents 
expressed dissatisfaction with issues such as parish council decision making, 
planning matters and the actions of individual parish councillors, largely 
stemming from events surrounding the Neighbourhood Development Plan, 
which were not matters that could be considered as part of this review. 

 
The most common suggestion in the responses was the creation of two 
separate parish councils – one for Witherley and another for the remaining 
hamlets of Fenny Drayton, Atterton and Ratcliffe Culey. Where separation 
was not suggested, respondents requested a change of name to reflect the 
hamlets and changing the number of parish councillors for the area to allow 
fairer representation for all parish wards as many felt the hamlets were 
underrepresented. 
 

Page 82



Whilst NALC guidance suggested an appropriate number of councillors for an 
electorate the size of Witherley Parish was seven seats (which would be a 
reduction in four overall), members noted that a reduction to this size would 
negatively impact the equity of the elector-to-councillor ratio between the four 
wards, which must be represented by a minimum of one councillor each. 
 
In acknowledging the strength of feeling from respondents of Fenny Drayton 
and Ratcliffe Culey wards, members emphasised that whilst responses were 
overwhelmingly in favour of a change to electoral arrangements, as a 
proportion of the electorate of the parish and even of the hamlets alone, the 
number did not represent a majority by any means. 
 
In considering the suggestion of creating two separate parish councils, 
members noted that Witherley ward had produced the required number of 
nominations to achieve an electoral contest twice in the last ten years, with 
the other wards not having achieved a contest at all during that time. 
Members felt that there was a risk that neither Witherley nor the hamlets 
would be able to sustain a parish council for those reasons. 
 
Members did, however, feel that there was a need for change both in the 
name of the parish in order to better reflect the settlements within the parish, 
and in representation on the parish council. They felt the name “Witherley & 
Fenny Drayton Parish”, with the parish council name being amended in the 
same vein, would best reflect the two largest settlements in the parish. In 
order to achieve equity in the elector-to-councillor ratio, members 
recommended that the number of seats in Witherley ward be increased from 
four to five, thereby increasing the overall number of seats for the parish to 
12. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The name of Witherley Parish be amended to “Witherley & Fenny Drayton 
Parish” with the name of the parish council also amended to the same. The 
number of councillors for Witherley ward be increased from four to five. 
 
Current representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Fenny Drayton 4 111 

Atterton 1 33 

Ratcliffe 2 75 

Witherley 4 144 

 
Recommended representation 

Parish ward Number of councillors Electors per councillor 
(2027 projection) 

Fenny Drayton 4 111 

Atterton 1 33 

Ratcliffe 2 75 

Witherley 5 115 

Page 83



 
Reasons 
 
Based on the evidence currently available, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council, on balance, considered that a community governance change to 
amend the name of the parish and to increase the number of councillors 
representing Witherley ward from four to five would: 
 

 Help to better reflect the local identities and interests of the community 

 Help to secure more effective and convenient governance of the area. 

Page 84



© Crown copyright. All rights reserved Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council LA100018489 Published 2022

GAA

GAB

HBB

HBC

HABHAC

HAD

HAA

IAA

IAB

¯
 Proposed Groby  Parish

Scale: 1:20,000

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright. All rights reserved Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council LA100018489 Published 2022

GAA

HBA

HBB
HBC

HAB

HAC

HADHAA

¯
Proposed Markfield Parish

Scale: 1:20,000

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 89



2 

…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Unsure / don’t know No supporting comment 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Bagworth should move to NWLDC as the majority of residents work or shop in 
Coalville and never visit Hinckley. We pay the highest rate of council tac on average 
compared to Hinckley and have NO facilities whatsoever. No HBBC offices, libraries, 
cinema, shops etc. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

There is no interaction between the people of Bagworth and Thornton. It would be 
better to merge with Ellistown in NWLDC. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

No supporting comment 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

There is no interaction between the people of Bagworth and Thornton. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Over recent years, Bagworth and Thornton have grown into very different villages. 
Now I believe there are so many contrasts that it is not possible to include the 
villages in the same parish. Thornton is fortunate to still have many facilities 
(reservoir tea shop, church, school, pub serving food, Club with entertainment, etc) 
but sadly Bagworth has lost its church, school, pub etc. We have one shop and one 
Club which does not attract many new members or offer food etc. The housing stock 
in Thornton is generally more expensive, there is no new home building but a very 
proactive group of residents who are willing to oppose any significant or minor 
building developments to protect the area. There is very little industrial space in the 
village but both villages have decent open spaces with football pitches and children's 
play areas. Bagworth has seen the lion's share of new home building over the last 20 
years with hundreds of new builds and more planned. We have industrial units in the 
centre of the village, one of which regularly smells of fried food, but no authorities 
appear to tackle the lack of filters to improve air quality for residents. Sadly, 
Bagworth residents have spoken up so many times -and been ignored- that villagers 
are weary of fighting and no longer present a force to oppose unwanted 
developments. There are no common or uniting factors any longer between the two 
villages, in my view. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree If decisions are based on what facilities BOTH villages have, Bagworth residents 
lose any new opportunities because Thornton already has our 'allocation'. Similarly, 
Thornton village benefits because Bagworth has a fair share of traveller 
accommodation and new house building so no new measures are imposed on that 
village, because the Parish has already done its bit. Hence Thornton's prospects are 

P
age 90



3 

enhanced/protected and Bagworth appears to get no benefits but more than a 
reasonable share of unwanted developments (eg our village need for affordable 
housing was very limited, yet the village has now seen more than 80 affordable 
properties built in the last few years.) Our governance arrangements are a 
compromise and do not reflect what our village needs in terms of priorities. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I feel we need to split our current Parish into two separate areas. Bagworth is a 
growing village with little infrastructure. We pay the highest council tax in the 
Borough yet only seem to get grass cutting for our money. We need local authority 
investment to support all the families in affordable housing who are relocated here 
away from family and expected to survive with no reliable buses, local facilities or a 
car. Existing residents can't get to Hinckley by bus without a number of changes. Our 
community centre is popular which is very welcome but only because a fantastic 
group of just four volunteers keeping it running (separately from the parish council). 
Whilst Thornton ticks the boxes to say we have facilities on our doorstep, Bagworth 
will be overlooked every time. I believe there is a strong identity in the village and 
people willing to act on our behalf as Councillors. However, the current set up of only 
3 or 4 Bagworth reps is not sufficient to drive the changes we need, as the Council 
must act on behalf of both villages and not focus on one or the other. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about the name of 
the parish  

If we must stay as a single council then it is accurate. But I would like it to be just 
Bagworth Parish Council! 

There should be 
more councillors 

As a single PC, our village has only half the representatives, despite paying the most 
money from the most households. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Possibly, depending on the degree of delegation of decisions and budgets. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Less is more 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Don't understand 
 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Unsure/don’t know 
about need for 
change  

Dose it matter / what difference dose it make. As long as my council tax drops. 

P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



6 

"evidence" of a residents survey being previously provided to the contrary) and parts 
of Osbaston are physically linked to Barlestone. It may also provide the opportunity 
to address the issue of councillors staying in position as there could be a form of 
competition instead of remaining in place by default. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

As it is, its reflective but should it be merged with Osbaston that must be reflected in 
the name - many people already believe it is a Barlestone & Osbaston Parish 
Council as evidenced at residents meetings. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

The number is fine, its composition and councillors remaining in place by default is 
not though. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

The neighbouring Osbaston has its own Parish Council but has no assets or land, 
many residents use the facilities provided by Barlestone Parish Council (despite 
"evidence" of a residents survey being previously provided to the contrary) and parts 
of Osbaston are physically linked to Barlestone. 

 

  

P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



11 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I feel the local population increase and infrastructure may mean a wider view of 
issues needed. Considering issues at a local level only may mean context lacking. 
Eg: Sports & recreation space/facilities in Burbage very poor, when desperately 
needed. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

Name seems appropriate. 

There should be 
more councillors 

Keen to gain a wider representation & view from community. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Potentially beneficial. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree Within the parish the arrangements are fine, whereas there are not the same or 
similar arrangements from bordering parishes that heavily impact infrastructure and i 
interests of locals. Arrangements need to be conjoined with neighbouring parishes. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree All seems well communicated and covered as far as seems possible locally. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change The parish needs to be able to stand up for itself, merging with others could have 
benefits but more likely not and wouldn't always gain strength. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

The name is fine 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Just enough, any more would be no benefit, fewer could be detrimental so a good 
balance exists already. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

To maintain strength independently, But we should work closely with others. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree Local people 

P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



P
age 102



P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



18 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

Because it's the name of our village 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Appropriate for sharing out of the workload. I think it would be hard to attract more 
councillors. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

Desford ia already a big parish and a bigger workload would be inappropriate 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree The parish council understands the needs and wants of the community on the most 
important issues - such as housing development, improves services and facilites 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree Councillors are approachable and ready to listen and take on board suggestions. 
Most importantly, they live/work in the area and see the problems within the arae for 
themselves - such as ongoing housing developments and increased traffic, strain on 
services etc 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change As noted above, the councillors issues are the same as those of their parisheners 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

it does what it says on the tin 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

any more may be too many 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

The current situation is working, change could dilute the efficiency and local 
expertise. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree Although not many parishioner's attend meetings I get the feeling that the Desford 
Parish is run well and are sympathetic to the well being of Desford and Botcheston. It 
is important to have local representation as they are the Parishioners that live and 
breathe the area. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly agree The Parish Council are effective at communicating local issues to the Borough, 
without them Desford and Botcheston would be invisible. Again it is important that we 
have local representation 

P
age 106



P
age 107



P
age 108



21 

…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree The same reasons as above 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Why change what isn’t broken? 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It reflects who we are 

There should be 
more councillors 

Earl Shilton has grown considerable in the past few years and needs more people to 
represent them 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Without being privy to what is proposed, it is difficult to comment 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree I am pleased with all functions. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree I am pleased with all functions. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change happy as is 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

it is correct. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

not enough visibility of functional responcibilities. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

works as is. 

P
age 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



P
age 112



25 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Our two Borough Councillors live locally 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It reflects the village we live in 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

We need to be quorate at committee meetings and as volunteers, most of us have 
other responsibilities also 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

A car journey would be required if we also represented other areas. We are 
organised efficiently, other areas included would cause time problems. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree The Parish Council meets local needs very well, however the Borough Council is too 
remote. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree The remoteness of the Borough Council is demonstrated by the information and 
articles in regular HBBC newsletter which very rarely even mentions Groby! 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change 1: Groby is within the Hinckley & Bosworth BC but has often had more of an 
association with the communities to the NE of the village within Charnwood BC such 
as the historical Stamford/Grey family areas of Bradgate and Newtown Linford, plus 
the National Forest which covers much of the village. 
2: The settlement of Branting Hill is split between GPC and Glenfield Parish (Blaby 
DC) but is effectively part of Groby Village. There is “green space” between Branting 
Hill settlement and the rest of Glenfield, and Branting Hill is also in the catchment 
area of one of Groby primary schools. It would make practical sense for the whole of 
Branting Hill to be brought into Groby Parish.  
3: Part of the Groby PC ward of Field Head (located around the Jacqueline Drive 
area and Westward along the A50 up to but not including the Quarry landfill 
roundabout and along the Newtown Linford Lane) would logically belong to the 
Markfield Village community and might be best served being re-allocated as part of 
Markfield Parish.  
4: There is logic in the suggestion by LCC that many of the parishes of Leicestershire 
would be better served by a Unitary Leicestershire County Council. The various 
Borough Councils of the County have become quite Town Centric, for instance, there 
is no public transport from Groby to its Borough “seat” of Hinckley and little 
opportunity for the residents of Groby to utilise the facilities which much of their 
council taxes provide. The Borough and District offices could remain as outlying 
offices of the Unitary Leics. CC to provide some remote access and the Town and 

P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



28 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree The governance of Market Bosworth is strong and reflects the needs and identity of 
the town with active and forward thinking engagement. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly agree For Market Bosworth there is clear and regular communication, action to include 
residents in decision making ie planning, forward thinking approach. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change it works well at present so there is no need to change 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

I don't feel any connection to Hinckley so feel it should just be Market Bosworth 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

seems to work well, have no direct involvement so unsure about whether there is a 
need to change 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Not sure what the benefits of a grouped common parish would be if individual 
parishes existed in their own right? Not enough information is provided regarding 
this. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Remit of parish council is limited hence it does not reflect all of the local issues that 
residents are interested in / concerned about. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Need to rationalise the layers of local government. Three (LCC / HBBC / Market 
Bosworth Parish Council) is at least one too many. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Need to rationalise the layers of local government. Three (LCC / HBBC / Market 
Bosworth Parish Council) is at least one too many. Having a single layer of local 
government that had a wider remit would likely be more reflective of the identities 
and interests of the community it serves. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

"Parish Council" is a historic name; it doesn't reflect the secular society we live in. 

There should be 
fewer councillors 

Need to rationalise the layers of local government. Three (LCC / HBBC /Market 
Bosworth Parish Council) is at least one too many. 

P
age 116



29 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

See response above re: the need to rationalise the layers of local government. 

 

  

P
age 117



P
age 118



31 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change the houses on the west side fo the A50 which includes jawline rod needs to be 
included in the Markfield boundary. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

its good 

There should be 
more councillors 

a few more would allow a better understand of more views. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

the houses on the west side fo the A50 which includes jawline rod needs to be 
included in the Markfield boundary. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree Works well 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly agree No issues 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change No change required 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

Suits the village 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Village will expand soon anyway 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

We are distinct and quite far from other centres. 
 

 

  

P
age 119



P
age 120



33 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree If we were to merge with Mkt Boswrorth or Desford, Newbold Verdon would cease to 
exist as they already get preferential services 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

This is the fault of those elected who are the wrong  people 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Change of councillors is the only thing 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

Named by village and location 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

No further number needed 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

No need at all 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Unsure / don’t know Only moved to the area 14 months ago 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Unsure / don’t know As above 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change No supporting comment 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

No supporting comment 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

No supporting comment 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

No supporting comment 

P
age 121



P
age 122



35 

“There appears to be no benefit to the community of Osbaston to be affiliated with a 
neighbouring parish and the continuation of Osbaston Parish Council would appear 
to be more appropriate in meeting the needs of local residents who live here.” 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree The amount of new housing estates that are cropping up and merging villages is 
detrimental to our area and resources, but many times we are told this is beyond the 
council’s control. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

As above. It’s not effective if the decision has already been made. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Small villages such as ours will merge with others and get lost to a larger identity. 
Barlestone is being taken over by houses estates and it’s encroaching onto our 
parish boundaries but we’re not consulted. A previous development for 450 houses 
had two thirds within the Osbaston parish boundary but onlyBarlestone were 
consulted. Thankfully it was refused, but the issue still exists. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

Because it is the name of the area. 

There should be 
more councillors 

The amount of new planning applications means there should be more to share the 
workload. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

As above. 

 

  

P
age 123



P
age 124



37 

(People like to moan in private but dont necessarily care enough to attend a meeting 
or soeak out). 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree As above. Its convenient and effective in that decisions get made, the villages are 
well cared for, the council does a good job. We know when meetings are and what is 
to be discussed. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Merging parishes would make more councillors available, there is a dearth of 
volunteers, but people in the village need to know the faces to go with the names of 
the people to speak to uf they have an issue. More 'regular' people are needed to be 
the foot soldiers for local democracy, to be the first step into government of their 
area. Divorcing the community from politics and its councillors further, even by just a 
village away, makes the divide between rhe rulers and rhe ruled even wider. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Needs to be peckleton, mallory and stapleton, all with equal status not one (peck) 
with two others. 

There should be 
more councillors 

The more the better, so votes arent ne essarily zlways hanging on just one vote. A 
regular 'club of 2' can always outvote a third on any issue, with no room for 
alternative views to ever be passed. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

Our villages are very small. Neighbouring villages, such as desford and barwell, 
newbold verdon, earl shilton etc are all much, much larger they have schools, shops, 
scout organisations, mum and tot groups, all sorts of extra organisations etc to be 
called on for events etc. These things are not appropriate in our small parishes and 
issues surrounding these larger scale things, time spent on issues in the larger 
villages around crime, signage, damage to infrastructure, would be disproportionate 
for our councillors, feel less rewarding or relevant and people would be less likely to 
feel the desire to be a councillor, epending lots of time listening to issues outside 
their own village. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Would be better if more people from the village were to be represented on the 
council. As its a mixed council only 2 residents can be councillors, which can only 
represent a fraction of the demographic (especially as standing orders mean locals 
feel unable to contribute on issues as they arise). Much of content of each meeting is 
rrelevant to the village as it concerns the other villages. There is a lack of 
commuuncation between villagers and councillors, a perception that the councillors 
only vote or care about issues they are interested in, rather than what the village 
wants raised. I have heard many times that its a waste of time even approaching 
them, which is not really fair but shows a problem with perception. Strict adherence 
to standing orders and an overbearing, unwelcoming personality on the council make 
locals not willing to stand out from the crowd. Key is communication. Maybe more 

P
age 125



38 

use of questionnaies, more seeking out views of locals, more proactive councillors 
maybe, though chairman has been doing this recently for a couple of issues. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Brilliant clerk who does everything she can to fulfil her job role. Good chair who is 
very diplomatic and great at moving meeting along. Effective, not so sure. Time 
spent on other villages but all very business like and things get sorted. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Split the three villages to make the meetings more focused, allow for more 
councillors from each village and more flexibility. Other groups eg village hall 
committee, know issues surrounding village and would allow more time for parish 
council to be more involved in day to day affairs instead of just infrastructure ... 
maybe make it seem more relevant. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

As it stands, its fine. 

There should be 
more councillors 

Only 2 from our village. Votes represent just 2 opinions. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

As above really. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree Our parish is combined with three local villages so its a distributed view as opposed 
to just being the parish I live in. I would strongly agree if this was split for more 
independence. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree As above I believe it could be even more effective if was changed to just Peckleton 
parish and not combined with other villages too. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Reducing the parish council from covering 3 spread out villages to a single village 
would better serve the statement above. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

Peckleton parish represents Peckleton. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

The number of councillors is appropriate 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

It dilutes local identities and interests 

P
age 126



P
age 127



P
age 128



P
age 129



P
age 130



P
age 131



44 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

More layers equals more inneficiency. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree The Parish Council deal with local issues and have been very effective in improving 
local amenities which would not happen if the parish is combined with others as it will 
lose the villages identity and as a small village will have no say. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree The parish council are able to voice local concerns and address local issues which 
would not get addressed in any other way. However there are some matters that 
affect the village which they are unable to impact upon due to these not being in their 
power. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Because due to the size of the village should such changes be made, they will lose 
their voice on the local matters that effect the residents. As it stands the Borough 
Council seem to concentrate on those communities which are nearer to Hinckley or 
have a larger community with social issues whereas small villages are ignored and 
not seen to be a priority. Parish councils, although limited in powers, are able to 
improve local amenities despite the lack of support from the Borough council. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It reflects the village and area the parish covers 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

The parish is a small area. Too many councillors spoil the broth!! 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

There is no need for grouping parishes as there does not appear to be any purpose 
to it. I have not seen anything which would support this and would just put in place 
another layer of bureaucracy which in my view is not necessary. I am not sure why, if 
the local parish council is still to exist how it would benefit from grouping together 
except setting up more meetings not likely to achieve anything. Should this parish be 
linked to a larger one like Markfield it would certainly lose its identity as Markfield will 
always hold the high ground due to its size 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree Stanton under Bardon is a linear rural village with fields on three sides and two 
quarries on the fourth. This has means that Stanton has few synergies with 
neighbouring parishes. 

P
age 132



45 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly agree The Parish Council is effective in representing villagers. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change The village has little identity with neighbouring parishes. 
The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It is the name of the village. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

A small village only needs minimum councillors. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

A small parish may be swamped by a larger one to the detriment of democracy and 
financial matters. 

 

  

P
age 133



P
age 134



47 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

It works extremely well as it stands 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree A complete lack of focus, attention and involvement concerning housing 
development applications in this village. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree No coherent strategy for dealing with the bigger more long term issues, but neither 
does HBBC who have shown to be woefully inadequate and politically biased in their 
behaviours! 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change Communities need a local representation by abody that is familiar with that 
community, not some distant amalgamated body with limited knowledge or interest in 
representing the individual community. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It says exactly what and who the parish council represent. 

There should be 
more councillors 

The current problem with parish councils is they attract like minded individuals whom 
for the most part have limited experience of creative and thrusting environments. 
Tradition and culture tend to rule with a “we’ve always done it this way” approach. 
The less than changes the better! They don’t attract people with sound business 
skills and leadership qualities because those people are not motivated by trivia and 
writing records about domes of money being spent which in real terms amounts the 
petty cash! 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

This was answered in response to a previous question. Local representation by local 
people/bodies. 

 

  

P
age 135



P
age 136



P
age 137



50 

from full 
response  
 

“Shenton is an estate-owned village and Sutton Cheney is partially estate-owned, whereas Dadlington 
comprises individually owned properties.  This has affected the extent of development in the villages so far 
and will continue to do so in the future.  The level of threat from unwanted development changing the 
essential character of Dadlington is, therefore, much more significant.  A Dadlington Parish Council would 
enable a much stronger influence in dealing with unwanted development.” 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

“A Parish Council for Dadlington would allow costs to be reduced compared with those applying to SCPC 
with less hours needed for a clerk and less meetings required avoiding any need for sub-committees as at 
present.  Currently these costs amount to approximately 60% of the annual precept for SCPC. This would 
also give the opportunity for Sutton Cheney and Shenton to reduce their costs.  Councillors from Shenton 
have expressed dismay at times regarding the predominance of Dadlington matters in the business of 
SCPC.” 

Do you feel there is need 
for change? 

Change “There was an overwhelming level of support for the formation of Dadlington Parish 
Council run by the people of Dadlington. The response was 150 in favour and 7 
against which represents 70% of the electors of the village.” 

There should be 
more councillors 

“53% of the electors of the existing parish of Sutton Cheney are from Dadlington.  If 
Dadlington had its own Parish Council with 5 councillors then this would equate to 1 
councillor per 45 electors which compares favourably with other smaller parishes in 
the area, eg Cadeby and Osbaston.  The results of the local survey within 
Dadlington show that a substantial majority of electors want to separate from the 
existing SCPC, indicating that an increase in councillors for Dadlington within 
SCPC would not be acceptable.” 

An individual 
local resident 

How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The current arrangement of a 3 village parish does not adequately meet the needs 
and challenges relating to the larger village of Dadlington. Both of the other villages 
are either partly or totally estate owned so are not comparable to Dadlington. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree As together the other two villages of Shenton and Sutton Cheney can outvote the 
representatives of Dadlington. This is unfair because Dadlington has 53% of the 
electorate of the existing parish. This means that important matters relating to 
Dadlington, such as the management of the village green, is not directly under the 
control of the village and this has created some divisive issues. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I would like to see Dadlington matters decided upon by a Dadlington Parish 
Council. We have a strong community in Dadlington which would be further 
enhanced by the village having greater control of its further development and co-
ordination with the Dadlington Village Hall Committee which is already run totally by 
the village. Dadlington has been more dynamic than the other two villages in 

P
age 138



51 

providing its own village hall, are in the process of producing a Neighbourhood Plan 
and has also provided its own defibrillator. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

When the Parish Council was first formed in the late 1800s Sutton Cheney was the 
largest of the three villages. This is no longer the case. As the other two villages are 
either wholly or part owned, they have not expanded whereas Dadlington has. 

There should be 
more councillors 

As mentioned above there are two councillors for Shenton, two for Sutton Cheney 
and 3 for Dadlington which means that the largest village can be outvoted, 
especially if the Chairman is from Shenton or Sutton Cheney, Dadlington 
councillors can be outvoted as he has a casting vote. If Dadlington can separate 
then we would expect that there would be 5 councillors for a Dadlington Parish 
Council. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Not appropriate 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree A parish of 3 villages no longer meets the needs of Dadlington as we have little in 
common with the other two as they are either wholly or part privately owned. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree There is an imbalance in voting rights where Shenton and Sutton Cheney can 
outvote the representatives from Dadlington. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I would prefer if Dadington matters were decided by Dadlington people. There have 
been some divisive issues at Parish Council meetings which I felt should have been 
decided upon in our village and not by representatives of the other two. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

It may have been appropriate in times gone by but Dadlington is now the largest of 
the 3 villages and some residents do not relate to Dadlington being a part of Sutton 
Cheney. 

There should be 
more councillors 

At present there are 3 but with our own parish council we would hope for 5. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Not relevant 

P
age 139



52 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Decisions about Dadlington are being made by parish councillors who do not live in 
the village and do not seek to find out what villagers want.Any decision about 
Dadlington can be made by a majority of councillors (4 out of the possible 7) who 
do not live in the village. The Dadlington Neighbourhood Plan is a key example of 
this where it is being held up by exactly this situation. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Having attended many Sutton Cheney parish council meetings I do not feel that the 
parish council provides an effective local governance. There has been an unusually 
large turnover of councillors in recent years, several have resigned due to the 
atmosphere within the council. These issues are blocking effective and professional 
commitment to local government. There have also been occasions over the last few 
years where parish councillors have not behaved in a courteous and cordial 
manner to residents and fellow councillors. This creates inefficiency and 
unprofessionalism. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Historically Dadlington was part of the 3 village parish council. It is now a 
significantly larger village than the other 2 which remain essentially private estate 
villages. Dadlington is not currently in a position where decisions are being made 
by village residents; the Dadlington Neighbourhood Plan is an example of this as 
it's progress is being held up by the parish council. Councillors from the other 
villages are blocking the progression of the plan at the same time as development 
is rife in the area. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Dadlington is the largest of the 3 villages now, not Sutton Cheney. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

I strongly support a new parish council for Dadlington and for that there would need 
to be possibly 5 councillors. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

I don't fully understand this 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree I hear that some people in Dadlington want to see the Parish Council broken up into 
one just for Dadlington. These people are continuinlly moaning about the Council 
but why don’t they just join them instead.? I am not sure why they seem hell bent 
on breaking it up so that they can get complete control of this village. The council 
do a good job of keeping the green in great condition and the church yard too. They 
helped me when I had a problem with one of the trees branches on the green 
overhanging the road near my  house. I know that they have been working to 
reduce cars speeding through the village by buying a sign that has really helped to 
slow the cars down. No one dare speak up against this group of residents and its 

P
age 140



53 

always the same names who think they speak for all of us. And surely the cost of 
my council tax will increase if this happens? 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Agree They advertise their meetings in the noticeboards so I know where I need to go if I 
have a problem 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change The Council has always done a good job at looking after Dadlington and they seem 
to be good at listening to residents complaints like speeding and then doing 
something about it. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Dadlington & Sutton Cheney Parish Council maybe? 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

Not sure 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Not really sure who we would link up with. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Dadlington today has little in common with Sutton Cheney or Shenton. Those 
villages are smaller with similar characteristics. Dadlington is a much larger village 
which has grown over time whereas Sutton Cheney and Shenton remain basically 
unchanged. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Disagree A grouping of dissimilar communities cannot be the most effective way to provide 
local government and address local issues. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington has a strong community focus. If it was to have its own parish council I 
feel sure the village would be better served to focus on the issues that affect the 
residents. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Sutton Cheney may geographically be the centre of the parish but with Dadlington 
being larger than Shenton and Sutton Cheney put together surely Dadlington 
should provide the parish name. 

There should be 
more councillors 

Currently Sutton Cheney and Shenton have two councillors each and Dadlington 
has three. That does not reflect the community sizes. 

P
age 141



54 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Sorry, don't really understand the explanation given. However, I feel that keeping 
Sutton Cheney and Shenton together is appropriate but that Dadlington should 
come out of the existing arrangement. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Sutton Cheney parish councillors are not representing the views of Dadlington 
residents. 1 councillor does not live in the parish has no connection to the parish at 
all. 3 of the councillors have only lived in the parish for less than 3 years and have 
also come from towns. All 4 have no previous experience of living in small 
communities.  Only 1 of the councillors has to date over 1 year experience as a 
councillor and this has lead to conflict. Dadlington wishes to take back control of its 
Green and the village issues in general. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Decisions are being taken by those who have no knowledge of Dadlington and 
without respect of 5h3 residents wishes. Dadlington has over 50% of the electorate 
but even if it had the chair’s casting vote, less than 50% of the vote 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington should have it’s own stand alone parish council. It no longer has a 
connection to either Sutton Cheney or Shenton socially. Dadlington is privately 
owned, even the farms, while bot Sutton and Shenton are owned in the magority by 
estates. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Dadlington is over 50% of the paris. Sutton Cheney and Shenton approximately 
25% each. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

The number of councillors is appropriate for the pc as it stands, but there should be 
a shift in representation if it is to continue in its present form. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

If I understand this correctly, Dadlington could have its own parish meeting and 
report back to SCPC. I still feel that Dadlington should have its own independent 
parish council 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The current arrangement of a 3 village parish does not adequately meet the needs 
and challenges relating to the larger village of Dadlington. Both of the other villages 
are either partly or totally estate owned so are not comparable to Dadlington. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree As together the other two villages of Shenton and Sutton Cheney can outvote the 
representatives of Dadlington. This is unfair because Dadlington has 53% of the 
electorate of the existing parish. This means that important matters relating to 
Dadlington, such as the management of the village green, is not directly under the 
control of the village and this has created some divisive issues. 

P
age 142



55 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I would like to see Dadlington matters decided upon by a Dadlington Parish 
Council. We have a strong community in Dadlington which would be further 
enhanced by the village having greater control of its further development and co-
ordination with the Dadlington Village Hall Committee which is already run totally by 
the village. Dadlington 
has been more dynamic than the other two villages in providing its own village hall, 
are in the process of producing a Neighbourhood Plan and has also provided its 
own defibrillator. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

When the Parish Council was first formed in the late 1800s Sutton Cheney was the 
largest of the three villages. This is no longer the case. As the other two villages are 
either wholly or part owned, they have not expanded whereas Dadlington has. 

There should be 
more councillors 

As mentioned above there are two councillors for Shenton, two for Sutton Cheney 
and 3 for Dadlington which means that the largest village can be outvoted, 
especially if the Chairman is from Shenton or Sutton Cheney, Dadlington 
councillors can be outvoted as he has a casting vote. If Dadlington can separate 
then we would expect that there would be 5 councillors for a Dadlington Parish 
Council. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Not appropriate 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree There is a lack of understanding of the indivisible village needs on the current 
grouper parish council 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree The current grouped parish council is ineffective for the needs of Dadlington 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I believe that Dadlington should have it’s own parish council 
The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Dadlington should stand alone away from Shenton and Sutton Cheney 

There should be 
more councillors 

There are currently no Dadlington based councilors on the existing parish council 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Dadlington should be able to stand alone 

P
age 143



56 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The last 18months our current Parish Council for Dadlington has been a large area 
of conflict. It is seen that the councillors within this parish are unwilling to consider 
Dadlington residents welfare & opinions. With certain fundings being stunted but 
still carried on with other areas within this parish and many options for this village to 
improve being swiftly brushed sided by counsellors. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree At the moment there are no residents of Dadlington acting as councillor, simply 
because the current board are in co-operative and unwilling to listen to these 
resident views. Therefore not providing and effective board for this village. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington now needs to have its own Parish Council set away from other villages. 
This has been the case in Stoke Golding a direct neighbouring village for many 
years. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The Sutton Cheney parish council does not directly reflect Dadlington as it should 
do. 

There should be 
more councillors 

No residents within this village are councillors 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

For reasons stated abkve 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Dadlington as the largest village in the Parish is outvoted by councillors from 
Shenton and Sutton Cheney, small hamlets which have little in common with 
Dadlington. They have dictated and delayed our Neighbourhood Plan, imposed 
restrictions on the use of the village green, ignored our self funded defibrillator, 
have failed to object to a solar farm proposal, and failed to support the creation of 
an area of separation between Stoke Golding and Dadlington. Their financial 
management has resulted in an inordinate proportion of the precept being spent on 
the clerk's salary. They have failed to address our traffic problems. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree We need an independent Dadlington Parish Council to address our local concerns. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Local people are the best to address local concerns. Currently our wider parish 
councillors appear to focus only on their own hamlets. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

We need a separate Dadlington Parish Council 

There should be 
more councillors 

There should be a separate Dadlington PC which would have only Dadlington 
councillors making decisions about Dadlington 

P
age 144



57 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Essential that Dadlington is separate. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Present ratios of councillors from Sutton Cheney and Shenton greater then 
Dadlington, despite Dadlington having more voters then the other two combined. 
This arrangement does not best represent Dadlington local interedts. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Present arrangements are not effective due to poor representation from Dadlington 
resident 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington requires and warrants its own parish council, this is the only effective 
system which can fairly represent the viĺlage of Dadlington 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

A separate parish council should be called Dadlington Parish Council. 

There should be 
more councillors 

a seperate Dadlington Parish Council should have a minimum of 5 councillors. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

No comment 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Three villages combine into one parish . The wishes of Dadlington residents 
regarding Dadlington matters can easily be overuled as the other two villages have 
a combined total of 4 parish councillors whereas we have 3. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Parish councillors from other villages have a vote on Dadlington policy whilst having 
no responsibilty to the villagers. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington should have its own parish council as this would more accurately reflect 
the views of the villagers. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Sutton Cheney parish council is not an appropriate name as Dadlington is bigger. If 
we are not able to have a separate parish council then it should be renamed 
Dadlington parish council incorporating Sutton Cheney and Shenton. 

There should be 
more councillors 

The current parish council should have 4 councillors for Dadlington. If we are 
forming our own parish council then 5 would be the ideal number. 

P
age 145



58 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

The existing parish of Sutton Cheney inc Dadlington and Shenton should not be 
grouped together with other parish councils rather it should be split up. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree When SCPC was established, the nature of the three villages it serves were pretty 
similar - rural agricultural centres. Over time, these characteristics have changed 
for Dadlington. Dadlington is now the largest of the villages with the majority of 
residents working in other localities. Houses are mainly owner occupied, as 
opposed to the estate village of Shenton and the semi-estate village of Sutton 
Cheney. Our close proximity to Stoke Golding creates many links between the two 
villages that do not exist between Dadlington, Sutton Cheney and Shenton. Stoke 
and Dadlington are part of the same C of E benefice and share clergy. Groups such 
as the Ambion Voices Community choir, take members from both villages. The 
children all attend the same school and events organised by both villages nearly 
always have an open invitation to residents from the other village. The only link we 
have with Shenton and Sutton Cheney is the Parish Council. This is not a request 
for us to be merged with Stoke Golding PC because we are two distinct villages 
and wish to remain so, butI feel the village is large enough to have its own parish 
council and has the people in the village who are keen to serve and support it. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Disagree When you have a parish council representing three villages, the wishes of 
councillors from nay one village can be over-ruled by the remaining councillors 
voting together. This does not seem very democratic if the issue relates to just one 
village as opposed to the parish as a whole. In recent times, this has become an 
issue. With Dadlington residents very concerned that our area of separation with 
the rapidly expanding Stoke Golding might disappear and with it our village identity, 
a neighbourhood plan was proposed for the parish but this was rejected by SCPC, 
albeit that Dadlington could produce their own plan. When this plan was presented 
to the PC for approval, it ran into all kinds of problems causing it to be delayed by 
several months whilst developers are circling. This does not seem to me to be 
acting in the best interests of Dadlington. A similar situation has arisen over the use 
of the village green, where a set of rules and requirements are being put together 
by SCPC that do not appear to have the backing of many residents. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington is now a large village and has no close links with the other two parishes. 
Its interests are not being met through a voting system that is not democratic. It has 
a large majority of residents wanting to form a new PC and several willing to serve 
on it, as opposed to the village struggling to find councillors for SCPC. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

If this goes ahead the name would be Dadlington Parish Council. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

I am unaware for the number of councillors needed to make a PC run efficiently in 
the interests of the village. 

P
age 146



59 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

I would like to see a single PC for Dadlington 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree I personally feel the reviews should be carried out more often and more support is 
needed from the borough council to parish councils 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Disagree More support is required from borough council. Dadlington is a larger village and 
pays more towards the precept than Sutton Cheney and Shenton villages, therefore 
Dadlington should be more supported 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I dont feel our current parish council supports the need of the larger village but 
spending tends to be more for Sutton Cheney, which I feel unfair 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Again, as Dadlington is the larger parish, I feel the name name should be changed 
to Dadlington parish council 

There should be 
more councillors 

The smaller villages have two councilors whereas Dadlington has only 3 and feel 4 
or 5 councilors would be more appropriate 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

No changes required 

An individual 
local resident 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change By having our own Parish council People in the village will have a better say in the 
village problems. People will pull together and work to keep village as a nice place 
to  live. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

we belive we have a good sized village to have a change to run it for ourselfs 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Sutton Cheney Parish Council comprises of three villages. Sutton Cheney and 
Shenton differ completely to Dadlington for the following reasons. 
1. Dadlington has the highest population. 
2. Dadlington has a village green, the others do not. 
3. Dadlington has a closed Churchyard, the others do not. 
4. Dadlington is entirely owner occupied housing, the others have some tied or 
tenanted housing. 

P
age 147



60 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Disagree Decisions made by the current parish council for Dadlington issues decided upon 
by councillors who are not resident to the village it appears that Dadlington is 
unable make decisions bout issues affecting the village and its residents. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change As previously stated, Dadlington is different to the other two villages in the parish in 
that it is agree in electorate than the other two villages combined, has different 
make up of housing to the other two, as different demands on the Churchyard, 
village green etc. Historically, until the parish of Dadlington was abolished and 
merged into Sutton Cheney Parish it had always been a separate parish from the 
date parish councils were formed. The fact that Dadlington has been a separate 
parish before, gives grounds for it being separate again and I can see no reason 
why it cannot happen following the review. 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It implies that Sutton Cheney Parish Council is only for Sutton Cheney. Shenton 
and Dadlington seem to be forgotten. 

There should be 
more councillors 

If Dadlington was a separate parish, we could appoint more councillors who reside 
within the village. Following a survey of residents, there is sufficient interest in 
village residents becoming a councillor 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

My Wish is that Dadlington become separate from the current parish structure and 
not grouped with other parishes 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Dadlington has grown to be the larger village and now needs to stand alone to 
make decisions on how funds raised from its residents is spent. 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Disagree Dadlington being together with Sutton Cheney and Shenton is causing conflict and I 
feel Dadlington is larger enough to form its own parish council. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Dadlington needs its own parish council so that all members are from the village, 
making decisions for the good of the village. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

A separate Dadlington parish council would need its own name. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

But the new council needs all members from Dadlington residents and it would be 
great to have 1 or 2 younger members also involved (ie under 40). 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

Grouping is not necessary, Dadlington is large enough to stand on its own. 

P
age 148



P
age 149



62 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It's fine 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

It's fine 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Don't know 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Sutton Cheney: farming village, rural economy, lots of tourism, two pubs, mixed 
land tenure 
Dadlington: owner occupiers, not much of a local economy, mostly retired people 
Two very different places and one council to cover both of them does NOT make 
sense 

…provide an effective and 
convenient local 
government? 

Disagree The current councillors are hard working and do a lot BUT it really is a doomed 
effort as the priorities of the communities are so different 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Split the parish so Sutton Cheney and Shenton are a single parish 
No change  
Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

Don't see why name matters! 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

In a new parish council for Shenton and Sutton Cheney there 
should be 3 for SC and 2 for Shenton 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

No grouping needed! 

 

P
age 150



P
age 151



64 

taken from 
full response 

council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Fenny was done by stealth, with no consulttaion with residents. The fact there was 
the potential for a site in Fenny as part of a draft NDP was actually drawn to 
residents attention by someone who lived in Fenny in Nov 2020.  
Cllrs have called residents liars, refuse to listen and in recent months, despite a new 
Chair, it seems contact with this Parsh Council is being reduced as public question 
time is being removed. Correspondance is buried or ignored. We need Cllrs that 
actually represent and have no personal agendas.  
Residents are accused of posting comments on social media that harm WPC, but no 
evidence of this is offered. Yet the former chair published articles in the Witherley 
Village magazine which mentioned Fenny Drayton residents in a derogatory way. 
There is a culture of bullying which existed under the previous chair and continues 
now. Many residents witnessed the online bullying of two Cllrs who dared to disagree 
with the draft NDP proposal to include the Fenny site. The relationship between 
residents in the hamlets of Fenny, Ratcliffe Culey and Atterton and Witherley Parsh 
Council is broken. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree “Witherley Parish Council do not listen to residents. There is no appetite to engage or 
talk. Residents are treated like village idiots and expected to accept what is imposed 
by WPC. The ongoing saga regarding the NDP has destroyed any trust in Witherley 
Parish Council.” 
“Issues of speeding vehicles and 'rat run' traffic are never discusssed or addressed 
for the hamlets. […] The Parish Council does not want to know. Contact with 
Leicestershire Police is maintained by several residents outside of the Parsh Council. 
It is they that have been responsible for the local police attending and carrying out 
speed checks. The Borough Cllr made it clear that hamlets do not need an NDP. 
They are protected by HBBC Core Policy. Why did we end up having an NDP and a 
call for sites, all of which was uneccessary - the question is why did the parsh council 
ignore this? How did this help the residents in the hamlets? 
I would like to see transparency. The culture and information provided within Market 
Bosworth PC seems to be healthier than Witherely - at least to a member of the 
public.” 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change “There is too much conflict in having one village and several hamlets grouped 
together.” 
“We do not need Cllrs who will not represent our views. Nor do we need the threat of 
houses being proposed in hamlets to save building in Witherley. My own view is that 
the hamlets should have their own parish council. If there are insufficent residents to 
form our own Parsh Council then governed directly by HBBC.” 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The name Witherley Parish Council suggests its all about Witherley. If we remain in 
the same parsh area as Witherley, then the name should be changed to Atterton, 
Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey and Witherley Parish Council. 
The order of the names reflects an alphabetical order. 

P
age 152



65 

The number of Parish Cllrs should be evenly split and not as it is now - the majority 
being i Witherley representatives. No Cllrs should be land owners and thus the 
potential for a conflict of interest, 

There should be 
more councillors 

There should be more Cllrs to stop the development of an inner faction which 
effectvely runs the Parish Council. I suspect that currently the number of Cllrs 
reflects the population in each settlement. More Cllrs should mean more discussion 
and more effective representation of residents. The alternative is that Parish Cllrs are 
not elected in respect of one settlement but they act for the whole parish and can be 
contacted by any residents. More Cllrs would possibly mean there is less potential 
for one or two to dominate and control.” 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Yes, as mentioned previously I think the hamlets of Fenny, Ratcliffe Culey and 
Atterton should have their own Parish Council. If this means the population is too 
small to justify being a Paish Council in it's own right, then grouping with another 
Parish Council might overcome this issue. My personal thought is Higham Parish 
Council as we share a joint interest in developments in and around MIRA. Witherley 
could merge or be part of the Sheepy Parish Council area. This might be more 
suitable since both settlements have similar classifications on the HBBC Core Policy. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree We are currently covered by a Parish Council which encompasses a village and 
three rural hamlets - one of which is very small. The interests of the rural hamlets are 
not well served in this mix - especially due to some domineering individuals. This has 
become especially noticeable in the process of preparing the (so far draft) NDP for 
the Parish - where conflicts of interest have come into focus. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Recent manoeuvring by certain Parish Councillors has led to the ending of the 
previous practice of circulating the Parish Council meetings around the communities 
- leading to less convenience and an implication that the smaller communities are 
less important to the Parish Council than the larger village. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Creation of a new Parish Council to serve Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey & Atterton 
(the three Rural Hamlets) would allow closer attention to the interests of those 
communities. By leaving the village of Witherley with its own dedicated Parish 
Council would also allow their interests to be better served too. Win-win! 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Witherley can keep the 'Witherley Parish Council' name (unless this would be 
ambiguous if carried over). Clearly a new name would be needed for a new PC for 
Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey & Atterton 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

I would assume that in forming a new Parish Council the existing number of Parish 
Councillors from each community would remain the same. 

P
age 153



66 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

We would not like to be grouped - we are trying to get better representation! 

An individual 
local resident 
 
Relevant 
extracts 
taken from 
full response  

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

“Our parish council Witherley has served us badly and caused multiple problems in our hamlet, […] instead 
of roatating the venue of meetings to each individual village, most of the meetings are held in Witherley” 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

“We strongly believe that our parish council is not fit for purpose, we  question whether it is even necessary 
to have a parish council and we strongly believe that HBBC could save money by abolishing parish councils 
[…] Why is it necessary to have a county council, a borough council and a parish council? [...] We cannot 
see any useful contribution they make so why not let HBBC take over?” 

An individual 
local resident 
 
Relevant 
extracts 
taken from 
full response  

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree “Witherley Parish Council is orientated towards the needs of Witherley village. […] 
Outside of the NDP Witherley Parish councillors apparently spent months during 
2021 in discussions with Witherley residents concerning the development at Hunt 
Kennels (reducing the number of dwellings from potential 26 to 9 + 3 small offices) 
but there was no such detailed and extensive consultation even within the NDP 
process concerning the proposed site at Fenny Drayton. The fact that over 70 
households objected to the development and it took months of public campaigning 
before WPC even permitted an Extraordinary Parish Meeting show the difference in 
treatment and priorities.” 
“WPC has labelled any criticisms as 'unsubstantiated views of residents' without 
attempts at dialogue or addressing documented information.” 
“In short, residents outside Witherley are disenfranchised and are now - through 
organising themselves - setting up their own arrangements which parallel those of 
the distrusted Parish Council.” 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree “Witherley Parish Councillors have decided to hold all Parish meetings at Witherley, 
isolating the councillors from public attendance from the hamlets, and reducing ease 
of public scrutiny in a Parish with many elderly residents unable to travel easily. 
WPC has reduced public participation and dialogue to virtually zero by its various 
restrictions on public question time (classifying as an adjournment so no record of 
criticisms, reducing time to 10 mins only, locating all meetings in Witherley etc). WPC 
has become a remote medieval fiefdom. 
WPC has failed in its failed NDP consultations, for example, to incorporate areas of 
separation between Fenny Drayton and MIRA but have very carefully ensured that 
such an 'area of separation' applies to Cottagers Piece, Witherley to try to fend off 
merger with Mancetter. These failings are in addition to all the points above.” 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change “… Witherley Parish Council focuses on Witherley and its interests, and has little 
interest or effectiveness in treating all residents equally and with respect. […] 

P
age 154



67 

It would be advantageous to separate Witherley village (a larger settlement with its 
own facilities and proximity to those of Mancetter and Atherstone) from the three 
hamlets. That way, a semiurban village and rural hamlets lacking facilities could 
concentrate on their very different needs and priorities and resolve many of the 
current conflicts within Parish governance.” 
“The failures of WPC which continue to disenfranchise the residents of Ratcliffe 
Culey, Fenny Drayton and Atterton require a total reset of parish administrative 
structures. This may be the opportunity to create a separate 'hamlets Parish' which 
can create its own NDP, and develop a positive working relationship with HBBC for a 
sustainable future.” 
“Residents of Ratcliffe Culey and Fenny Drayton are already developing a basic 
understanding of local governance issues and procedures so a separate hamlets 
Parish is realistically feasible.” 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

“Witherley Parish Council full title further reinforces the impression of the hamlets 
being an afterthought - not equals.” 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

The question does not reflect the situation that the Council has alienated many of the 
residents of the Parish. There is no confidence in many of the Councillors effectively 
representing constituents' interests for all the reasons and examples of ineffective or 
non-participatory governance noted above. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

“This may be a possibility for a 'hamlets Parish' consisting of Atterton, Ratcliffe Culey 
and Fenny Drayton but further information would be needed to clarify and balance 
the strengths and weaknesses of a grouping arrangement.” 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The current Witherley Parish Council ignore the public, do not seek public opinion. 
When the public speak up at meetings, they are ignored. 
Questions are never answered. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree For Fenny Drayton - 3 of the 4 Councillors are never sen canvassing for local 
opinion, 2 of these are completely unapproachable 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change For Fenny Drayton - 3 of the 4 Councillors are never sen canvassing for local 
opinion, 2 of these are completely unapproachable 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The name is after the largest ward - Witherley. We do not need this current Council 
as it does not represent the public. 

P
age 155



68 

There should be 
fewer councillors 

We only ever see one Councillor working and communicating with the public. The 
other three councillors are pointless. If it was not for the efforts of this one councillor, 
we would not know anything that goes on. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Fenny Drayton cannot continue to be bullied by Witherley Councillors. I do not wish 
for Fenny Drrayton to be associated with Witherley. We should be grouped with other 
small hamlets. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree There is a lack of transparency, also potential bias and the smaller parts of parish 
councils seem not to be given proportionate powers. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree We have not been consulted properly in recent times and this has been made clear 
previously to our parish council by our local authority. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Previous replies about consultation and transparency 
Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

This is not important 

There should be 
more councillors 

To have fairer representation for all areas within a parish 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

This may be worth investigating 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree The interests of the lesser populated rural hamlets and villages are largely 
overridden by the representation of the higher populated areas leading to localised 
misunderstanding or at best mistrust of proposals, actions and decisions taken in the 
name of the Parish 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree See above. The Parish is in itself too small in size and controlled by one population 
area whose decisions are final and without recall resulting in botched proposals not 
tied in with Neighbouring Parishes, Towns or County Planning and wasting time and 
expenditure of residents Taxes paid direct and indirect. It is another layer of 
bureaucracy and waste performed by unaccountable persons, whose decisions will 
inevitably be unsupported by those adversely affected and over-ridden by higher 
authorities and developers as necessary. The Parish Council provides an illusion of 

P
age 156



69 

Democracy but in effect it is relatively powerless in preventing schemes and 
developments if they are approved to proceed by a higher Authority or a Developer 
gaining favour. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Too many individual interests appear to be pursued by the "elected" volunteers that 
serve on the PC leading to friction in the community and a lack of transparency and 
an authoritarian approach do not assist in achieving a consensus with the 
public that take an interest. Abolishing the Parish Council, which comprises 
volunteers elected every 4 years and is relatively powerless in the decision making 
process, would remove some of the possibility of generation of localised ill feeling 
and friction within this sector of the Community and give the decision and policy 
making onus to an elected, public purse paid authority that can ultimately be held to 
account by its electorate. The difference is one body are volunteer electorate that 
can walk away unscathed but the other rely on making the right decisions and 
conveying them for their livelihood. It can also reduce the arguments and chances of 
NIMBYISM by having more people onside. It would as well, save the salary and 
expenses paid to the PC out of Public funds whilst still giving some control over 
allocation of funding for the area. 

Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

Not Applicable if it were abolished. Currently it is appropriate because it is governed 
from one area and largely about that area including the number of monthly meetings 
held in that area compared with meetings held in the other 3 that constitute that 
Parish. Further the representation is canted towards that area in terms of numbers 
on the Committee and the Chair is therefore a foregone conclusion even on a split 
decision 

There should be 
fewer councillors 

0 see above 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

It does not always work grouping the 4 elements of THIS Parish Council together in a 
co-ordinated effort, so putting further items into this equation without accountable 
adjudication may exacerbate an already volatile situation. The key is still to involve 
the public, and to be transparent in actions being proposed. In my opinion, there 
should only be paid elected members of a Council that can be questioned and held 
to account in organised meetings and able to be recalled and deselected in the event 
of 
inappropriate behaviour or misdemeanour of any description. 
The system of co-option of members replacing resignees or absences should also be 
discontinued 
through all levels of publicly elected government committees and Councils. 
Abolishing the feudal system of Parish Councils removes a layer of bureaucracy, 
saves cost, 
reduces local splits and allows for more joined up planning with greater 
accountability and 
responsibility rewarded or penalised as necessary. 

P
age 157



70 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The hamlets of Fenny Drayton Atterton and Ratcliffe Culey should be separated from 
Witherley village as the number of residents in Witherley is greater than the 
combined number in the smaller hamlets. Witherley has a larger number of 
Councillors than the other three villages and therefore dominates decision making. 
To separate from Witherley would give the hamlets a fairer opportunity to manage 
there own needs. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree The current arrangements allows Witherley to prioritise its own needs above those of 
the three hamlets 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change There should be a new parish created out of the current Witherley Parish separating 
Ratcliffe Culey and Atterton from Witherley so that the smaller parishe united have a 
fair say in their areas 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Because it promotes the view that the village of Witherley is dominant 

There should be 
more councillors 

The number of Councillors should be fair and equal between the village/hamlet and 
not as at present with Witherley having six and if the Chair is a Witherley Councillor 
then there is strong possibility of bias 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Separate Fenny, Ratcliffe and Atterton from the village of Witherley to facilite a fairer 
distribution of decision making 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Witherley Parish Council in my opinion deos not seem to fairly represent the Hamlet 
parishes, as historic actions/decisions show including the planning and the Local 
Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
I have not had the opportunity to see and make an opinion on the NDP prior to the 
Regulation 14 feedback questionaire due to the fact not all documentation has been 
published!! 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Predominent interest only one area of the Parish which does not provide an effective 
and convenient local government. ie: there is no specific Countryside Policy in the 
NDP to prevent development adjacent to the settlement boudaries. 
Current Policy H2 is too vague, the version of the NDP which has been submitted to 
the HBBC for their views (still ongoing issues). Documentation which should have 
been avaialble to residents to allow a properly informed consultation NOT 
PUBLISHED ! Some relating documention uploaded onto parish website after 
Regulation 14 consultation had ended but are still incomplete. 
I would like to remind the HBBC of their critical report against the Witherley Parish 
Council in January 2021 it seems some of the points noted have not be embraced. 

P
age 158



71 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Create a new individual and seperate Hamlets Parish council for Fenny Drayton, 
Ratclife and Atterton independant of the much larger dominating Witherley village & 
renaming this parish which would create a clear & transparent identity to its residents 
and HBBC. This would maybe offer the opportunity to create an NDP which would 
reflect its residents views and interests and not the much larger settlement priorities. 
It would be interesting and show transparency if the meeting pack for councillors are 
uploaded onto the WPC website. 
I would like to suggest the public section of the meetings to be minuted, going 
forward to identify current themes (which have been removed by prevoius Witherley 
Chair !)  
The Chair to be nominated annualy from each area of the parish and not just 
Witherley led. 
Any matters that are not resolved from current meeting to be carried to te next 
meeting. 
Improved more transparent miniyes of the mmetings to clearly understand what is 
happening and what is being done. 
As proposed previously but rejected Parish Council meetings to be held throughout 
the area and not just in Witherley which denies access to the meetings due to 
transport and aged related issues of mobility etc. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The name Witherley Parish Council is appropriate for the area of Witherley but is not 
appropriate for the smaller hamlet settlements as it does not reflect their identities 
under this name. 

There should be 
more councillors 

A change in the number of parish councillors allocated to each settlement would 
ensure there is more equality in numbers which would ensure a more fairer 
representation of each settlement which would ensure that no one settlement 
dominates by by virtue of the number of councillors. 
I would like to see an annual rotation of the chair of the Parish Council, shared 
between all of the settlements to ensure no one settlement dominates. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

To Group the small Hamlets of Fenny Drayton, Ratcliff and Atterton would create a 
clear & transparent identity to its residents and the HBBC and by being independant 
from the larger parish this would enable a more and localised independant parish 
which would be able to reflect a more local identity and interests of the community in 
those Hamlet areas. This would could also offer the opportunity to create an NDP 
which would reflect those Hamlet residents views and interests and not the much 
larger settlement priorities. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 

Disagree The inclusion of multiple parishes results in a dilution of priorities between them. 

P
age 159



72 

…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree Decision making is compounded by the spread of councillors, each with their own 
differing priorities. The merging of parishes should be discontinued as it is the root 
cause of inefficiency. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Merging parishes Is I suspect more convenient for the HBBC than the merged 
parishioners. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Witherley Parish Council includes merged parishes of equal status. so searching for 
Fenny Drayton is not effective 

There should be 
fewer councillors 

Should the merged parishes be separated, then less councillors could be responsible 
for the smaller individual parishes. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

The present grouping should be disbanded to enable a more locally focussed 
regime. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Witherely parish council is totally detached from the needs of Fenny Drayton 
residents, and ignores our concerns when we try to approach them. It made itself 
unaccountable to Fenny Drayton inhabitant ,and serves only the need of Witherly 
people and personal financial interests of councillors themselves. It turned into a 
closed club of councillors who care only about their personal financial gain from their 
positions in power. People in our village are being bullied and harassed when they 
try to criticise the council . Many residents strongly feel that they want to split from 
the Witherely parish council and set up our own . 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree We, Fenny Drayton, are a small hamlet. We have been merged with a large 
settlement , Witherely, which has different needs from ours, often totally opposite 
from what we need. However, due to their much larger population they have 
overwhelming voting power to vote against our requests and concerns every time. 
We are fed up with this unfair governance arrangement and want to split from the 
Witherley Parish Council. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Small settlements, such as hamlets, should be united with similar small settlements. 
We want to set a council of three hamlets -Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey and 
Atterton. 

Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

This question is not applicable in our situation. We want a full split. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

We want to split from the existing arrangement and set up a new parish council as 
above. We want to changecthe number of councillors to ensure a fairer 

P
age 160



73 

representationof each setlement, stoping a single settlement dominating by virture of 
the number of 
Councillors. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Small settlements should be grouped together - in our case Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe 
Culey ans Atterton. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree I am a resident of Fenny Drayton, but our local council is dominated by Witherley 
Parish Council. As such, the views of our village are not represesnted at the 
meetings, especially relating to planning matters. 
I would be better represented if our hamlet, Fenny Drayton, joined up with other local 
hamlets such as Atterton and Ratcliff Culey, and the elected councillors were from 
our hamlets. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree The councillors of the Witherley Parish Council make decisions which favour their 
village over the other hamlets associated under the Parish. This is especially true 
with planning matters such as the 'area of seperation' designated to the NDP, where 
Fenny Drayton residents would designate a different area, but only one area is 
allowed. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change The smaller hamlets do not have adequate representation under the current situation 
because it is dominated by Witherley interests at the expense of the smaller hamlets. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

I would prefer our hamlets names for the title, ie Fenny Drayton, Atterton, Ratcliff 
Culey Parish Council. 

There should be 
more councillors 

At the moment Witherley councillers dominate over the remaining councillors 
representing the smaller hamlets. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

At the moment the council meetings are held in Witherley. I would prefer a rotation 
system where the hamlets held the meetings at their own locations. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disgree The interests of Fenny Drayton are not adequately represented under the current 
regime. There is a bias in favour of Witherly Parish Council. Recently there have 
been issues regarding planning and the siting of a proposed housing development. 
Fenny Drayton is a Hamlet and there should not be any proposed development 
outside of the existing settlement boundary as set out in HBBC Core Development 
Policy. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree As residents we have not been able to review the supporting documents which 
should have been provided and that are linked to the proposed Neighbourhood 
Development Plan and this situation is ongoing. There is no mention in the NDP of 

P
age 161



74 

Areas of Separation between Fenny Drayton and MIRA and yet Witherley has 4 
levels of protection currently on Cottagers Piece which is regarded as a flood zone 
and therefore covered by Flood Zone 3 and a Blue Wildlife Corridor. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change It would be more beneficial to the local Hamlets of Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey 
and Atterton if they were grouped together and were independent of the much larger 
Witherley village. Witherley is located on the county border which is nearer to 
Atherstone, Warwickshire. The smaller Hamlets would have a number of 
representatives each ensuring more equality and a fair representation of each 
settlement. Annual rotation of the Chair of the Parish Council could be shared 
between all of the settlements ensuring no one settlement dominates. Our Hamlet 
communities need to be listened to in an open, honest, transparent and honest way 
which would be more effective if this were put in place. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

I would suggest that the 3 Hamlets title to be Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey, Atterton 
Parish Council 

There should be 
more councillors 

There should be an even number of Councillors from each Hamlet and a separate 
Parish Council of the Hamlets would hopefully provide residents with the opportunity 
to create a Neighbourhood Development Plan which truly represents and reflects the 
input of its 
residents without any one settlement having priority above another. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

There should be an even number of Councillors forming a group from each Hamlet 
and a separate Parish Council of the Hamlets would hopefully provide residents with 
the opportunity to reflect and discuss issues affecting their community. Meetings 
need to be rotated, being held in each Hamlet in turn so as to not to be seen to 
prioritise one settlement above another 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The interests of Fenny Drayton are not adequately represented under the current 
regime. There is a bias in favour of Witherly Parish Council. Recently there have 
been issues regarding planning and the siting of a proposed housing development. 
Fenny Drayton is a Hamlet and there should not be any proposed development 
outside of the existing settlement boundary as set out in HBBC Core Development 
Policy. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree As residents we have not been able to review the supporting documents which 
should have been provided and that are linked to the proposed Neighbourhood 
Development Plan and this situation is ongoing. There is no mention in the NDP of 
Areas of Separation between Fenny Drayton and MIRA and yet Witherley has 4 
levels of protection currently on Cottagers Piece which is regarded as a flood zone 
and therefore covered by Flood Zone 3 and a Blue Wildlife Corridor. 

P
age 162



75 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change It would be more beneficial to the local Hamlets of Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey 
and Atterton if they were grouped together and were independent of the much larger 
Witherley village. Witherley is located on the county border which is nearer to 
Atherstone, Warwickshire. The smaller Hamlets would have a number of 
representatives each ensuring more equality and a fair representation of each 
settlement. Annual rotation of the Chair of the Parish Council could be shared 
between all of the settlements ensuring no one settlement dominates. Our Hamlet 
communities need to be listened to in an open, honest, transparent and honest way 
which would be more effective if this were put in place. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

I would suggest that the 3 Hamlets title to be Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey, Atterton 
Parish Council 

There should be 
more councillors 

There should be an even number of Councillors from each Hamlet and a separate 
Parish Council of the Hamlets would hopefully provide residents with the opportunity 
to create a Neighbourhood Development Plan which truly represents and reflects the 
input of its 
residents without any one settlement having priority above another. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

There should be an even number of Councillors forming a group from each Hamlet 
and a separate Parish Council of the Hamlets would hopefully provide residents with 
the opportunity to reflect and discuss issues affecting their community. Meetings 
need to be rotated, being held in each Hamlet in turn so as to not to be seen to 
prioritise one settlement above another 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Parish Councillors and Borough councillors are not representing the views of the 
residents, they are representing their own views. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Too numerous for this form 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Parish Council biased toward Witherley village over the other hamlets. We need a 
separate Parish Council for Fenny Drayton, Ratcliffe Culey and Atterton 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Biased on Witherley village and ignores the needs of the other hamlets in the parish. 

There should be 
fewer councillors 

Too many voices for the simple needs of the parish. 

P
age 163



76 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Parish Council doesn't reflect the views or needs of the hamlets of Fenny Drayton, 
Ratcliffe Culey and Atterton 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree The local parish council seems heavily weighted towards Witherley 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree Again, the Witherley bias seems on occasion to work to the detriment of Fenny 
Drayton. It is also of concern that the parish council seems unwilling to engage with 
residents - especially so over planning matters. It could be viewed as 
underhand. 
The smaller villages (Fenny Drayton, Atterton and Ratcliffe Culey) would be better 
served by a separate parish council. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change The smaller villages (Fenny Drayton, Atterton and Ratcliffe Culey) would be better 
served by a separate parish council run by residents of those villages/hamlets 
thereby fighting for the rights of those communities 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Witherley again! 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Already explained 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Already explained 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Our small hamlet is overun by a large town due to current governance arrangement. 
This is wrong and unacceptable. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Our small village interests are different from a large settlement (Witherly), but our 
needs and interests are ignored. 

P
age 164



77 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Our Fenny Drayton people want to pair with similar small villages - Ratcliffe Culey 
and Atterton. We want to split from Witherley parish Council and establish our own 
Council. 

Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

The name does not matter, a new governance arrangement with similar small 
hamlets is much more important. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

There is no a more suitable unswer in your tick box selection. My answer is as 
follows: "unappropriate and anfair number of councillors" 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Small villages/ hamlets should be grouped with equally small villages in order to 
achiece a balanced representation of interests. Large settlement paired with small 
hamlet has voting power to overwhelm residents of small villages. This results in 
constuntly ignoring needs of small villages/hamlets 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree All but one of Fenny Draytons councillors just represent themselves not the village. 
They are just looking after there own interest’s. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Same as last reply 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Witherley Parish matters dominate Council meeting’s 
The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Fenny Drayton needs more of a say in local matters. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Just need Councillors that serve the Village and not themselves. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Fenny Drayton would be better paired with other similar sized local villages. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 

Strongly disagree Witherley councillor’s dominate meetings and shut down any discussions involving 
the other districts within the area. 
Everything revolves around Witherley council, the smaller areas are not given 
consideration or a voice, they try to force through their decisions, some affecting the 
outlying districts Meetings are always held in Witherley and agenda items are not 
debated properly. 
The smaller districts need a voice and not to be overlooked. 

P
age 165



78 

…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Please see previous comments.I have no confidence that Fenny Drayton is being 
represented fairly if at all. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change The smaller communities need a voice on where they live and how the future plotted, 
not by a bigger district deciding what they feel is best, they don’t know, they don’t live 
there. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

It needs to be all on an equal basis, the districts should have a voice and an 
opportunity to have an input into their area and it not being done by others 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

There should be better more equal representation from all the districts not a majority 
from one area / district ( Witherley ) 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

A step in the right direction. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree We have one Parish Councillor that acts in the interest of the village and listens and 
acts on behalf of the residents but is a lone voice against hostile other councillors 
that have their own thoughts and agenda that our not reflective of the people they 
are representing. Fenny Drayton is often the poor relation to Witherley. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree As above 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change We would like to see Fenny Drayton separated from Witherley as per our comments 
above 

Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

No comment 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

I would like to comment on this matter but feel its best that i dont. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

We would be better grouped with smaller hamlets like ourselves 

P
age 166



79 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree There is a lack of open and transparent engagement between the parish council and 
local residents. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree Due to the covert way in which the parish council operate it does not reflect the 
interests of the residents that they are meant to represent. The lack of true 
community engagement by councillors is a significant issue. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Unsure/don’t know 
about need for 
change  

The issue is one of the culture of the parish council and the lack of democratic 
representation of residents views by councillors, I'm not sure 'structural' changes to 
the composition of the parish council will change this. Another key issue is the lack of 
communication and continuous dialogue between councillors and residents on, 
ongoing local issues, again this isn't resolved by a structural change. 

Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

as above 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

I believe in proportional representation however this shouldn't mean that those areas 
with a larger representation can override the views of the smaller represented areas. 
If this can't be achieved then there should be the same number of councillors for all 
individual areas irrespective of their size. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

Based on my response above if this arrangement enabled a more open, face to face 
dialogue to take place, and local issues I would be supportive of a grouping 
arrangement. The underlying culture would still need to be resolved. The 
ability/willingness of councillors to listen objectively to the views of local residents still 
needs to be established otherwise true local community representation will continue 
to be compromised resulting in ongoing tension between residents and councillors. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The councillors prioritise witherley the larger of the villages and the biggest 
representation … Fenny Drayton should be a separate council with some of the 
smaller villages 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Please read the above response 

P
age 167



80 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change The boundary should be changed to ensure fair representation for the village I reside 
in 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Fenny Drayton should be representation with smaller villages 

There should be 
more councillors 

More councillors representing Fenny Drayton 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

The councillors on the pc should the views of the village not their own interests we 
are truly only represented by one councillor 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Other than Witherley there seems virtually no representation of other  
villages/hamlets in the area. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree Ditto the reason above. without proper representation we are ignored. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change You seem to be asking the same question with slightly different wording. Without 
proper representation we have no say in decisions being made, eg, at the last annual 
public meeting members of the public were unable to raise their concerns and in fact 
were silenced by the chairperson. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

I live in a village/Hamlet completely separate from Witherley. 

There should be 
fewer councillors 

Unable to answer this question properly as I believe it is not a matter of how many 
councillors, but who represents what area. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

I believe it would be in the best interests of the smaller villages/hamlets to be 
removed from Witherley and treated as a separate entity regarding governance and 
representation. 
This would hopefully provide an effective voice for these areas. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 

Strongly disagree The parish council prioritise the interests of Witherley above those of the surrounding 
hamlets in the parish area. They have ignored core HBBC housing policy by 
attempting to dump houses in the hamlets in order to reduce the 
development in Witherley in previous drafts of the NDP. This was prevented by 
HBBC but the parish councillors do not recognise that they were in error or that 
residents had a right to be angry about it. Many documents have not been shared 
with the residents when they should have been. If the governance arrangements do 

P
age 168



81 

…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

not change then the current conflicts of interest, with many parish councillors also 
being local landowners, are likely to continue. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree The interests of the hamlets within the parish area are not considered. At the most 
recent annual parish meeting local residents were shouted down and prevented from 
speaking. The current council seem to have forgotten that they are elected to serve 
and represent rather than dictate. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change The hamlets within the parish area need to be separately represented as the 
Witherley councillors seem only to be interested in meeting their own requirements. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The hamlets within the parish area need to have their own council with, obviously, a 
name to reflect this. 

There should be 
more councillors 

If the hamlets within the parish area are not given a separate council then they need 
to have more councillors to prevent dominance by those from Witherley. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

The hamlets within the parish area need to have their own council which can focus 
on the interests of the residents without being constantly overridden by those of 
Witherley. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree The Witherley Parish Council continues to prioritise Witherley over the other wards. 
Even our own ward Councillors do not represent Fenny Drayton. It 
is embarassing. The residents of other wards are continually ignored or silenced. We 
cannot continue with the Witherley Parish Council. It has my full Vote of No 
Confidence. HBBC are fully aware of growing concern around this Council. Enough 
is enough. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree The Witherley Parish Council is ineffective, out of date and has received Votes of No 
Confidence which it continues to ignore. I have lost all faith in the Parish Council and 
its Councillors. Having attended the Annual Public Parish, only Witherley people 
were allowed to speak. The Chair then stopped other residents from speaking, and 
as they attempted to put their concerns across, members of the Parish Council were 
shouting at the public. 
It was worse than the Jackie Weaver incident. This Parish Council must be 
abolished. 
The Agenda is vague, the minutes are pointless. No-one can understand what 
happens at the meetings if they are not present. People have lost faith in this 
Council.  

 

P
age 169



82 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change We need to be separated from Witherley so we can be represented by new 
Councillors who will communicate and represent the public. We cannot continue 
being mis-represented, ignored and silenced by the current regime. Vote of no 
confidence. 
Currently, there is no effective governance, no community involvement, and many of 
the Councillors do not even read the paperwork prior to meetings, which means they 
are agreeing to things and being swayed by the Chair. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The name is as expected, all about Witherley. It may be the biggest ward, but the 
bullying and rudeness of Councillors has become unacceptable. We need a 
residents group which reflects the views and interests of Fenny Drayton. 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Four Councillors for the Fenny Drayton Ward is acceptable. However, three of them 
do nothing to communicate or represent the public. 
Of all the Councillors on the Parish Council, the public remain silenced and ignored. 
The Witherley Parish Council should be disbanded as it is ineffective and out of date. 
I am ashamed and embarrassed at what I have witnessed. 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

The smaller wards are bullied, ignored and silenced by Witherley and the current 
waste of space Councillors. I have not spoken to one person who is happy with the 
Council or its Councillors. 
Anyone who challenges the Parish Council receive vexatious complainant letters 
which have been ruled unlawful. This is harassment and bullying. This is 
unacceptable. No apologies, no accountability. No More to this Council. 
HBBC have done nothing to protect the people. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Witherley Parish Council largely reflects the identity of Witherley ViIlage. Concerns 
from the other wards are largely ignored. Since Witherley Village is a village as far as 
HBBC’s policies are concerned and the other settlements are deemed rural hamlets 
as far as HBBC’s policies are concerned this leads to a conflict of interests. E.g. It 
was in the interests of Witherley village to have an NDP recommending housing in 
the other wards. The argument being this was a democratic view of the parish which 
HBBC would have then accepted. 
However without the NDP the other wards would have only had infill housing under 
HBBC’s policies. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree WPC is moderately effective. Its short comings in this area would be reduced if the 
current councillors managed the clerk better and the councils policies and 
procedures were adhered to. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change It would be better if all the wards within a particular parish council were either villages 
or hamlets so that all wards had similar issues. The hamlet wards of WPC could be a 
PC in their own right or merged with the hamlet wards from Sheepy for instance. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

If the structure stays the same the name should definitely change. The name should 
not favour one settlement. The parochial parishes group name is not place specific 
why is the civil parish? The civil authorities should be more in keeping with the times 
than the church. I propose Anker Marshes Parish Council as a possible new name. 

P
age 170



83 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

Councillors represent a similar number of people except for Atterton. Atterton needs 
its own councillor even though that person represents about 40 people otherwise 
WPC would not be aware of the issues of a small but perfectly formed community. 

No change to 
grouping 
arrangements 

It is not clear from your proposal what functions a grouped parish council would 
have. From my current experience I think a group council could lead to even more 
conflict. 
However I can see there may be some merit in say having group grass cutting 
contracts etc 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree I DO NOT WANT FENNY DRAYTON TO BE A PART OF WITHERLEY PARISH 
COUNCIL FENNY DRAYTON IS A HAMLET AND WOULD BE BETTER TO HAVE 
ITS OWN COUNCIL 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree FENNY DRAYTON IS NOT TREATED AS A HAMLET BY THE COUNCILLORS 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change FENNY DRAYTON WOULD BE BETTER IF DECISIONS WERE MADE BY FENNY 
DRATON COUNCILLORS ALONE 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

FENNY DRAYTON IS NOT WITHERLEY 

There should be 
more councillors 

THERE SHOULD BE ANEQUAL NUMBER OF COUNCILLORS FOR THE 
VILLAGES AND HAMLETS CONTAINED IN WITHERLEY PARISH COUNCIL 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

IT IS UNFAIR THAT VILLIAGES AND HAMLETS ARE MAKING DECISIONS 
ABOUT OTHER VILLIAGES AND HAMLETS 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree FENNY DRAYTON IS DOMINATED BY WITHERLEY PARISH COUNCIL 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree OTHER VILLAGES AND HAMLETS ARE MAKING DECISIONS FOR FENNY 
DRAYTON 
THE PARISH COUNCIL SEEMS TO OVERLOOK FENNY DRAYTON IS A HAMLET 
AND NOT A VILLIAGE 

P
age 171



84 

COUNCILLORS WANTING DEVELOPMENT IN FENNY DRAYTON THAT 
EXPANDS THE SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change FENNY DRAYTON NEEDS A COUNCIL OF ITS OWN 
The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

WITHERLEY IS NOT FENNY DRAYTON 

There should be 
more councillors 

EACH VILLIAGE AND HAMLET SHOULD HAVE THE SAME NUMBER OF 
COUNCILLORS 

Change to grouping 
arrangements 

ALL VILLIAGES AND HAMLETS SHOULD HAVE COUNCILLORS MAKING 
DECISIONS FOR THAT VILLIAGE OR HAMLET ALONE 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree There is only one member of the Parish Council who is impartial. This affect 
decisions and what the village are made aware of. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Disagree Meetings are not held in our village and when we’re on Zoom villagers we’re muted 
when discussing village matters. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Our village is a Hamlet, with only a church as a community building. We are part of 
Witherley parish which hs a much larger village and better facilities. They are 
pushing development requirements to our village which already has major traffic 
issues. 

Unsure/don't know 
about the name of 
the parish 

We are a group of villages but our village is actually a Hamlet, as is Ratcliffe Culey 

There should be 
more councillors 

More impartial councillors would be beneficial. Land owners should not be 
encouraged to be parish councillors in my opinion. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

As a village we are already grouped 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 

Strongly disagree Witherley have a greater representation and are able to prioritize Witherley interests 
above the villages/hamlets within the parish 

P
age 172



P
age 173



86 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Agree I think the Parish council has tried to navigate a range of discordant views on the 
NDP which has been very difficult but they have tried to balance issues appropriately 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree It has been a fraught time for the Parish Council as the NDP seemed to create a lot 
of agitation with a small number of individuals which was very divisive. I think, whilst 
not perfect, they attempted to handle it in an even and measured way but the issues 
still resonate.I think some clarity on navigating conflicts of interest might help. There 
is a real challenge in that you want people who have connections and links to the 
community but then those very links make them vulnerable to accusations of 
cronyism or self interest 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change There is a call from some parties to make the council cover an even smaller area 
but, as an already small parish, this doesn’t seem viable and I think we need to find a 
way to balance the different needs 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

I think it would help if the parish title reflected the broader community it serves rather 
than just referencing the single major population centre 

The number of 
councillors is 
appropriate 

It reflects the population centres and therefore echoes the numbers they represent, 
which is a basic democratic principle. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Whilst it seems a practical and sensible approach I fear, given the fractious nature of 
some of the debates, that this would just further fuel the sense of conspiracy and 
under representation that some of the residents seem to feel. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree Witherley Parish Council (WPC) is strongly dominated by the interests of the 
Witherley village councillors, with little attention given to the views and concerns of 
the smaller rural hamlets (Ratcliffe Culey, Fenny Drayton and Atterton). 
Given the balance of power, specific concerns of, for example, my own hamlet of 
Ratcliffe Culey, can easily be quashed on a vote. It is very disappointing that the 
serious concerns raised by HBBC in their Jan 21 report on the WPC Neighbourhood 
Development Plan were not taken on board and acted upon by WPC. To take just 
one example, the Countryside Policy does not protect the small hamlets from 
development, as specifically requested by residents; and documents which should 
have been available to residents prior to Regulation 14 feedback have still not been 
made available. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree As above - a more effective voice for the small rural hamlets would be a separate PC 
for Ratcliffe Culey, Fenny Drayton, and Atterton, independent of the much larger 
village of Witherley. Witherley is closely associated with Atherstone (Warwickshire), 

P
age 174



87 

whereas the hamlets are more closely associated with Hinckley and Bosworth 
(Leicestershire). 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change As above - a more effective voice for the small rural hamlets would be a separate PC 
for Ratcliffe Culey, Fenny Drayton, and Atterton, independent of the much larger 
village of Witherley. Witherley is more closely associated with the neighbouring town 
of Atherstone (Warwickshire), whereas the hamlets are more closely associated with 
Hinckley and Bosworth (Leicestershire). 

The name of the 
parish is appropriate 

It is the name of the largest village but, as detailed in other sections, this can unfairly 
override the needs and concerns of the smaller hamlets 

Unsure/don’t know 
about number of 
councillors 

The dominance of Witherley village councillors is to the detriment of the smaller 
hamlets and reduces their ability to influence matters specific to their own hamlet, 
particularly when there are vested interests within Witherley to the contrary. For 
example, a petition from a large number of concerned Ratcliffe villagers, asking for a 
policy limiting development of the Redhouse Farm (Hunt's Farm) site in Ratcliffe to 
be included in the WPC Neighbourhood Development Plan, was rejected, with one of 
the votes against being by a councillor who owned land included, at the time, in the 
NDP for housing - which appeared a conflict of interest. 
An increase in councillors would only address this if it strengthened the voice of the 
hamlets, perhaps by limiting teh ability of Witherley to outvote them. A rotation of the 
Chair between settlements might also help, as currently it seems always to be in the 
hands of Witherley. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Grouping with other large villages might actually disadvantage the smaller hamlets 
even more. Alternatively a grouping of small hamlets only, might benefit them. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Witherley Parish Council (WPC) is dominated by the Witherley village councillors and 
the interests that they represent. The smaller villages/hamlets (Ratcliffe Culey, Fenny 
Drayton and Atterton) are under represented, and concerns pertinent to the smaller 
villages/hamlets are easily overridden on any votes within the parish council. In 
particular, it is very disappointing to find that serious concerns raised by Hinkley and 
Bosworth Borough Council (HBBC) in their report on January 21 relating to the WPC 
Neighbourhood Development Plan were not responded to and action taken by WPC. 
For example, the Countryside Policy does not address concerns raised by residents 
about the protection of small villages/hamlets from development. And documents 
which should have been made available to residents prior to Regulation 14 feedback 
have still not been made available. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree A more effective voice is needed for the small villages/hamlets covered by WPC. For 
reasons outlined above, Witherley interests override those of the small 
villages/hamlets, and they are frequently in tension with those interests. Witherley is 
effectively a suburb of Atherstone whereas the small villages/hamlets are more rural 
in nature. Ideally this would be reflected in a separate parish council covering 
Ratcliffe Culey, Fenny Drayton and Atterton. 

P
age 175



88 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change As argued above, a more effective voice is needed for the small villages/hamlets 
covered by WPC. Witherley is effectively a suburb of Atherstone with interests which 
reflect this status. The small villages/hamlets are more rural in nature, and face 
rather different issues typical of such rural communities. There is a need for a 
separate parish council covering Ratcliffe Culey, Fenny Drayton and Atterton. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

The current name of the parish council reinforces the dominance of Witherley and its 
interests within the business of the council. The other small villages/hamlets are in 
brackets and are treated as if they are after thoughts. 

There should be 
more councillors 

There should be more councillors representing the interests of the small 
villages/hamlets within the WPC area, in order to redress the imbalance in relation to 
the power of Witherley councillors to override the interests of the other parts of the 
parish council area. 

Unsure/don’t know 
about grouping 
arrangements 

Grouping could have a variety of different outcomes and consequences. A grouping 
of the small villages/hamlets could be advantageous in redressing the imbalance 
under existing arrangements. But it might equally disadvantage them further. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly disagree WPC have failed to listen to their electorate for years, especially with regard to the 
NDP. For example: meetings have been held without publicising, minutes not 
uploaded to PC website, residents routinely silenced when challenging PC, 9 
residents have received vexatious warning letters with two of those individuals now 
having permanent bans from any contact with the PC, indefinitely. Stakeholders have 
been ghosted for over 3 years, WPC have failed to provide accurate information to 
both residents and stakeholders. The Environment Agency Impact Assessment for 
Witherley has not been uploaded to PC website breaching EIR Act. The Councillors 
are regularly mistreated - I could go on......... 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree per previous answer plus zero fair representation, Witherley centric. The current PC 
has similar values to No 10, the Nolan Principles seem to be ignored. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change I would like Atterton, Fenny Drayton and Ratcliffe Culey to be separated from 
Witherley settlement, resulting in two separate Parish Council's with their own 
control. This would render the current NDP obsolete which is good. 
This would enable A, FD & RC to create their own NDP that reflects the views and 
values of these residents and to have policies that reflect residents wishes from a 
correctly carried out consultation process. 

The name of the 
parish is not 
appropriate 

Their are 4 wards within the Parish - the Parish name should be neutral. 

There should be 
more councillors 

As the Chair has recently always been a resident of Witherley Ward and the Chair 
has the casting vote the other Councillors who try and make a stand are over-ruled. 
More councillors and a rotating Chair would balance the number of votes. 

P
age 176



P
age 177



P
age 178



91 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly disagree There are many examples of expenditure not being adequately scrutinised with the 
result that it generates no benefit to the community, but enables political point-
scoring. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change There is far too much ineffective bureaucracy already. It needs drastically thinning 
down and made truly accountable for it decisions and actions. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree No need to change current arrangements. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Agree Current arrangements do not need changing. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change We do not need to move to larger authories. Local is best. 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree The Council does Govern with the residents interests at the forefront of decisions … 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly it appears to be a well run body … 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change As above plus sometimes continuity is the better option to change for changes sake 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Disagree Our Councillors have been there for a very long time, im not sure they can mow relstr 
to young families, young people or even those struggling with disabilities 

P
age 179



92 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Again they seem out of touch. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

Change Maximum ages for councillors, more public engagement, we never see our 
Councillor or know what they do. No social media, they need yo be visable, 
accountable. We dont need a town council, that would cost more money but the 
elected officials need to be better 

An individual 
local resident 

 How strongly do you agree 
or disagree that the current 
governance arrangements 
within the town/parish 
council you are responding 
about… 
…reflect local identities 
and interests? 

Strongly agree I do not believe there is a just reason for additional levels of local government and 
the additional cost and tax burden that comes along with that when the borough 
council can and is doing a competent job. 

…provide an effective 
and convenient local 
government? 

Strongly agree I do not believe there is a just reason for additional levels of local government and 
the additional cost and tax burden that comes along with that when the borough 
council can and is doing a competent job. 

Do you feel there is a need 
for change? 

No change I do not believe there is a just reason for additional levels of local government and 
the additional cost and tax burden that comes along with that when the borough 
council can and is doing a competent job. 

 

P
age 180


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	9 Minutes of the Scrutiny Commission
	10 Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Summary Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Medium Term Financial Strategy technical document

	11 Community Governance Review - draft recommendations
	CGR report appendix A
	Groby_Proposal_map
	Markfield_Proposal_map
	Appendix B consultation responses




